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Chairman’s Statement

FEREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
OKG Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would like to present to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual report (the “Report”) of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”).

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

In 2025, the global economic environment remains filled with challenges
and uncertainties. While major global economies have managed to
achieve moderate growth, uncertainties in policies, the continuation of
high-interest rate policies, escalating geopolitical conflicts, and increasing
climate risks still have a certain impact on the global capital markets and
the real economy. According to the latest report from the United Nations,
global economic growth in 2025 is expected to be 2.4%, a decline from
2.9% in 2024 and a 0.4 percentage point reduction from the January
2025 forecast.

Regarding the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘Hong Kong”),
the economy has seen steady progress driven by tourism recovery and
the growth of the fintech sector. According to the data provided by
the Hong Kong government, in the first quarter of 2025, Hong Kong's
GDP grew by approximately 3.1% year-on-year, with real GDP growing
by 1.9%. This provides a stable operational foundation for the Group’s
business.

In 2025, the cryptocurrency industry entered a new stage of development.
The global market capitalization of stablecoins has exceeded $260 billion,
with use cases covering cross-border payments, clearing and settlement,
DeFi, and inflation hedging in emerging markets, becoming the core
driver of on-chain financial activities. Meanwhile, Real World Assets (RWA)
are being rapidly tokenized and integrated into blockchains, fostering
a deeper integration of traditional finance with blockchain. Assets like
bonds, notes, and real estate are now being tokenized for trading and
global circulation, reshaping asset management and liquidity models.

In terms of regulation, the major jurisdictions in Europe, the U.S., and Asia
have increasingly clarified their stance on digital asset compliance. As
Asia’s Web3 hub, Hong Kong has continued to advance the regulatory
framework for virtual asset trading platforms, stablecoins, and tokenized
assets, which has further enhanced the industry’s transparency and
sustainability.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

During the Year, the Group adhered to a prudent operational strategy,
focusing on core businesses and accelerating its layout in emerging
sectors, achieving resource integration and technology upgrades.

As of the reporting period, the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations was approximately HK$424.0 million, and the loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company was approximately HK$15.8 million, a
narrowing of the loss compared to the previous year. This was primarily
driven by the growth in the foundation, building construction, and
associated services segment. Additionally, the Company maintained
stable operations in its digital asset-related businesses, including
proprietary digital asset trading, trust and custodial services. The Group
firmly believes that Web3 represents the future direction of development,
and positioned in the current tide of technological advancement, the
Company is well-poised to seize upcoming opportunities.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND
RECOGNITION

As one of the first blockchain companies listed in Hong Kong, the Group
remains committed to promoting blockchain knowledge and talent
cultivation. During the Year, the Company, as a board member of the
Hong Kong Web3 Standardization Association, led local standardization
discussions and developments. Along with other industry members, the
Company jointly published the “Stablecoin Development Research Report
(2025)” and three key standards for RWA, DePIN, and DeFi, aiming
to support the Hong Kong government’s Web3.0 industry initiatives in
stablecoins, RWAs, and more.

At the same time, the Group actively participates in talent development,
sponsoring the Hong Kong Securities Institute’s Case Competition facing
to the universities worldwide to nurture more technology talent in the
sustainable development sector.

Thanks to the team’s professional expertise and continuous innovation,
the Company was awarded the “Best Small and Mid-Cap Company”
accolade during the reporting period, further demonstrating market
recognition of the Company’s achievements.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEREE

OUTLOOK

Facing the new era filled with both opportunities and challenges, the
Group holds a cautiously optimistic view on the future development of
the blockchain industry. The growth of RWA, stablecoins, and smart
contract financial applications will further expand the connection between
blockchain and the real economy. Meanwhile, the development of Web3
regulatory infrastructure will create new growth opportunities for value
creation.

The Group will continue to optimize products and services, enhance
technological research and development capabilities, and expand
business layout. We look forward to working together with our
shareholders, clients, and partners, exploring more development
possibilities, and creating sustainable long-term value together.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | sincerely thank the entire management
team and staff for their dedication and hard work during the Year. | also
extend my heartfelt gratitude to all shareholders, customers, and partners
who have supported the Group. Looking ahead, we will remain true to our
original vision and continue to forge ahead with determination.

Ren Yunan
Chairman
Hong Kong, China, 30 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s major sources of revenue were from foundation, building
construction works and ancillary services, digital assets related
businesses, technical services and other businesses. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, the Group presented the operations relating to the
construction wastes handling services as discontinued operation.

Foundation, Building Construction Works and
Ancillary Services

The foundation works of the Group mainly include building construction
works, site formation works, excavation and lateral support (“‘ELS”)
works, piling construction, pile caps or footing construction and reinforced
concrete structure works and ancillary services mainly include hoarding
and demolition works and lease of machinery.

During the Year, revenue from this segment was approximately HK$359.0
million, representing an increase of approximately 34.6% as compared
with approximately HK$266.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.
Such an increase was mainly due to the certain projects with higher
contract value commenced during the Year.

Gross profit of this segment during the Year was approximately HK$54.4
million, which increased by approximately 90.2% as compared with
approximately HK$28.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. Gross
profit margin of this segment for the Year was approximately 15.2%,
representing an increase of approximately 4.5 percentage points from
approximately 10.7% for the year ended 31 March 2024. The increase is
mainly attributable to the decrease in subcontracting costs.

New Projects Awarded

During the Year, the Group was not awarded any new project.
Projects in Progress

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 2 projects in progress with a total
contract value amounted to approximately HK$496.4 million. The details

of the projects in progress are as follows:
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Eastern District
RHE

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

E T2 REERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

E T EREERS

Wong Tai Sin District
mAAE

Foundation and ELS Works
HMETRERIZERABATIRE

ELS Works
ZRRAIEATIE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE AR
BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) 2T MOEE @)
Completed Projects B5xIIEHE

During the Year, the Group completed 7 projects with a total contract RAEER > ZEBESTH7EEE  Ea5HNE
value amounted to approximately HK$357.0 milion. The details of the  {E#I357.0E & Ete B TIEBAMNEBNT ¢
completed projects are as follows:

Type of Projects Site Location Type of Works

HEHER g B TH24E5R)

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District Foundation, Pile Cap and ELS Works

ME TR REERS =EXl& ME T2 BERIZERAIA AR

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District Foundation, Pile Cap and ELS Works

ME T2 RIERT BEAUE ME T2 BERIZERAIAAIEIRE

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District ELS Works, Soldier Piles and Site
Preparation

ME T2 RIERT BEAUE PR AR AT IRE BB RM B EE

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Yuen Long District Site Formation Works

METEREERY TTERE AR TETIZ

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District Piling Works

ME T2 REERT wmAAE IR

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wan Chai District Site Formation, Foundation and ELS
Works

ME T2 REERT EFa AR T R T A2 R AT 4B R A M A4
I

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Tuen Mun District Foundation Works

ME TR RIERS BrE WETRE
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Digital Assets Related Businesses

@

Proprietary Trading in Digital Assets

The revenue of this segment was mainly generated through the
Group’s trading activities on leading cryptocurrency exchanges
(the “Trading Platform”). Revenue from trading in digital assets
includes trading net gains arising from trading various digital assets
and net gains or losses from the remeasurement of the market
value of digital assets. The Group also borrowed loans from the
Trading Platform in the form of digital assets. During the Year, the
Group repaid certain borrowed digital assets to mitigate its risk
exposures. Consequently, the market value of the Group’s digital
assets as at 31 March 2025 decreased to approximately HK$417.6
million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$1,123.1 million). The
Group’s digital assets borrowing was approximately HK$292.7
million at the end of the Year (31 March 2024: approximately
HK$869.8 million). During the Year, the revenue from trading in
digital assets and net fair value changes on digital assets was
approximately HK$61.2 million, which decreased approximately
6.3% compared with approximately HK$65.3 million for the
corresponding period in 2024.

Set out below were significant digital assets held by the Group as at
31 March 2025:

Number of Digital

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERE SR

F 5[0l BE ()
BFEERRER

@

Market Value as at

BFEERERS

AOEWAFEBBAEBNBLNEE
XS (IRFER)) MR EBME
FoREBBFEERZBABERZEE
HFEEMEENRZ EFNGERENE
HFEETEMEENFREIEE A
ERTUBTFEENERAERZFAE

ER-RAFERN AEEEEBTETHE
AMEFEE DURKEEER - FIL > 1=
EAFZAZt+—H AEENHMFTE
ETEAOENMT7TEEST (T2
FE=ZA=+—8: 1123188 HET) °
BHEAEER AEENBFTEEERY
A2 7TERAT (CEIMF=RA=+—
B 49869.8E B ETT) - RAFEN BT
BEXZHIRGEURBFTEENFATE
BN A1 2CEEBIT RIS _IUER
HAMY4965.3E BB TR #96.3% ©

RIE_RAE=ZRA=+—H ' A"EBFRF
ENEABTEENT :

% to the Group’s
Total Assets as at

Name of Digital Assets Assets Held 31 March 2025 31 March 2025
RZE_HF
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(HK$’000)
(F#7m)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE RS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Digital Assets Related Businesses (continued)

(ii) Trust and Custody Services

The Group’s trust and custody services were carried out through
OKLink Trust Limited (“OKLink Trust”). OKLink Trust has
been registered as a Trust Company under section 78(1) of the
Trustee Ordinance (Chapter 29 of the Laws of Hong Kong) since
17 June 2020. The trust and custody services provided by the
Group typically include the safekeeping, settlement, and other
customised services for its clients’ assets. The types of assets
custodied under this business include digital assets and fiat
currencies. At the end of the Year, the total assets held by the
Group on behalf of its custody clients were approximately HK$31.7
million, a decrease of approximately 49.8% compared with
approximately HK$63.2 million as of 31 March 2024. The clients’
digital assets constitute trust assets and are not accounted for as
assets of the Group and do not give rise to liabilities to the relevant
customers.

During the Year, the revenue generated from the provision of trust
and custody services was approximately HK$0.5 million, which
decreased approximately 72.2% compared with approximately
HK$1.8 million for the corresponding period in 2024. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in transaction volumes and related
services provided by the Group.

Gross profit of the Group’s digital assets related businesses was
approximately HK$34.3 million, which decreased by approximately
HK$2.5 million or 6.8% compared to approximately HK$36.8 million
for the corresponding period in 2024. The decrease in gross profit
was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue from proprietary
trading in digital assets. Gross profit margin of this segment for the Year
was approximately 55.5%, representing an increase of approximately
0.7 percentage points from approximately 54.8% for the year ended
31 March 2024.

Technical Services

The Group’s technical services income mainly includes the provision of the
Group’s Application Programming Interface (“API”) and other related
services in blockchain technologies.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Technical Services (continued)

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$3.1 million, which remained consistent compared with approximately
HK$3.1 million for the corresponding period in 2024. Gross profit of
this segment was approximately HK$0.1 million, which decreased by
approximately HK$0.8 million compared with approximately HK$0.9
million for the corresponding period in 2024.

Other Businesses

During the Year, the Group also maintained other businesses, including
investments in securities and lending business, which were not its core
businesses. As at 31 March 2025, the Group managed a portfolio
of listed securities with a total market value of approximately HK$0.4
million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$0.9 million). During the Year,
the Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$0.2 milion for its
other businesses, compared with approximately HK$0.4 million for the
corresponding period in 2024.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded revenue from continuing operations of approximately
HK$424.0 million for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
25.7% as compared with approximately HK$337.3 million for the
corresponding period in 2024. The increase was mainly resulted from
the increase in revenue from the foundation, building construction works
and ancillary services segment caused by the commencement of certain
projects with higher contract value.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit from continuing operations of the Group for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$89.0 million, representing an increase
of approximately 34.4% as compared with approximately HK$66.2
million for the corresponding period in 2024. The gross profit margin
from continuing operations increased by 1.4 percentage points to
approximately 21.0% for the Year from approximately 19.6% for the same
period in 2024. The increase was mainly due to the increase in revenues
from foundation, building construction works and ancillary services.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE RS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Other Income, Gains and (Losses), net

Other income, gains and (losses), net from continuing operations of the
Group recorded a net gain of approximately HK$4.5 million as compared
with a net loss of approximately HK$0.9 million for the corresponding
period in 2024. The increase was mainly due to the increase in interest
income and gain on changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

Administrative and Other Expenses

The administrative and other expenses from continuing operations of
the Group for the Year amounted to approximately HK$108.3 million,
representing an increase of approximately 8.3% compared with
approximately HK$100.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in labour costs and consultancy
and advisory expenses in relation to the on-going construction projects.

Impairment Losses under Expected Credit
Loss (“ECL”) Model

Impairment losses under the ECL model were derived from trade
receivables, loan receivables, other receivables and contract assets of the
Group. The Group classified them as in default when there was evidence
indicating that the assets were credit impaired. The Group recorded a
reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$36 thousand during the
Year, compared with an impairment loss of approximately HK$7.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Finance Costs

Finance costs from continuing operations for the Group during the Year
amounted to approximately HK$1.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 28.0% compared with approximately HK$2.5 million for
the corresponding period in 2024. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in loan from a related party.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses from continuing operations for the Group during the
Year amounted to HK$0.3 million as compared with approximately HK$Nil
million for the corresponding period in 2024.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

(Loss)/Profit for the Year Attributable to the
Owners of the Company

The Group recorded a net loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$15.8 million, compared to a loss of approximately
HK$40.3 million for the corresponding period in 2024. The decrease in
the loss for the Year was mainly due to the increase in revenue from the
foundation, building construction works and ancillary services segment.

Capital Structure

The Group’s total assets and total liabilities as at 31 March 2025
amounted to approximately HK$680.3 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$1,333.3 million) and approximately HK$530.7 million
(31 March 2024: approximately HK$1,165.7 million), respectively. The
Group’s debt ratio (expressed as a percentage of total liabilities over total
assets) was approximately 78.0% as at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024
approximately 87.4%).

Liquidity, Financial and Capital Resources

The Group funded its liquidity and capital requirements primarily through
capital contributions from the Shareholders, borrowings, internally
generated cash flow and proceeds received from the placing of the

Company’s shares (the “Shares”).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$123.2 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$62.0
million), and the Group did not have any pledged bank deposits (31 March
2024: Nil).
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EEE RS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the amount of total borrowings
which includes amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (which is included in
other payables), amounts due to former subsidiaries and a related party,
loan from a related party, loan from a shareholder and lease liabilities
divided by total equity. The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March
2025 was approximately 79.7% (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
88.5%). Excluding the non-interest bearing borrowings (which includes
amounts due to former subsidiaries and a related party and loan from a
shareholder), the adjusted gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2025
was approximately 22.9% (as of 31 March 2024: approximately 25.3%).
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of loans from related
parties.

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not have any charge on its assets during the Year.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved in various
claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings that arise from time
to time. Although the Group does not expect that the outcome in any of
these legal proceedings, individually or collectively, will have a material
adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations, litigation is
inherently unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its operating
results or cash flows in a particular period.

Risk Disclosures

(i) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and most of the operating
transactions such as revenue, expenses, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, United States
Dollars (‘USD”) and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Directors are of the
view that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant
and that it has sufficient resources to meet foreign exchange
requirements as and if they arise. Therefore, the Group has not
engaged in any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign
exchange risk during the Year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

(i1)

(iii)

Lack of New Project Risk

During the Year, the Group was not granted any new projects. This
lack of new project awards poses a material risk to the Group’s
future revenue and profitability. The foundation and building
construction industry is highly competitive and project-dependent.
Without a steady pipeline of new projects, the Group may face
underutilization of resources, reduced cash flow, and challenges in
maintaining operational efficiency. The Group is actively exploring
alternative revenue sources to mitigate this risk; however, there can
be no assurance that such efforts will be successful.

Credit Risk

The Group’s credit risk arises mainly from trade and other
receivables, contract assets, amounts due from related parties,
bank deposits and bank balances. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations as at the reporting dates in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets and contract assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the “Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position” in this Report.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to be low
as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore, the expected
credit loss rate of cash at banks is assessed to be close to zero and
no provision was made.

In respect of trade and other receivables, contract assets and
amounts due from related parties, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers and counterparties. These evaluations
focus on the counterparty’s financial position, past history of
making payments and take into account information specific to the
counterparty as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the counterparty operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade and other receivables, contract
assets and amounts due from related parties balance at the end
of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. During the Year, a reversal of
impairment loss of approximately HK$36 thousand was recorded
compared to an impairment loss of approximately HK$7.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

overdue debts.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

(iv)

v)

Price Risk of Digital Assets

To facilitate the Group’s proprietary trading in digital assets, the
Group held approximately HK$417.6 million in digital assets as at
31 March 2025. The majority of the Group’s digital assets were
stablecoins and other digital assets with higher liquidity, such
as Bitcoin (BTC) and Ethereum (ETH). As at 31 March 2025,
the fair values of the stablecoins and BTC held by the Group
were approximately HK$325.1 million and HK$29.7 million,
representing approximately 47.8% and 4.4% of the Group’s total
assets, respectively. In addition, the Group also has borrowings
of approximately HK$248.9 million in form of stablecoins and
approximately HK$43.8 million in the form of other digital assets.
Consequently, the Group’s risk exposures to the price risk of digital
assets were limited to the net balance of each digital asset it held.

Price volatility of digital assets may cause significant impacts on the
Group’s performance. Although the stablecoins are asset-backed
and the market price is approximately USD1 per unit with minimal
fluctuation, the volatility and any unpredictability of the price of such
stablecoins relative to fiat currencies could also cause a significant
impact on the Group’s financial performance. Furthermore,
compared with stablecoins, ETH, BTC and other digital assets are
generally associated with higher volatility.

Risks Related to the Safekeeping of Digital Assets

The Group mainly deposited its digital assets in the cryptocurrency
exchanges to facilitate its proprietary trading in the digital assets
business. In addition, the Group also held approximately HK$31.4
million in digital assets on behalf of its clients as at 31 March 2025,
of which approximately 96.5% were deposited with the Trading
Platform and third party sub-custodian, and approximately 3.5%
were deposited in the Group’s own wallets. As the Group did not
have any insurance policy for its digital assets under custody,
although the Group has implemented a series of risk control and
safeguarding protocols, any breakdown or closedown of such
cryptocurrency exchanges, potential cyber-attacks or thefts could
cause significant losses to the Group.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

(vi)

Investment Risk Related to Trading of Digital Assets

The Group launched its proprietary trading in digital assets business
and adopted quantitative trading strategies (the “Strategies”) for
its digital assets investment. The investment performance mainly
depends on market liquidity, Strategies effectiveness and system
reliability. The Group’s Strategies in theory could make profits
over time but could also suffer huge losses in black swan events.
In addition, there are inherent risks associated with its trading,
including but not limited to errant algorithms, hacking, liquidation
from extreme market moves and counterparty risk. Although
market liquidity is closely monitored by the Group with the aid of a
systematic alerting mechanism, under extreme market conditions
there may occur huge mark-to-market losses. Such losses may
never recover if the stop loss risk control mechanism is triggered.

In addition, the Group has a very short operation history in the
trading of digital assets, which gives rise to higher unpredictability
to its success in this new business. As the Group faces a variety
of new risks and uncertainties in its new business, the Group
cannot guarantee that this business will continue to be profitable
in the future, which may materially and adversely affect its financial
performance.

The Group has its own proprietary risk management system
that constantly monitors the performance of the Strategies and
conducts data analytics to review and modify the Strategies. The
trading systems are also constantly monitored by the Group,
including but not limited to its memory usage, CPU consumption,
network latency, etc., for any anomalies. The system will also cease
trading if certain circuit breakers such as profit/loss performance or
position limits are hit. The automated system aims to cease trading
before material loss and revoke account access if it detects any
abnormalities.
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EEE RS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Risk Disclosures (continued)

(vii) Risks Related to Anti-Money Laundering

Any person who carries on a trust business in Hong Kong has
to comply with the relevant requirements of the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (Chapter
615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (‘AMLO”) and the guidelines
issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. To mitigate such
risks, the Group has implemented policies and procedures for
Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”") and Know-Your-Client (‘KYC”) that
are initiated during the client onboarding process and are applied
by way of continuous monitoring and reporting. In enhancing
these policies and procedures, we have also considered industry
best practices and the recommendations of the Financial Action
Task Force (“FATF”).

Laws and regulations governing the digital assets related
businesses in Hong Kong are developing and are subject to
further changes. As such, the Group may need to apply for new
licenses or permits for its businesses, if new laws or regulations
are implemented in the future. The Group believes that a
comprehensive and balanced regulatory framework can protect
investors and promote responsible and sustainable industry
development.

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any significant capital commitments as at
31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: Nil).
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PROSPECT

In 2025, the global economy remains in a period of deep adjustment,
with geopolitical tensions and inflationary pressures continuing to weigh
on market sentiment. According to the latest report released by the
United Nations on 15 May 12025, the outlook for global economic growth
is under increasing pressure due to ongoing uncertainty in trade and
economic policies, as well as geopolitical instability. Within this complex
and evolving global framework, governments around the world are facing
structural transformations.

As an international financial and trade hub, Hong Kong has benefited
from the policies of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area,
which have supported its economic growth. The Hong Kong government
is also actively promoting market diversification and identifying new
growth drivers by advancing the development of the virtual asset market
and the Web3 industry. The regulatory landscape for digital assets is
becoming increasingly clear, creating a favorable policy environment and
growth opportunities for the Group’s business development.

Blockchain technology is transitioning from being “usable” to “widely
used.” In particular, areas such as stablecoins and Real-World — Asset
(RWA) tokenization are poised for explosive growth in on-chain financial
applications. In 2025, global stablecoin trading volumes and user
adoption have reached new highs. As stablecoins mature as tools for on-
chain capital settlement, they are becoming indispensable infrastructure
in the digital economy. On 6 June 2025, the Hong Kong government
announced that the Stablecoin Regulation Ordinance would take effect
on 1 August 2025. Meanwhile, the advancement of RWA technology
has driven a deeper integration between on-chain and off-chain assets.
Increasingly, traditional financial assets such as bonds, funds, and real
estate are being tokenized and settled through smart contracts, achieving
unprecedented efficiency and liquidity.

Against this backdrop, the Group continues to focus on two core
strategies: technological innovation and compliance-oriented
development. We are actively expanding our on-chain data and digital
asset monitoring businesses, building a multidimensional and in-
depth blockchain data infrastructure. At the same time, in response to
accelerating global regulatory rollouts, we are enhancing our compliance
capabilities to move on-chain assets from being merely “trustworthy” to
“auditable and controllable,” thus creating a virtuous cycle of technology-
enabled compliance. We firmly believe that a well-regulated institutional
framework is the cornerstone of sustainable industry growth.
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PROSPECT (continued)

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to prudently operate the
foundation, building construction works and ancillary services in
Hong Kong, making well-considered decisions under the premise of
manageable risk and foreseeable returns, thereby ensuring steady
progress across our operations.

Lastly, we will further strengthen communication and collaboration with
our shareholders, clients, and partners, proactively addressing market
challenges, and flexibly adjusting our business strategies to seize new
opportunities in the digital economy. We firmly believe that as blockchain
technology becomes more deeply integrated with traditional finance, the
Group will continue to create long-term value for our shareholders through
professional expertise and innovative thinking. And together, we will move
toward a more resilient and prosperous future.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of 94 staff (31 March
2024: 106 staff). Total staff costs from continuing operations, including
directors’ emoluments and share-based payment expenses for the Year,
amounted to approximately HK$100.9 million (2024: approximately
HK$86.5 million). The salary and benefit levels of the employees of the
Group are competitive and individual performance is rewarded through
the Group’s salary and bonus system. The Group provides adequate job
training to the employees to equip them with practical knowledge and
skills.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any other significant investments held or any
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies
during the Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period of the Group up to
the date of this Report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As of the date of this Report, the Company does not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREERBREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ren Yunan (E{8 B %c4) (“Mr. Ren”), aged 49, is our executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Ren graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’s degree in law
in 1997 and received a master’s degree in law from Harvard Law School
in 1999. He was qualified to practise law both in Hong Kong and New
York, the United States of America.

Mr. Ren is currently an independent non-executive director of Ronshine
China Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code:
3301).

Mr. Ren is the director of certain companies controlled by OKC Holdings
Corporation (“OKC”) and the director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ren was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Zhang Chao GR#B%4) (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 37, is our executive
Director.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Peking University with a master’s degree in
electronic and communications engineering in 2015 and has extensive
experiences in the information technology related fields.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESREREEEREFR

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Yue (BE# 5 %) (“Mr. Tang”), aged 54, is our non-executive
Director.

Mr. Tang graduated from the Concordia College with a Bachelor of Arts
degree in 1993.

Mr. Tang is the founder of X Financial (NYSE: XYF), a leading technology-
driven personal finance company in China, wherein he serves as the
chairman and chief executive officer since March 2014. Mr. Tang is a
renowned internet entrepreneur and investor in China. Mr. Tang is a
founding member of the China Entrepreneur Club, a founding member
of the Paradise International Foundation, and a member of The Nature
Conservancy China Board.

Mr. Tang is a director of OKC. An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 72.71% of the total issued
share capital of the Company are held by OKC and OKC is therefore an
associated corporation of the Company for the purposes of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). Mr. Tang is deemed or taken
to be interested in 8,578,654 shares of OKC, the substantial shareholder
of the Company, by virtue of the fact that his wholly-owned company,
Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct interest in 3,898,103 ordinary
shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares and 1,612,142 series A-1
preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of OKC, representing
approximately 7.39% of the total issued share capital of OKC. Each
series seed preferred share and series A-1 preferred share could be
convertible into one ordinary share. Thus, Mr. Tang is deemed or taken to
be interested in approximate 7.39% of the shares in OKC.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang GEHBEI % %) (“Mr. Pu”), aged 60, is our
non-executive Director.

Mr. Pu graduated from the Journalism School of Fudan University with a
bachelor's degree of Arts in 1987. He also obtained his Executive MBA
from China Europe International Business School in 2003.

Mr. Pu has experiences in brand management, media, marketing
and financial services industries. Mr. Pu has been working for certain
companies controlled by OKC since April 2019. He was the vice president
of Bluefocus International Limited from April 2016 to March 2019, a
subsidiary in Hong Kong of Bluefocus Intelligent Communications Group
Co., Ltd. (b REENZRHER L EBE RN A RAE) which is listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with the stock code of “300058”
(“Bluefocus”). Bluefocus is a data technology company, the business
scope includes marketing services, digital advertising and international
business, which provides services in marketing communication and smart
technology based on data technology.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Pu was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Ms. Liang Jingyan (B8 #fZ L) (“Ms. Liang”), aged 42, is our non-
executive Director.

Ms. Liang graduated from China University of Political Science and Law
with a bachelor’s degree in Law in 2006. Ms. Liang has over 16 years of
experience in legal and financial reporting and analysis. She is the director
of certain companies controlled by OKC, the parent company of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Liang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESREREEEREFR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Zhouxin (EE L) (“Mr. Li*), aged 40, is our independent
non-executive Director.

Mr. Li graduated from Fuzhou University with a bachelor’s degree in
finance in 2007 and received an EMBA degree from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in June 2019. Mr. Li is a senior
economist and certified public accountant in the PRC, a certified
management accountant recognised by The Institute of Management
Accountants in the United States of America. Mr. Li also holds a
Certification in Risk Management Assurance accredited by The Institute of
Internal Auditors. Mr. Li is currently the vice chairman of the 9th Executive
Committee of the Youth Business Association of Fujian Province* (f@ 122

5EHEDY).

From June 2017 to November 2022, Mr. Li was a non-executive
director of Prosperous Future Holdings Limited (GR2R 2 B AR A
&l) (@ company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1259). Mr. Li worked as an auditor and assistant manager of the
audit division at KPMG Consulting (China) Co., Ltd. from August 2007
to December 2010; also, from December 2010 to November 2011, he
served as finance manager at a company listed on the main board of
NASDAQ.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (EXBB%E) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 52, is our
independent non-executive Director.

Mr. Lee graduated from Harvard College with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in 1994. He subsequently obtained his Juris Doctor degree from
Georgetown University Law Center in 1998. Since 1999, he has been
licensed and admitted to practice as an Attorney and Counsellor at Law in
all courts of the State of New York. He is also a solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the practice of law. He has been in
Asia since 2000 and has practiced in a number of international law firms
including Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP, Clifford Chance LLP, Morrison
& Foester LLP and Baker Mckenzie. Mr. Lee is currently the corporate
partner of Dentons Hong Kong LLP. He was previously the partner of
Hogan Lovells LLP and Locke Lord LLP.

* For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Lee advises on a broad range of transactions, including equity
offerings and listings (in particular, U.S. IPOs and Hong Kong IPOs with
a Rule 144A tranche), private equity and venture capital, cross-border
mergers and acquisitions, and general corporate and banking. Mr. Lee’s
experience includes representing issuers and underwriters in IPOs and
private placement of equity and debt securities and in connection with
the structuring, issuance, and distribution of fixed and floating rate bonds,
high-yield bonds, perpetual securities, convertible debt securities, asset-
backed securities and derivative financial products. Mr. Lee has also
represented listed companies in securities law compliance matters and
buyers and sellers in merger and acquisition transactions and drafted
corporate documents, including contracts, royalty agreements and license
agreements for start-up companies, as well as other documentation for
general corporate and banking transactions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Jiang Guoliang (B R % %) (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 48, is our
independent non-executive Director.

Mr. Jiang graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’'s degree in
law in 1997.

Mr. Jiang is an independent director of Zhejiang Chengchang Technology
Co., Ltd.* GHVLi ERIZRIDBRAF]), the shares of which are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the People’s Republic of China
(stock code: 001270). Mr. Jiang was an independent non-executive
director of Weigang Environmental Technology Holding Group Limited
from January 2019 to September 2022, the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1845).

Mr. Jiang is the managing partner of Zhejiang T&C Law Firm. Before that,
he was an associate of Zhejiang T&C Law Firm from 1999 to 2007. Mr.
Jiang was the vice president of BOCGI Zheshang Capital Co., Ltd.* (1
IR ENmEXESEERRAR)from 2010 to 2012, a partner of the
Hangzhou branch of King & Wood Mallesons from 2008 to 2010.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Jiang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

* For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESREREEEREFR

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shi Shaoming (G/VER% ) (“Mr. Shi”), aged 43, is the company

secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”’), and financial

controller of the Group.

Mr. Shi graduated from Nankai University with a bachelor's degree in
management in 2003. Mr. Shi is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Also, Mr. Shi is an associate member of both The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom (CGl).

Mr. Shi has more than 10 years of experience in financial management,
financial reporting and corporate governance matters. Mr. Shi worked for
China Finance Online Co. Limited from 2007 to 2017 and his last position
with China Finance Online Co. Limited was deputy financial controller. He
was employed in ShineWing Certified Public Accountants from 2006 to
2007.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report

=REEE

AL BRE (TAKRE)) 435 RERBZAH
WE (ABMWE)) hAEBHFHRE -

AREN_ZT=FECSHEHRAE
e ARERBBEFMAETEE  REHRE
BT EstmAgg EEZEPH%IHH'&%E@WJ
%%E°E§’EEE7T%*,%@ ENE (BERQ

RERE) REER #An;ﬁi’&%@i%
4F NERENE) BB

EESLT 5

ARENRMBEER MERRAEEEREES
HEABI0FEER AL " TTLEE"T
—tEBERNPREERESERAT  HRH
Bl ERMEABRAT 2 REBAIA R M FHMEE -
BE_EERFE_ZZEHFAEBNEKPA
EEtEIEHFR -



PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in provision of foundation, building construction works and
ancillary services, digital assets related businesses, technology services
and other businesses.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has presented
classified the operations related to the construction wastes handling
services as discontinued operation.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 11 of this
Report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS,
CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Year, the Group had some de minimis continuing connected
transactions with the companies controlled by OKC. As all the
transactions were conducted on normal commercial terms or better
to the Group, and all the percentage ratios were less than 5% and the
total consideration per annum is less than HK$3 million, such continuing
connected transactions were fully exempted from announcement,
reporting, annual review or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

During the Year, the Group also received financial assistance in the form
of digital assets from a company controlled by OKC, with a balance
of approximately HK$292.7 milion as of 31 March 2025 (the “Digital
Assets Loan”). As the Digital Assets Loan was also conducted on normal
commercial terms or better to the Group and has not been secured by
the assets of the Group, pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, the
Digital Assets Loan received by the Group was also fully exempted from
reporting, announcement, annual review or independent shareholders’
approval.
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EEEHRES

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS,
CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Related party transactions

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. None of these related party transactions constitute a
notifiable connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the section headed
“Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income” of this Report.

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year
(2024: Nil).
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

The Group has a concentrated customer base
and any decrease in the number of projects
with the Group’s top five customers would
adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results

A significant portion of the Group’s revenue was derived from a small
number of customers during the two financial years ended 31 March
2025. The Group’s top five customers’ revenue contribution for the
Year was approximately 83.4% (2024: 77.8%) of our revenue, while the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 53.6% (2024:
51.3%) of our revenue. The Group did not enter into any long-term
service agreement or master service agreement with its customers.
Furthermore, the Group’s service contracts for all foundation works and
ancillary services projects are on a project-by-project basis. As such,
there is no assurance that the Group will be able to retain its customers
upon expiry of the contract period or that they will maintain their current
level of business with the Group in the future. If there is a significant
decrease in the number of projects or size of projects in terms of contract
sums awarded by the Group’s top five customers to the Group for
whatever reasons, and if the Group is unable to obtain suitable projects
of a comparable size and quantity as replacement, the Group’s financial
conditions and operating results would be materially and adversely
affected. Besides, if any of the Group’s top five customers experiences
any liquidity problem, it may result in delay or default in settling progress
payments to the Group, which in turn will have an adverse impact on its
cash flows and financial conditions. The Group cannot guarantee that it
will be able to diversify its customer base by obtaining significant number
of new projects from its existing and potential customers.
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EFEEHRS

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

The Group determines the price of its tender
or quotation based on the estimated time

and costs to be involved in a project, yet the
actual time and costs incurred may deviate
from the Group’s estimate due to unexpected
circumstances, thereby adversely affecting its
operations and financial results

The Group determines the price of tender or quotation based on its
cost estimate plus a certain mark-up margin. The actual time and costs
incurred by the Group, however, may be adversely affected by various
factors, including (i) the specifications, underground conditions and
difficulties of the potential project; (i) the duration of the potential project;
(i) the site location and the conditions and adjacent risk of building
structures nearby; (iv) the resource availability; and (v) our previous
experience with the customer. Significant changes in any of these or
other relevant factors may lead to delay in completion or costs overrun
by the Group, and there is no assurance that the actual time and costs
incurred by the Group would match its initial estimate. Such delays, cost
overruns or mismatch of actual time and costs with the Group’s estimates
may cause its profitability to be lower than what the Group expected or
may expose it to litigation or claims from customers in case of delays.
The Group normally sets an extra mark-up margin on top of its estimated
costs to cater to the possible unfavourable factors above, yet too high a
margin may render the Group’s tender or quotation uncompetitive. There
is no assurance that the Group will always be able to price its tender or
quotation competitively, and if the Group fails to do so, its customers
may opt for the Group’s competitors, thereby resulting in a decrease in
the number of projects awarded to the Group. Even if such a mark-up
margin is accepted and agreed by the Group’s customer, there can be no
assurance that the Group can be fully compensated for the occurrence of
the unfavourable factors above. This would adversely affect the Group’s
operations and financial results. Meanwhile, if the mark-up margin set by
the Group is too low, the gross profits may not be able to cover other
potential loss arising from any unfavourable circumstances during project
implementation. The Group’s profitability in the project would hence be
adversely and materially affected.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

The Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective in providing operational control
as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform
their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Neither the Company nor Shenzhen OKG Network Technologies Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen OKG”) has any equity ownership interests in Beijing OKG
Network Information Co., Ltd. (“Beijing OKG”). Through the Contractual
Arrangements that Shenzhen OKG has entered into with Beijing OKG,
the Company and Shenzhen OKG exercise effective control over Beijing
OKG and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits. However, the
Contractual Arrangements are not as secure as direct ownership over
Beijing OKG and may not be as effective in providing control over Beijing
OKG as direct ownership.

Beijing OKG has the Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) license to
provide internet content, to operate the portals and to provide value-
added telecommunications services in PRC. If Beijing OKG violates
the Contractual Arrangements, we might have to take legal action to
compel them to perform their respective contractual obligations. Any
legal proceedings could result in the disruption of our business in PRC
and result in substantial costs to us. There can be no assurance that the
results of such legal proceedings would be satisfactory to us.
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EFEEHRS

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected.

We believe that the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not
infringe existing PRC laws, regulations, or other mandatory requirements
under PRC law. However, there can be no assurance that the Contractual
Arrangements will be deemed by the relevant governmental or judicial
authorities to be in compliance with the existing PRC laws and regulations
or the relevant governmental nor judicial authorities may in the future
interpret the existing laws or regulations with the result that such
Contractual Arrangements would be deemed to be in compliance of the
PRC laws and regulations.

PRC regulations currently limit foreign ownership in PRC companies that
provide value-added telecommunication services (excluding on-line data
processing and transaction processing services, also called operating
e-commerce), which include operating the Internet content platform,
to 50%. In addition, foreigners and wholly-foreign owned enterprises
are currently not eligible to apply for required licenses for operating
the Internet content platform in the PRC (excluding a limited number
of sectors for wholly-foreign owned enterprises located in Shanghai
Free Trade Zone). We are a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands. We and Shenzhen OKG are foreigners and wholly-
foreign owned enterprises under PRC laws and accordingly are ineligible
to apply for the relevant licenses to operate the internet content. In
order to comply with foreign ownership restrictions, we hold our ICP
license and provide internet content through Beijing OKG. As a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Group can govern the financial and
operating policies of Beijing OKG and to obtain substantially all economic
benefits from the activities conducted by it. Accordingly, the financial
position and operating results of Beijing OKG are included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as if it was the Group’s subsidiary.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

In addition, in July 2006, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (the “MII”) issued the Notice Strengthening
the Administration of Foreign Investments in Value-added
Telecommunications Services (the “MIl Notice”). The MIl Notice requires
that ICP license holders or their shareholders directly own the domain
names and trademarks used by such ICP license holders in their daily
operations. The MIl Notice further requires each ICP license holder to
have the necessary facilities for its approved business operations and to
maintain such facilities in the regions covered by its license. In addition,
all the value-added telecommmunication service providers are required
to maintain network and information security in accordance with the
standards set forth under relevant PRC regulations. The MIl Notice
prohibits ICP license holders from leasing, transferring or selling its ICP
license to any foreign investors in any form, or providing any resource,
sites or facilities to any foreign investors for their illegal operation of
telecommunications business in the PRC. The Ml Notice has imposed
a more stringent regulatory environment on foreign investment in value-
added telecommunication business, which introduces an increased risk
of the Contractual Arrangements being challenged by the relevant PRC
regulatory authorities. Therefore, we cannot rule out the possibility that
the relevant PRC regulatory authorities may require that we unwind the
Contractual Arrangements as a result of their increased attention on
companies such as ours following the introduction of the MIl Notice.

In addition, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation
and application of current or future PRC laws and regulations.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

If the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG and its Registered
Shareholders are adjudicated to be in violation of any existing or future
PRC laws or regulations, the relevant regulatory authorities would have
broad discretion in dealing with such violations, including:

° require the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements;
° revoke the ICP license of Beijing OKG;

° require us to discontinue the business operations of Beijing OKG
or place restrictions or onerous conditions on such business

operations;
° shut down our oklink.com website;
° levy fines on us and/or confiscate the proceeds generated from the

operations under the Contractual Arrangements;

° impose additional conditions or requirements which we may not be
able to comply with;

° require us to restructure the relevant ownership structure or
operations; and

° take other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful
to our business.

The imposition of any of the above-mentioned consequences could result
in a material and adverse effect on our ability to conduct our business.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect
to the interpretation and implementation of
the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL”) and how it may impact the viability of
our current corporate structure, corporate
governance and business operations.

On 15 March 2019, the Standing Committee of National People’s
Congress promulgated the FIL, which became effective on 1 January
2020. However, there remains substantial uncertainties regarding
the interpretation and the implementation of the FIL and the relevant
government authorities may have broad discretion in interpreting the law,
especially, among other things, the nature of contractual arrangements,
the promulgation schedule of both the “negative list” under the FIL
and specific rules regulating the organization form of foreign-invested
enterprises within the five-year transition period.

The contractual arrangements have been adopted by many PRC-based
companies, to obtain necessary licenses and permits in the industries
that are currently subject to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC.
While the FIL and its implementation regulations do not define contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment explicitly, we cannot assure
you that future laws and regulations will not provide for contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. Therefore, there can be
no assurance that our control over Beijing OKG through the Contractual
Arrangements will not be deemed as foreign investment in the future.

Our ICP license and the provision of internet content are subject to
foreign investment restrictions or prohibitions and are currently on the
Negative List. If our Contractual Arrangements are deemed as foreign
investment, our Group may not be able to operate Beiing OKG through
the Contractual Arrangements and we would lose our rights to receive
the economic benefits of Beijing OKG. As a result, the financial results of
Beijing OKG would no longer be consolidated into the Group’s financial
results and we would have to derecognise their assets and liabilities
according to the relevant accounting standards. We may recognise an
investment loss as a result of such derecognition.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the
benefits of the assets held by Beijing OKG that
are important to the operations of our business
if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Beijing OKG holds our ICP license that is material to our business
operations. The Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG contain
terms that specifically obligate their Registered Shareholders to ensure
the valid existence of Beijing OKG and that Beiing OKG may not be
voluntarily liquidated. However, should the Registered Shareholders
breach this obligation and voluntarily liquidate Beijing OKG, or should
Beijing OKG declare bankruptcy, the ICP license may be revoked and
its assets may become subject to liens or rights of third-party creditors,
we may be unable to continue some or all of our business operations in
the PRC, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements of this Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements of this
Report. No new share has been issued by the Company during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity”
of this Report.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company has distributable reserves available
of approximately HK$14.7 million (as at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$72.9 million).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
Report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ren Yunan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Chao

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tang Yue

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Ms. Liang Jingyan

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

Pursuant to the Article 108 of the Amended and Restated Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Zhang Chao, Mr. Pu Xiaojiang and Mr. Li Zhouxin will retire by
rotation from the Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of
Association at the forthcoming 2025 annual general meeting (the “2025
AGM”).

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall
have power form time to time and at any time to appoint any person as
a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Ms. Liang Jingyan (“Ms. Liang”) had been appointed as non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 23 December 2024.
Accordingly, Ms. Liang would retire from office by rotation in accordance
with the Article 112 of the Articles of Association at the forthcoming 2025
AGM.
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CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in the
information of the Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
Report are as follows:

With effect from 23 December 2024, Ms. Liang has been appointed as a
non-executive Director.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company as at the date of this report are set out on pages 21 to 26 of
this report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, and the Company considers each of the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors, including those to be
re-elected at the 2025 AGM, has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company and their respective associates in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Long positions in the shares of associated
corporation of the Company
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares held interest in
Name of Capacity/ Position in associated associated
Name of Director associated corporation Nature of Interests (Long/short) corporation corporation
B RiEgEE PR ERRER
EEiY LT B/ EHtE 78/ %8) HENRMHE BOEIE
Mr. Tang Yue e ?) OKC Holdings Corporation Interest of a controlled Long 8,578,654 7.39%
corporation ordinary shares
B A (i) OKC Holdings Corporation R AR R e 8,578,654/% 7.39%
ZER
Notes: Bat
(1) Mr. Tang Yue is deemed or taken to be interested in 8,578,654 shares of (1) B4 R E 2 E /A SPurple Mountain Holding Ltd.
OKGC, the substantial shareholder of the Company, by virtue of the fact that his RAEARBZEERREROKCZ3,898,103& @ A% ~
wholly-owned company, Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct interest in 3,068,4000% 7 F R FB LA 1,612,142 B KR E
3,898,108 ordinary shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares and 1,612,142 {B0.0001 =T ZA-1BEBRAKRFIFEEEERZ  EHE
series A-1 preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of OKC, representing HROKCE B 1TRRAAREEAT7.39% » R A X E
approximately 7.39% of the total issued share capital of OKC. Each series seed EFROKCHYI8,578,654 I B Hm - BET &R
preferred share and series A-1 preferred share could be convertible into one B ER KA1 RERR A ER A —RZER
ordinary share.
Thus, Mr. Tang Yue is deemed or taken to be interested in approximately 7.39% It RIBZSFRPERG BHAERRASR
of the shares in OKC, an associated corporation of the Company pursuant to the WEERARE Z BB ZBEOKCH M FPERN
SFO. 7.39% 1% o
©) As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued shares of the Company was  (2) RIZEZTHF=ZA=1+—H8B AABAZBETR®
5,370,510,000 shares. B8 45,370,510,0008% ©
Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of [R EFXFIIREEIN R_E-_HAE=A=+—

the Company or any of their associates had, or were deemed to hold,
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code as at 31 March 2025.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as was known to the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) held
interests in the relevant securities (as defined under Note 4 to Rule 22 of
the Takeovers Code), or had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which are required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

1

3 PR E L

R_E_AFE=RA=+—H MEFFRMN T7
AL WFFEEFHAABEBITEAL) RER
B (R RWEBTRIRR22E ) FE#E
FR RN RBRERD P HEREES AR
BISEXVER 5252357 BR 5 SR A 4 B 2 82 BY 1
mIKB > RBLBRNERDRBESKRAE
155 553361R AF EMNE LA DI AN
1S

K

%l)::

Approximately

Number of percentage

Capacity/ Position Shares held/ of the total

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interests (Long/Short) interested issued shares

B HE/BAEG wERTRG

BRMES, 4R afn/ EamntE (138 %R) EUE G BYBAEAL

OKGC Holdings Corporation "o a Beneficial owner Long 3,904,925,001 72.711%
OKC Holdings Corporation (e BaEAA #a

Mr. Xu Mingxing "o (” Interests in a controlled corporation Long 3,904,925,001 72.711%
TRERE Fp o we REfEET #aE

Notes: V=2

1) Mr. Xu Mingxing (‘Mr. Xu”) is deemed to be interested in the 3,904,925,001
shares of the Company held by OKC pursuant to the SFO, representing
approximately 72.71% of the total issued share capital of the Company. Mr.
Xu holds an aggregate interest of approximately 74.01% in OKC through: (i)
his wholly-owned companies named OKEM Services Company Limited and
StarXu Capital Limited (“StarXu Capital”), which holds a direct interest in OKC
of approximately 43.89% and 29.26%, respectively; and (i) SKY CHASER
HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY CHASER”) in which StarXu Capital has an interest
of approximately 73.52%. As SKY CHASER directly holds approximately 1.17%
interest in OKC, accordingly, Mr. Xu holds approximately 0.86% indirect interest of
OKC through SKY CHASER.

2) As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
5,370,510,000 shares.

Save as disclosed above, no other person (other than the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company) held any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO or according to information available to the Company as at
31 March 2025.
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PLEDGE OF SHARES BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

During the Year, the Group did not have any pledge of shares by
controlling shareholder.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement and contract of significance, to which
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its parent company, or its parent
company’s subsidiaries were a party, and in which a Director and entity
connected to a Director had a material interest, whether directly and
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2025 or any time during the Year, nor
was there any other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business between the Company or any of
the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code as
set out Appendix C1 (the “CG Code”) of the Listing Rules and subject
to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the
Directors currently in force.
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EFEEHRS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for 12.8%
and 38.3% respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.
Revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for 53.6% and 83.4% respectively of
the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any material beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees

The Group recognises employees as its valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract, motivate and retain
appropriate and suitable personnel to serve the Group. The Group has
also adopted an annual review system to assess the performance of its
staff, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to salary
raises and promotions.

Customers

A majority of the Group’s five largest customers have good business
relationship with the Group and the Group will therefore endeavor to
accommodate their demands for the Group’s services to the extent its
resources allow in order to capture more opportunities for larger scale
projects in the future. The Group’s experience as a quality subcontractor
in handling foundation works also give business advantage to the Group’s
customers to ensure projects are executive in accordance with their
quality standard.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS (continued)

Suppliers and subcontractors

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers and
subcontractors to mest the Group’s customers’ needs in an effective
and efficient manner. The Group has set up an approved list of suppliers
and it selects the suppliers from the list based on the quality of materials,
timeliness of delivery, previous experience and length of partnership with
the supplier, competitiveness of the price offered and reputation of the
supplier.

Subject to the Group’s capacity, resources level, types of construction
works, cost effectiveness and complexity of the projects, the Group may
subcontract certain works to other subcontractors. The Group maintains
an internal list of approved subcontractors and carefully evaluate the
performance of its subcontractors and selects them based on the
experience, quality of works, timeliness of completion for past projects,
reputation in the industry, past performances, cost and the Group’s
relationship with them.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
financial period under review and up to date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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EFEEHRS

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this Report, none of the Directors
are considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 12 August 2015. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are as

follows: —

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate eligible
participants to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the
Company and to attract and to retain the best available personnel.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may at
their absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme, grant
options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, substantial
shareholders, consultants or advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners or service providers of the Group,
to subscribe for shares of the Company. The eligibility of any participant
to the grant of any options shall be determined by the directors from time
to time on the basis of the directors’ opinion as to their contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Maximum number of Shares available for issue

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed
the maximum number of shares permissible under the Listing Rules,
currently being 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date
of the 12 August 2015 (being 5,262,000,000 ordinary shares).

Maximum entitlement of each eligible
participant

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme must not, during any 12-month period, exceed the maximum
number of shares permissible under the Listing Rules (which 1% of
the total number of shares in issue as at the date of grant). Any further
grant of share options in excess of the above limit must be subject to
shareholders’ approval with such participant and his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.

Acceptance of options

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing within 7
days from the date of the offer. An option may be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
as the directors may determine which shall not exceed ten years from
the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof. A
nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option with a remittance in favour of the Company within such time as
may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 7 days from the
date of the offer).

Exercise price

The exercise price shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant; and (i) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The
exercise period of share option granted under the Share Option Scheme
is determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, and shall expire
no later than the 10th anniversary of date on which the share option is
granted.

Report of Directors

EETHRS

fRie Nt ()
MRG58 F (BT 2 AR Y BE EIR

RIEEREA S REERES R R RN
FEEHEFEBE LHRIMBTNRS KRG
#E REAZZ—AHAFENB+ZHEHBEZET
i& 17 48 % (BN5,262,000,0000% 58 A%) 210% °

BHAENRSHEENERELIR

REMI2EL B S22 BEREERES
BEZANRSEMNTSBB EHRAPMEFHN
EEkHHEE OIRHLEREETROBEZ
1%) ~EfFE—FRIBIB EHIRENFERER
ERRAE BRSAEREBBRA (EER L
HRA) ARERR -

Ea R E

RUEBREZZNEANBESMABES AR
NEEEM - AR AN ESTEEE 2B/
PERS IR IR Z R R R 51 B Z IR IT (R AR A - 1T
FEERREEBES 5 ERERMERRL
1R SCPRARIR - AR 2 IS AR R » IR A B
BHFAEFRZEBA (MEERBEQN A
sttA) AR MIBTREAE

1T1E®E

THRERELATIRERZESE ()BFT
BREXRFMBRRMINEL BIZWHE ; Kii)
B Prs HIRERPIBRRMO N EZRHBHA
HEMEEEHZ FHWHE - RiEHERES SR
HHBRETEHREFELRRTE ) WK AE
RELBEREDRI0EEE R

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER

45



46

Report of Directors

EFEEHRS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
(10) years from the date of the adoption unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms stipulated therein.

During the Year, no option of the Company was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed. As at the date of this Report, there was no
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme. The total
number of shares available for grant by the Company under the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 was 195,100,000
shares, which represents approximately 3.63% of the Company’s issued
shares as at 31 March 2025.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Report relating to the Share Option Scheme, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of Cayman Islands.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements of this Report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$228,000 (2024: approximately
HK$492,000).
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EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of our Group are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements of this Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance of the Directors and senior management and
comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted Share Option Scheme as incentive to eligible
employees, details of the schemes are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” of this Report.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Shenzhen OKG has entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) with Beijing OKG, pursuant to which the
Company would gain effective control over, and receive all the economic
benefits generated by, the businesses operated by Beijing OKG.

The principal businesses of Beijing OKG is engaged in the provision
of internet content, the value-added telecommunications services
and holding the ICP license which businesses are either restricted
or prohibited for foreign investment in accordance with the Special
Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access
(the “Negative List”). Beiing OKG is significant to the Group as it holds
the requisite licenses, approvals and permits that are material for the
Group’s business in the PRC, including the ICP license.
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EFEEHRS

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Information on the Contractual Entities and
their Registered Owners

Beijing OKG was established as a limited liability company in the PRC
on 23 April 2019. The registered shareholders of Beijing OKG were
Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng, holding 99% and 1% of its interest,
respectively. On 21 April 2020, Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng
transferred all their interests in Beijing OKG to Mr. Ren Yudong and
Ms. Xi Ling. Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, holding 99% and 1% of its
interest, became the new registered shareholders of Beijing OKG (Ms. Luo
Min, Mr. Li Guangpeng, Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, collectively, the
“Registered Shareholders”).

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the results of operations and
assets and liabilities of Beiing OKG are consolidated into the results
of operations and assets and liabilities of the Company under HKFRS
Accounting Standards as if it was subsidiary of the Group.

Beijing OKG has not yet generated revenue during the year ended
31 March 2025, and its total assets as at 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$5,000 (31 March 2024: approximately HK$160,000).

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG entered into an exclusive business
cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement”) on 23 April 2019 pursuant to which Beijing OKG
agreed to engage Shenzhen OKG as its exclusive provider to provide
Beijing OKG with technical consultation and services, including but not
limited to, network information technology management and support,
technical consultation, promotion planning and market promotion,
technology and software research and development, management
consultancy necessary for the operations of Beijing OKG and Beijing OKG
agreed to pay service fees to Shenzhen OKG according to the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement. Without the prior written consent of
Shenzhen OKG, during the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements, Beijing OKG shall not directly or indirectly accept from any
third party services which are the same or similar to the services under the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement (continued)

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements may be terminated by
Shenzhen OKG by giving Beijing OKG 30 days prior written notice of
termination and shall be terminated upon the transfer of the entire equity
interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG or its designated person
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On 28 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the exclusive option agreement
(the “Exclusive Option Agreement”) pursuant to which Shenzhen OKG
has the irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right to purchase, or to
designate one or more persons/entities to purchase, from the Registered
Shareholders all or any part of their equity interests in Beiing OKG and
from Beijing OKG all or any part of the assets of Beiing OKG at any time
in Shenzhen OKG’s absolute discretion in accordance with the provision
of the Exclusive Option Agreement and to the extent permitted by the
PRC laws and regulations. The consideration in relation to purchasing
shares or assets from the Registered Shareholders shall be RMB1 or the
lowest price as permitted under the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

The rights may be exercised at any time within effective period of the
Exclusive Option Agreement. The Exclusive Option Agreement became
effective upon execution and shall remain effective during the continuance
of Beijing OKG. The Exclusive Option Agreement shall be terminated upon
the transfer of the entire equity interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG
or its designated person pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.
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EFEEHRS

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Equity Pledge Agreements

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the Equity Pledge Agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement’) pursuant to which the Registered
Shareholders granted a first priority of security interest in their respective
interests in the registered capitals of Beijing OKG as collateral security
for securing the performance of their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements or for any and all of the secured indebtedness under the
Contractual Arrangements. During the pledge period, Shenzhen OKG is
entitled to receive any dividends arising from the equity interests in Beijing
OKG held by the Registered Shareholders.

The Equity Pledge Agreements shall remain effective until all the
agreements (other than the Equity Pledge Agreements) underlying the
Contractual Arrangements have been terminated.

Power of Attorney

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG and the Registered
Shareholders executed a power of attorney (the “Power of Attorney”),
pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders irrevocably authorised
Shenzhen OKG to exercise their shareholders’ rights in Beijing OKG,
including without limitation, the rights to () attend shareholders’ meetings,
(i) exercise voting rights, (i) appoint directors, supervisors and senior
management, (iv) sign and file documents with relevant governmental
authorities or regulatory bodies, and (v) authorise to exercise any of the
shareholders’ rights on the winding-up or dissolution of Beijing OKG.

The Power of Attorney became effective upon execution and shall remain
effective during the continuance of Beijing OKG. It shall be terminated
unilaterally by Shenzhen OKG by giving prior notice.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the Registered Shareholders, where applicable,
has signed an undertaking on 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020 (the
“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings, each of
the spouses of the Registered Shareholders irrevocably undertakes that:

(i) the spouse has been made fully aware of and unconditionally
and irrevocably consented to the entering into the Contractual
Arrangements among the respective Registered Shareholders,
Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG;

(ii) the spouse will not claim any interests or rights in the equity of
Beijing OKG and the Registered Shareholder shall be entitled to
dispose of the equity interests in accordance with the Contractual
Arrangements without his/her consent;

(i) the spouse shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements and
take all necessary actions to ensure the appropriate implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements; and

(iv) in the event that the spouse obtains any interests in Beijing OKG,
he/she will be subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to such Contractual
Arrangements, and at the request of Shenzhen OKG, he/she will
sign any documents in the form and substance consistent with the
Contractual Arrangements.

Reasons for adopting the Contractual
Arrangements

The Company and its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG,
as foreign investors, are prohibited from holding equity interests in the
Beijing OKG, which provides internet content and holds ICP license for
which foreign investment is prohibited or restricted. In order to conduct
the business in China through Beijing OKG, the Group, through its
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG, entered into the
Contractual Arrangements.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(i) The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements.

(ii) If the PRC government determines that these Contractual
Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not comply with applicable
PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our business could be
materially and adversely affected.

(i) Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation
and implementation of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL" (P E AR EMEINGIRE L)) and how it may impact the
viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance
and business operations.

(iv)  We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the benefits of the assets
held by Beijing OKG that are important to the operations of our
business if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a dissolution or
liquidation proceeding.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Key Risks And
Uncertainties” of this Report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

Actions taken by the Group to mitigate the
risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The Group has adopted following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements and the Group’s compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements:

(i) major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion as and when they arise;

(ii) the relevant business units and operation divisions of the Group
will report regularly, to the senior management of the Company
in relation to compliance and performance conditions under the
Contractual Arrangements and other related matters;

(i)  External legal advisers or other professional advisers will be
engaged, if necessary, to assist the Board to deal with specific
issues arising from the Contractual Arrangements and to ensure
that the operation and implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements as a whole will comply with applicable laws and
regulations;

(iv)  the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure that Beijing OKG shall retain and continue to hold all relevant
intellectual properties, required for the purpose of maintaining and
renewing its operating licenses and permits as required by relevant
PRC government authorities, and going forward and to the extent
permissible under PRC laws and regulations;

(v} the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable so far as our
Group is concerned, and in the interest of our Company and its
Shareholders as a whole; and

(v independent non-executive Directors will continue to play
an independent role on the Board by reviewing the effective
implementation of the procedures and controls referred to above
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s operations at work sites are subject to certain environmental
requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include, among
others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission)
Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control
Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Disposal
(Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste) Regulation, Dumping at Sea
Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of Hong Kong, Environmental Impact
Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Boilers and Pressure Vessels Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

In order to comply with the applicable environmental protection
laws, we had implemented an environmental management system
which was certified to be in compliance with the standard required
under 1SO14001:2004. Apart from following the environmental
protection policies formulated and required by our customers, we
have also established our environmental management policy to ensure
proper management of environmental protection and compliance of
environmental laws and regulations by both our employees and workers
of the subcontractors on among others, air pollution, noise control and
waste disposal.

During the Year, our Group did not record any non-compliance with
applicable environmental requirements that resulted in prosecution or
penalty being brought against our Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the Year under review, there was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference which are in line with the CG
Code and comprises three independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (‘HLB Hodgson”) has resigned as
the auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) with effect from 28 March
2025. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (‘Deloitte”) has been appointed as the
Auditor with effect from 28 March 2025 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of HLB Hodgson.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025
have been audited by Deloitte who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Ren Yunan

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Hong Kong, China

30 June 2025
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TEELRHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to upholding a high standard
of corporate governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and performance of the
Group and to safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders. The Board
reviews the Company’s corporate governance practices from time to
time in order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance.

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has
applied the principles of and complied with the applicable code provisions
of the CG Code contained therein except for the following deviations:

The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Ren Yunan serves as an executive Director, the chairman of the Board
(the “Chairman”) as well as the chief executive officer of the Company
(the “Chief Executive Officer”). The Board believes that vesting the roles
of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, allows for effective
and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and
strategies, and is beneficial to the business prospects and management
of the Group. Although Mr. Ren performs both the roles of Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer, the division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is clearly established. These two
roles are performed by Mr. Ren distinctly.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Management Functions

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate
governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to
ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s
corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board in performing its corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendation to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company;

S8 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors of
the Company; and

5 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclose in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in
this Report.

The Company continues to review and enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

Roles and Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management
of the Group. It also gives clear directions as to the powers of senior
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where
senior management must report back and obtain prior approval from
the Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company. These arrangements are reviewed periodically
to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Company.
To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) (together,
the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees’ responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Composition

As at the date of this Report, the Board currently consists of two
executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ren Yunan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Chao

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tang Yue

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Ms. Liang Jingyan

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this Report.

As at the date of this Report, to the best knowledge of the Board, there is
no financial, business or family relationship among members of the Board.

Board Independence

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Independence (continued)

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views
are available to the Board. During the Year, the Board also reviewed and
considered the mechanisms in place to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board. These mechanisms include:

. the Board ensures the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one-third of its members being
independent non-executive Directors (or such higher threshold as
may be required by the Listing Rules from time to time), with at least
one Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Further, independent non-executive
Directors will be appointed to Board Committees as required under
the Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent
views are available;

° the Nomination Committee strictly adheres to the Nomination Policy
(as defined below) and Board Diversity Policy (as defined below)
with regard to the nomination and appointment of independent
non-executive Directors, and is mandated to assess annually the
independence of independent non-executive Directors to ensure
that they can continually exercise independent judgements;

° the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
entitled to obtain further information from the management on the
various matters to be discussed at Board meetings and, where
necessary, independent advice from external professional advisers
at the Company'’s expense; and

. the Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Company is of the view that all of the independent non-executive
Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers them to be
independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Independence (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to
be independent of the management and free of any relationship that could
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgements. The
Board considers that each of the independent non-executive Directors
brings their own relevant expertise to the Board and its deliberations.
None of the independent non-executive Directors has any business or
financial interests with the Group nor do they have any relationship with
other Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Board, led by the Chairman, sets the overall direction, strategy and
policies of the Company.

Presently, Mr. Ren Yunan serves as an executive Director, the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer. He is responsible for formulating
corporative and business strategies and making major operational
decisions. With the support of the executive Directors and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and received adequate and
reliable information in a timely manner.

Appointment, Re-election and Retirement

In accordance with Article 108 of the Article of Association, one-third
of the Directors will retire from office by rotation for re-election by
shareholders at the general meeting and every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Furthermore,
in accordance with Article 112 of the Article of Association, any new
appointment to the Board is subject to re-appointment by shareholders at
the next following general meeting.

The non-executive Directors (as well as all other Directors) are not
appointed for any specific terms according to their service of contracts
and/or letters of appointment. However, they are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election once every three years in accordance with the
Articles of Association.

Mr. Zhang Chao, Mr. Pu Xiaojiang, Mr. Li Zhouxin and Ms. Liang Jingyan
are due to retire by rotation from the Board in accordance with Article 108
and 112 of the Articles of Association at the forthcoming 2025 AGM. The
retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions with terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiries of the Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that he has complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the Year and up to the date of this Report.

Supply of and Access to Information

For regular Board meetings, and Board committee meetings, the agenda
and accompanying Board papers are sent in full to all Directors or Board
committees members at least three (3) days before the intended date of a
Board meeting and Board committee meetings.

The Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The Company will, upon
request, provide separate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the
Company.

The Board is supplied with relevant information by the senior management
pertaining to matters to be brought before the Board for decision as well
as reports relating to operational and financial performance of the Group
before each Board meeting. Where any Director requires more additional
information from the management (other than the management provide
proactively), each Director has the right to access to the Company’s
senior management separately and independently to make further
enquiries if necessary.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ Training

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other relevant
statutory requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.

Directors are continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company Secretary shall update the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

As at the date of this Report, all Directors have participated in appropriate
continuous professional training to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Directors’ Training (continued)

During the Year, the Directors have participated in the continuous
professional development and the details are set out below:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Proceedings

The Board has four scheduled Board meetings during the Year. Additional
meetings would be arranged as required.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of
each meeting and each Director may request inclusion of matters in the
agenda. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board mesting
is given and the Company aims at giving reasonable notice for all other
Board meetings. The Company also aims at sending the agenda and the
accompanying board papers, which are prepared in such form and quality
as will enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it, to all Directors at a reasonable time before the intended date of
a Board meeting.

All Directors have accessed to the Company Secretary who is responsible
for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with and all applicable
rules and regulations are followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of Board and
Board Committee meetings, drafting and final versions of which would be
sent to Directors for comments and records respectively, in both cases
within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes are recorded in
sufficient detail the matters as considered by the Board and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
(if any) expressed. Minutes of the Board and Board Committees meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are opened for inspection by any
Director or Board Committee member.

If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter (including material transaction with connected
persons) which the Board has determined this matter to be material, a
Board meeting will be held instead of by way of resolution. Independent
non-executive Directors, who have no material interest in the transaction
should be present at the Board meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Proceedings (continued)

Attendance records

During the Year, a total of four Board meetings and a general meeting
have been held and the attendance records are as follows:
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Directors Eligible to Attend Eligible to Attend
HESEEHE HESERHE
55 EETEENRY REAXEHRHY
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Ren Yunan 4/4 1/1
REBE &L
Mr. Zhang Chao 4/4 11
SREB A
Non-executive Directors
ERITES
Mr. Tang Yue 3/4 1/1
E#fd
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang 4/4 11
BT
Ms. Liang Jingyan (“Ms. Liang”) (Note 1) 1/1 N/A
Rt ((R&x)) (s21) ~EA
Independent non-executive Directors
BIERTES
Mr. Li Zhouxin 4/4 1/1
TEMEE
Mr. Lee Man Chiu 4/4 1/1
EQiEhs
Mr. Jiang Guoliang 4/4 1/1
BEIRSE
Note: g2
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CORPORATE STRATEGY, BUSINESS
MODEL AND CULTURE

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, value and strategy, and
is satisfied that these are aligned with its corporate culture. The Directors
have acted with integrity, led by examples, and promoted the desired
culture and value across the Group.

During the Year, the Group has adopted anti-corruption policy and code
of conduct (the “Anti-Corruption Policy”) and whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”) to provide the platforms for reporting issues
and concerns on any misconduct, and to uphold business integrity in
the operations. These two policies are the core of establishing a healthy
corporate culture and promoting high ethical standards in the Group.
The Group will continuously oversee the day-to-day implementation of
these policies, and consider and approve changes to these policies, if
necessary. The Group believes that a healthy corporate culture is very
important for good corporate governance, which is essential for achieving
the long-terms success and fostering the sustainability of the Group.

Details of the Group’s strategy, business and financial review in the
Year are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Li Zhouxin
(the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Lee Man Chiu,
Mr. Jiang Guoliang and Ms. Liang Jingyan. Mr. Li Zhouxin, Mr. Lee Man
Chiu and Mr. Jiang Guo Liang are independent non-executive Directors,
while Ms. Liang Jingyan is a non-executive Director.

The main responsibilities of Nomination Committee shall be:

° to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually,
assist the Board in maintaining a board skills matrix and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors;

to review regularly the board diversity policy of the Company;

to review regularly the contribution required from the Director to
perform his/her responsibilities, and whether he/she is spending
sufficient time performing them;

to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law; and

to support the Company’s regular evaluation of the board’s
performance.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee takes

into account various aspects as well as the factors concerning the Board

diversity as set out in the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity

Policy”), as follows:

Board Diversity Policy

(i

(i)

Purpose
This policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board of Directors.

Vision
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
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EEERBS

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Policy Statement

A truly diverse board includes and makes good use of differences
in the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race,
gender and other qualities of directors. These differences have been
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments are based on merit while taking into
account diversity (including gender diversity).

Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the “Corporate
Governance Report”, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,

the Company believes increasing diversity at the Board level is an

important element in achieving its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development.

When determining the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been

considered from a number of perspectives including, but not limited

to, gender, age, culture and educational background, ethnicity, skills,

language, background, education knowledge, industry experience

and professional experience. All Board appointments will be based on

meritocracy and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,

having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Board has actively identified individuals that are suitable and
qualified to become Board members to fulfill the Board Diversity Policy
and enhance gender diversity on the Board. As to develop a pipeline of
potential successors for the Board, the Company will also proactively
provide internal trainings to our senior management and will take into
account the factor of gender diversity when accessing suitable candidates
for our senior management in the future.

The Company may also engage with recruitment agencies to identify
potential successors for the Board and enhance gender diversity in the
coming years, if necessary.

As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprised seven male Directors and one
female Director, and the percentage of male and female employees of the
Group are approximately 71.7% and 28.3%, respectively.

The Board considers that the Group’s workforce (including Directors) are
diverse in terms of gender. The Group will continue to apply the principle
of appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy as a whole, and we have also taken, and will continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at all levels of our Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the following

nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination and

appointment of Directors (the “Nomination Policy”).

1.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships (the
“Selection Criteria”):

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a Board member and other directorships and significant
commitments;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules (as amended from time
to time) and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules;

Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the
Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)
2. Directors Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination
which are pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association as below:

(@)  Appointment of New Director(s)

(i) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in the Selection Criteria
to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship;

(ii) if the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable);

(i) the Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
to the Board in respect of the appointment of
appropriate candidate for directorship; and

(iv)  for any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in the Selection Criteria to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of director at the
general meeting.

Corporate Governance Report

EEERES

EXEZST @
RRZEEG @

RBEER ()

2. EFRWER

EFERB TR KEBERRMRIETA
WTERRVERER

@ ZEHEE

(i)

(i)

(iv)

REZEGKR HEFEEW
NEENESNERREEA
BB AE R (AR &
RIREIE IR T &R A ST
REN LURERIEEARS
BERETES;

MBIEY K — A ZE S
BENRLEEER/HE
EERREBEARTINEERS
UfREANEREE WER
PO PIREBAER T ;

RYLEZEERMEEEENE
BEIEFE—FENEFTRUE
BN

MEMEHRRERRART
REAELEZED[EENA
ToREEEgk NEFY
e 5 BB AR 2E P S AR AR 5T
ZIREN > LUREZIEEANZE
AOEREEESKIERES
B/ REEEEAINKREKR
LS REENREARRRE
s EA) -

BRI ERIERARAR
—EChEFR

n



2

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2.

Directors Nomination Procedures (continued)

(b)  Re-election of Director(s) at General Meeting

(i) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/her
attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board;

(ii) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
also review and determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the criteria as set out in the
Selection Criteria; and

(i)~ the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

Based on the formalised process and procedures of nominating a
director regulated under the Nomination Policy, the management
team led by the Chairman will identify a wide and diverse range of
candidates from various backgrounds that would be attributable
to the business needs and carry out a due diligence on the
candidates. A comprehensive review will be presented to the
Nomination Committee members who will further discuss and
assess the suitability of the candidates against a range of criteria
from an independent perspective in accordance with the Board
Diversity Policy, and make recommendation to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
qualifications, experience, background and the core competencies
in the field of relevant industry knowledge of the Directors in
accordance with the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity
Policy. The Nomination Committee and the Board are satisfied that
the Board has appropriate mix of diverse, experience and skills,
and recommend the Shareholders to re-elect Mr. Pu Xiaojiang,
Mr. Zhang Chao, Ms. Liang Jingyan and Mr. Li Zhouxin as Directors
at the forthcoming 2025 AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. The
attendance records of each member of the Nomination Committee are set
out below:

Nomination Committee

RREEE
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Committee Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HMeEREEZEERRNRY

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
EEMEE (F/E)

Mr. Lee Man Chiu
EXBEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BERSEE

Ms. Liang Jingyan (Note)
ZEFR L L (a2

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has (i) reviewed the size,
structure and composition of the Board; (i) reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy; (i) reviewed the director
nomination procedures of the Company; (iv) reviewed terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee; (v) assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (vi) reviewed the re-election of
retiring Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
13 September 2024 (the “2024 AGM”).

During the Year, the Nomination Committee was provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and responsibilities and at the Company’s
expense to seek independent professional advice, where and when
necessary.

Note:

Ms. Liang Jingyan has been appointed as a member of Nomination Committee with effect
from 26 June 2025.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (the chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Li Zhouxin and Mr. Jiang Guoliang, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of Remuneration Committee shall be:

o to consult the chairman of the Board and/or chief executive about
their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee should have access to independent
professional advice if necessary;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

° to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

o to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should, include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

° to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

° to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

° to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration;

° to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and Articles of
Association or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws;

° to review and/or approve matters relating to shares schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

. to consider and implement other matters as assigned by the Board
or otherwise required by the Listing Rules from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman about their
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration industry practices and
norms in compensation, in addition to the performance relative to the
industry and the performance of the individual Directors. The Company
reviews the remuneration package annually taking into consideration
of the market practice, competitive market position and individual
performance.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. The
attendance records of each member of the Remuneration Committee are
set out below:

Remuneration Committee
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Committee Meeting Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HMeEREEZEEEERNRY

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (Chairman)
EXRBEE (FF)

Mr. Li Zhouxin

FEMEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BERSLE

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has (i) reviewed performed
by the Remuneration Committee the remuneration policy and structure of
the Directors and the senior management of the Group, including those
retired and re-elected at the 2024 AGM. The Company has adopted the
model to make recommendations to the Board in remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management; (i) reviewed the
performance-based remuneration package of each individual executive
Directors, and his/her terms of services contracts and recommending to
the Board; (jii) reviewed matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules; and (iv) reviewed the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Li Zhouxin
(the Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Lee Man Chiu and
Mr. Jiang Guoliang, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee shall be:

° to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
Company'’s external auditors, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the Company’s external auditors and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

° to review and monitor the Company’s external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards; The Audit
Committee should discuss with auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences.
Should there be more than one auditor firm participating, the Audit
Committee shall ensure the coordination between them;

° to develop and implement policy on engaging the Company’s
external auditors to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditors includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that a
reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant information
would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally
or internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

° to monitor the integrity of financial statements and the annual report
and accounts and half-year report, and to review significant financial
reporting judgement contained in them;

° to develop and review our Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
and monitor our Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements; and

. to review the whistleblowing policy and system, and to investigate
the concerns raised by the whistleblower.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference and the authority to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice if it considers necessary. It is given
access to and assistance from the employees and reasonable resources
to discharge its duties properly.

All members of the Audit Committee possess appropriate professional
qualifications and experience necessary to give advice on the Board’s
strategies and other related matters. All members of the Audit Committee
have completed and unrestricted access to the external auditors of the
Company and all employees of the Company.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board the re-
appointment of Deloitte as the Company’s external auditors subject to the
Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

During the Year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the re-appointment of the external auditors. The
financial statements for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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EEERBS

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The attendance
records of each member of the Audit Committee are set out below:

Audit Committee

BZZEY

)

BEREZEE
BREEE W

RAEFE > BRZEGRITHREZ -BREE
BENERNHERHEN T XET

("E)

Committee Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HMeEREEZEERENRY

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
EEMEE (F/E)

Mr. Lee Man Chiu
EQiEhs

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

BRI RSTE

During the Year, the Audit Committee has (i) reviewed together with
senior management and external auditors of the Company, the annual
audit plan, the risk management and internal control system, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and other
financial matters; (i) considered and approved the Company’s annual
financial results and annual report for the year ended 31 March 2024
and the interim results and interim report for the six months ended
30 September 2024, and (i) change of auditor of the Company and
confirmed that the preparation of such complied with the applicable
accounting standards and practices adopted by the Company, the
requirements of the under the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements and adequate disclosures has been made.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for consolidated financial statements is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” of this Report.

Annual audit fees of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year payable to the external auditors are approximately HK$2,360,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2024: approximately HK$1,400,000). In
addition, approximately HK$240,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2024:
HK$350,000) was incurred for other non-audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements of the Company
and the responsibilities of the external auditors to the shareholders of the
Company are set out on pages 148 to 150 of this Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and
reports to the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer while all Directors
have access to the advice and services of her to ensure that Board
Procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.
The Company Secretary is also responsible for supporting the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and that the Board policy
and procedures are followed, advising the Board through the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer on corporate governance matter and facilities
induction and professional development of Directors.

During the Year, Mr. Shi Shaoming, the Company Secretary, has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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EEERBS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities)
of risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who
oversees management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of
the members in the framework are described as follows:

[\ Bz E IR R A BB 4= 1

EEeNE HeGRKREERNEHEH I E R
BT HA N - RETZFHET A EEMIEHR
EREMEFERNERER  BEENERBERM
M EBIR SR E N IFBHE 2 (ReE

EFTURERRBREERANBEGMNRE (B8
D) BRFTEREZES BEREETRERF
BREEEEEEERNREREERABIZES
FIERRT B RER-

[ B E IR R M BRI B BRI E E SRS

AEENEREEERRERAMENE2H
BT :

4

Board of Directors

Audit Committee
BiZEEg

Board level
EEEEM

Senior management level

SHREEEER

Management of subsidiaries

MEARER
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EEERES

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL R ERRAIBES (@)

CONTROL (continued)

Main features of the risk management and AEEERATERTENEEGE
internal control systems (continued) (4&)
Member Main Responsibilities
4= FTERE
The Board ° Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and
558 extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;
wUBABEEREER T RECERBEEERUAZTHNEARMEERREE ;
° Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal control
systems; and
BURMFBERANNEREERANEIERIFIE ; &
° Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems annually.
S RREERASERTENE L -
Audit Committee ° Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of the risk
BIZEEg management and internal control systems;

WEIEEGERRRKT U R EERAIEGEFIENRFARATER

Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management,
ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective systems;

HEEENREREERAENFE BREEZECETHERLAMNHE ;

Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and has a
proper position, review and supervise its performance;

HRASSEAHEABRENEREFREZNMA EEREEHR ;

Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk
management status, make decisions for effective risk control;

BEHAEEHEENSHEEARBGREREERER R (FHBBERIZEGFIRE ;

Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or improved to the
Board on a regular basis;

ERREFEREAEEANRRA LB FRAIHTSOME

Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant accountable
persons to implement risk assessment;

REREEE R EHBEEMEE NETRRT

BRI ERIERARAR
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EEERBS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REERRAIBES (@)
CONTROL (continued)

Main features of the risk management and AEEERATERTENEEHE
internal control systems (continued) (&)

Audit Committee (continued) ° Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the group
BREEE (@) level;

EREDEREEENRREEBERER

o Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports;

BEEEARBTIMGBREASBRRERERS

o Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions made or
actions adopted by relevant organisations or individuals beyond the risk management

system;
EEEAEMREIERH - Y EREIERRAAMSEAN R EEERE R UIMEEAA
RHITE S

° Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and projects

to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks at the group level,
summarise and analyse such information, submit risk assessment and various risk
management reports; and
*E%EE%A%%H%‘&E%EEX%BF%&IEEéﬁ%lEE@E?(HB@ E1T BRI B 5T 0
MERDMER EXERTME RS ERREIERS

° Carry out risk management for other major issues.
HEMBEARBETRREIR

Management of subsidiaries ° Ensure that the subsidiaries carry out the risk assessment in compliance with the risk
EAREE assessment manual formulated by the Group;

B R P B /A B #% PR A 52 [ 1) BY L IR 5T 0 T A 17 R R AT A4

° Review and approve the risk assessment results of the subsidiaries in respect of the
business;

BRRAENBADHEBNRERTEER

° Ensure that the subsidiaries implement effective risk management;

HRIBABBHAMMEARERE ;

° Monitor the principal business risks confronted by the subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of relevant risk management measures; and

EEMBAREENEIEZXFRARKERAREEERBERME ; &

o Allocate resources such as fund and workforce to the subsidiaries for implementation
of the risk assessment projects.
BB ASEEEER AR HEENER NBEERASIE-
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL R ERRAIBES (@)

CONTROL (continued)

The process used to identify, assess and B S MEREEEXARNIER
management of principal risks

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows: AEBNREEERZFMNT .

Risk identification -

R\ 38 )

Risk analysis -
=l

Risk response -
BB FE

Control measures -
et HIEr= Yl

Risk control -

JR B A

Risk management report -
R ERRE

identify the current risks confronted.
i B R EERAY R o

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of occurrence.
HEEREREENDEMETRE DT

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation strategy.
BRI 2 A0 3 b e 5 UG T PR R B Y SR B o

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.
B 3 25 55 B PO B 428 1) 46 T R IR BRUUTR AR ©

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal control
measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response strategy.
FHE RN B 58 7)) B B b 22 1A 1 B P B 422 1) 48 T e o JRL D P ¥ SR B RV B8 AT o

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit, formulate and
report an action plan.
s BT A I R A BRI 5 BUAS R o SFIREAT B 1 800 0 LU P 3R o
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EEERBS

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The process used to review the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control
systems and to resolve material internal
control defects:

The Group establishes a risk management information and
communication channel that is functional within the whole basic risk
control procedure, connects different levels in the reporting system and
different departments and operation units, so as to ensure timely, accurate
and complete communication of information, laying a solid foundation for
the monitoring and improvement of risk management.

Different departments and business units of the Group regularly inspect
and examine their own risk management process in order to locate
the shortcomings and remedy the situation if possible. Their inspection
and examination reports are delivered to the Group’s risk management
department in time.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no material issue relating
to the Group’s risk management and internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions of
the Group; and (i) that there were adequate staff with appropriate and
adequate qualifications and experience, resources for accounting, internal
audit, financial reporting functions as well as those relating to the ESG
performance and reporting, and adequate training programmes had
been provided during the Year. The Board concludes that adequate and
effective risk management and internal control systems are maintained.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The procedures and internal controls for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information:

Regarding the procedures and internal controls for handling inside
information, the Group:

° is well aware of its statutory and regulatory obligations to announce
any inside information.

° makes reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission in
June 2012.

° has implemented policy and procedure which strictly prohibit
unauthorised use of confidential information and insider trading, and
has communicated to all staff.

The Group requires all employees who have access to the inside
information to maintain strict confidentiality of the inside information until it
is announced.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has established the () policy and measures to support
anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (i) Whistleblowing Policy
and measures for employees, suppliers and business partners to raise
serious concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Board about
possible improprieties in financial report or other matters of the Group.
These policies can promote high probity standards and ethical business
practices.

Further details of the Group’s Anti-Corruption Policy and Whistleblowing
Policy, please refer to the Company’s website.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which outlines general principles for the determination and
payment of dividend to its shareholders. Dividends or distributions by
the Company shall be determined and declared in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and the
Dividend Policy. The Board may amend any provision in the Dividend
Policy if it considers necessary.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company may declare and pay dividends to the
Shareholders by way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to
allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits, and at the
same time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth. The Company’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends in
the future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial condition, liquidity
position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends
received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to
pay a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and
payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue to
review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may exercise
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify this
Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary. There is no
assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount
for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that any dividend will be
paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining an on-going and open
dialogue with current and prospective, both individual and institutional
shareholders of the Company. A shareholders’ communication policy
(the “Shareholders Communication Policy”) was adopted throughout
the Year pursuant to the CG Code which aims at establish two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
Shareholders. The Board has the responsibility to review the policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

In summary, the Shareholders Communication Policy set out the
provisions with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders re provided
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company in order to promote effective
communication with the Shareholders so as to enable them to engage
actively with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholder in an
informed manner. The Shareholders Communication Policy is available on
the Company’s website (www.okg.com.hk) and set out the maintenance
of an effective ongoing communication with the Shareholders.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue with
its shareholders through various means includes: (i) financial reports
and other corporate communications. The publication of the financial
reports (interim and annual reports) and other corporate communications
including but not limited to announcements, circulars, notices, proxy
forms and other regulatory disclosure will be provided to Shareholders
in accordance with the Listing Rules and any other relevant laws and
regulations to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding; (i) Shareholders’
meetings. (i.e. annual general meeting, extraordinary general meeting or
any other Shareholders’ meetings); and the members of the Board, in
particular, either the chairman of Board committees or their delegates,
appropriate management executives will attend annual general meetings
to answer Shareholders’ questions in normal circumstances; and (i)
Company’s Website. The availability of latest information of the Group on
the Company’s website which is an effective communication platform to
the shareholders and the investors as well as the general public.

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency
and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information
to its shareholders and investors and discloses information in compliance
with the Listing Rules, and publishes periodic reports and announcements
to the public in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy for enhancing
the investors relations, and the investors understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board can
convene an extraordinary general mesting (‘EGM”). The EGM shall also
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholder holding, on
the date of deposit of the requisition, ordinary share(s) in the capital of the
Company representing not less one tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company which carry the right to vote, on a one vote per Share basis,
at general meetings of voting at general meetings the Company. Such
Shareholder(s) shall be entitled to add resolutions to the agenda for the
extraordinary general meeting concerned.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself(themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company, provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of a period of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 111 of the Articles of Association, subject to the
Articles of Association and the applicable law, the company may by
ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director (continued)

Pursuant to Article 113 of Articles of Association, no person other than
a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for election,
be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting,
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the registration
office. The period for lodgment of the notices required will commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to
the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period
during which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
seven (7) days.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward
Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed
at Shareholders’ meeting. There is no provision allowing Shareholders to
make proposals or move resolutions at the general meetings under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands other than to
propose a person for election as a director. Shareholders who wish to
make proposals or move a resolution may, however, follow the procedures
set out in the paragraph headed “Procedures for Shareholders to
Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting” under the section of
“Corporate Governance Report” of this Report written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for putting forward proposals at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong, presently at Unit 902-903, 9th
Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary or relevant personnel by mail
to the Company’s headquarters and principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, by post for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in foundation, building construction
works and ancillary services; digital assets related businesses; and
technical services and other businesses.

While striving for performance, the Group pursues business sustainability
by being a responsible corporate citizen and is committed to maintaining
high standards of business practices in relation to environmental
protection social responsibility, and corporate governance.

ABOUT THE REPORT

This report is the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
(collectively “the ESG Report”) published by the Group, which discloses
the Group’s measures and performance on sustainable development
topics in a transparent and open manner, in order to increase
stakeholders’ confidence and understanding on the Group.

Reporting Standards

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”) of the Stock
Exchange set out in Appendix C2 of Main Board Listing Rules. The ESG
Report provides a simplified overview on the environmental, social and
governance (‘ESG”) performance of the Group. The information in the
ESG Report is derived from the Group’s official documents and statistics,
as well as the integration and summary of monitoring, management and
operational information provided by subsidiaries of the Group.

Reporting Year

All the information in the ESG Report reflects the performance of the
Group in environmental management and social responsibility from 1 April
2024 to 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”). This ESG Report is
published annually by the Group for public review so as to enhance the
transparency and accountability of information disclosure.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)
Reporting Scope

The ESG Report focuses on the Group’s key business activities carried
out in Hong Kong, which include the headquarters in Hong Kong (the
“headquarters”) and segments of foundation, building construction
works and ancillary services, digital assets related businesses, and
technical services and other businesses, which represent the Group’s
major source of revenue and income. For the section of employment
related to the social aspect, it also covers the operation in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). After the comprehensive completion of
the data collection system and the Group’s deepening in its ESG work,
the Group has identified certain environmental, social and governance
issues (“ESG issues”) relevant to the Group, which have been assessed
by considering their materiality and importance to the Group’s principal
activities and stakeholders as well as the Group. Those identified ESG
issues and Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) have been disclosed in
the ESG Report.

ESG Governance

The Group has developed its internal strategies and policies with aims to
create sustainable values for its stakeholders, thereby to a large extent
minimising the Group’s adverse impact on the environment. In order
to carry out the Group’s sustainability strategy from top to bottom, the
Board has the ultimate responsibilities for ensuring the effectiveness of
the Group’s ESG policies. The Group has established dedicated teams
comprising staff from the main department to manage ESG issues within
each business division of the Group and kept monitoring and overseeing
the progress against corporate goals and targets for addressing climate
change. Dedicated teams with designated staff for the management
of ESG issues have been assigned to enforce and supervise the
implementation of the relevant ESG policies cascading through the Group.
The dedicated team would at least annually report on ESG issues to
the Board. With the forward-looking guidance and well-designed plans
of action to address underlying ESG matters, the management and
responsible teams keep reviewing and adjusting the Group’s sustainability
policies to satisfy the ever-changing needs of its stakeholders on a regular
basis. For example, by assigning progress tracking responsibilities to
various management-level positions, the Group is committed to achieving
excellent ESG management performance while also remaining competitive
among its peers. Details of the Group’s management approaches in both
the environmental and social aspects are elaborated in different sections
of this ESG report.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement

The Stock Exchange has established four principles for ESG reporting:
Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency, which should form the
basis for preparing the ESG Report. As the Stock Exchange emphasises,
stakeholder engagement is the means by which materiality is assessed.
Through stakeholder engagement, companies can understand diverse
perspectives and identify material environmental and social issues.

The Group believes that effective feedback from stakeholders not
only contributes to a comprehensive and impartial evaluation of the
environmental, social and governance performance, but also enables the
Group to improve the performance based on their feedback. Therefore,
the Group has engaged in open and regular communication with
the stakeholder groups including shareholders and investors, clients,
employees, suppliers, subcontractors and government. Over the years,
the Group has continued to refine its sustainability focus, addressing
pressing issues. The table below outlines how the Group communicates
with key stakeholder groups and their respective concerns.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report

PR A E @)
BRESH

GRFTIRIE B RERARERILIERE :

EM-8 - FTHEER—BMY > ZFRABENR
RBIRIE B R ERREBIEE - N B S FR
PRogsR HnESRAFLEEMNTE-EB
RiRESE QB TREZNERRETHFIEK
BUIRIE et B R RE o

AEBBE FHENARREFERINEE
ERIRE  HEREARRETE2ERAERNT
o METALAEERBERBERSERE -
I AEFECHEERRERREE - EF B
HER  DHBRBNEANEOERRETA
FRRERNBRE  ZHH AEEFETSHA
REEREN BRAREHE - TRELAER
MEREBFNERRBERNNESEMRE



ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

Stakeholders and engagement methods

Stakeholders
HnE

Shareholders and
Investors

RRRGEE

Clients

xR

Employees

B8

Suppliers
HRERE

Sub-contractors

S

Government

B

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Interests and concerns

Fl i K B v

Return on investment and dividends
BERHRKEER

Corporate strategy and governance
ERERER

Risk mitigation and management

R B R e B

Robust operational management
BROKEEIE

Full compliance with laws and regulations
EHEHETERRER

Sustainability performance of operations
BEMNFERE

Technical capability

R AiiAs

Security control

22

Compliance and risk control
aRKEAREE

Compensation and benefits
N B f2 A

Occupational health and safety
BWERRREZD

Career development opportunities
BEEREESE

Corporate culture and well-being
NS &2 E s

Long-term partnership
RHSEBHEIR

Ethical business practices
BEEHEER

Supplier assessment criteria
AR TR E

Effective project management
BMIEEEE

Occupational health and safety
BERREREZE

Ethical business practices
BEEMEER

Sub-contractors assessment criteria
DA AR A

Laws and regulation compliance

ERERAR

IR HERERERS

PR ER S ()
BIRERSEL

Engagement channels
BHRE

Annual General Meeting

RRBERS

Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

FRHERRR SR R~ (R AL
Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars

RE-KGBEBX

Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

PRI E R EHR  BEIE

Regular meetings and communication
EHREH R EE

Mail, email and telephone communication

5 BH R BB

In-house training programmes

A EB R 5T S

Performance reviews and appraisals
RIS K aTE

Promote career development and
enhance competence at all levels
EFREEEMESEBENGZEE

Procurement processes
REETMAZ

Audits and assessments
Bz G

Annual health, safety and environment
seminars

FERR -ZE2KIREME

Training sessions

IR

Regular progress meetings

EHEE G

Audits and assessments

Bz sHE

Regular inspection

ERGE

Statutory filings and notification

VA TE G AB R

Written or electronic correspondence
EHEHEFER
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

Stakeholders and engagement methods
(continued)

The business of the Group affects diverse stakeholders, and stakeholders
have varying expectations of the Group. The Group will maintain
continuous communication with stakeholders, collect opinions from
stakeholders through diverse means and more extensively, and conduct
more comprehensive substantive analysis. Concurrently, the Group will
enhance the reporting principles of materiality, quantification, balance
and consistency, in order to define the content of the ESG Report and
presentation of the information that is more aligned with stakeholders'
expectations.

Materiality Analysis

By reviewing the Group’s operations and identifying relevant ESG issues,
the Group assesses the importance of related matters to the Group’s
businesses and stakeholders. Based on the material ESG issues
identified, feedback is collected from the relevant internal and external
stakeholders of the Group by conducting survey. The result of the
assessment is as follows:
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Materiality analysis outcomes

HRRIE

Tt

&

HIFHEZEN

Influence on stakeholder assessments

e
Charity

5E3 a:@
Energy managemem

0\

Occupatlonal hea\(h & safety

ADEZR

Human cap\tal

Development and Trammg

HERE
Community investment
HAEREIE
Supply chain management Green Workmg Environment
g o

Human rlghls

ERREREAELMRE
Informatlon Security and

HITER Protection of Personal Data
Labour practices AR
Compliance and Buswness Ethics
ERIRE

Customer Service

InteHectuaI propeny proteot\on
Antl corrupuon
HEEE

Quallty management

BB TIRRE

RV RA SR EE

Waste & hazardous management

FKRISKER

Water & wastewater management

Y

HAREBKE RIERTEE

EAMN

Significance of economic, environmental, & social impacts to the Group
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ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)
Materiality Analysis (continued)

The results of the materiality assessment for the Reporting Period are
consistent with the previous period. The Group has identified several
material issues such as information security and protection of personal
data; compliance and business ethics; and occupational health and safety
that were deemed as the most important by the stakeholders. The Group
will continue to manage these critical issues by adopting policies and
guidelines to further enhance the Group’s ESG performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is cognisant of its responsibility and required commitment to
the environmental sustainable development of its on-going operations.
The Group supports “Green Environment” ideas, complies with the
requirements of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘HKSAR”)
laws, and specific guides in the industry, and is committed to the social
responsibility of protecting the environment as a responsible corporation.
The Group has implemented policies and taken measures to ensure the
business and operation are energy, water and resources saving.

The Group had not been subject to any reported violations in relation to its
emissions and waste discharges or other environmental issues during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not note any material non-compliance
with environmental laws and regulations during the Reporting Period.

A1. Emission and waste

The Group understands that construction projects may generate
pollution and impact the environment undoubtedly. In order to
govern the environmental management and minimise the impact
caused by the Group’s operations, the Group has formulated
relevant policies relating to environmental management and
established an environmental management system in accordance
with ISO14001, which has been integrated into our daily operations.
The Group is strictly committed to complying with the requirements
stipulated in the relevant local environmental laws and regulations.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

The Group has a dedicated department to coordinate and
implement environmental protection measures and objectives, and
to address environmental issues. The Group carries out a series
of environmental management measures at construction sites,
covering planning, materials procurement and various construction
procedures. The Group has also adopted measures concerning
noise, dust, pollution discharge, waste, energy, carbon emissions
and biodiversity to ensure that all business activities are strictly in
compliance with local laws and regulations.

Specifically, the Group has also adopted the relevant procedures
and guidelines relating to construction waste management, in order
to govern the management and disposal process of construction
wastes and maximise the reuse and recycling.

The Group strives to constantly improve its environmental
management system, in order to minimise negative impacts on the
environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the environment or on the
Group.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

Exhaust gas emissions from construction sites may cause nuisance
to both construction workers and nearby communities. During
the construction and demolition process, air pollutants including
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx”), Sulphur Oxides (“SOx”) and Particulate
Matter (“PM”) are generated by construction machines and
vehicles, which consume diesel and other fossil fuels.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emission Performance Summary

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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2025 2024
Type of Exhaust Gas Unit Quantity Quantity
ZEZHE ZETOE
EEmEEE B g HE
NOx kg 8.15 11.62
a1ty T=
SOx kg 0.08 0.05
maty T
PM kg 0.72 1.04
FEpTR ) T
The overall level of exhaust gas incurred by the Group remains AEBELENEREREN _T TN F
stable compared to FY2024. AL RFIERE ©
For the construction industry, air pollution is a key concern MERTEMS  ERSRAIRIGEFRES

regarding environmental protection. Relevant operational
procedures are established to control air pollution and emissions of
dust, fumes, smoke, noxious gases and other airborne particulates
within legal and tolerable limits for affected persons.

For dust emission control, vehicles transporting sand, debris or
other dust-generating materials are fully covered with canvas
before leaving the site. Additionally, all vehicles are jet-washed
before departing the site. Wet work methods should be used when
cleaning higher units/floors to reduce dust. The storage areas for
sand, cement and aggregates are situated as far as practicable
from sensitive receptors such as public housing, schools, hospitals
and hostels, etc. Stockpile of sand and aggregates etc. at concrete
batching plant is sheltered with canvas if possible to prevent dust
pollution. To control the emission of fumes and noxious gases,
proper disposal and removal of unwanted air-conditioning units
is required, and the use of halon-containing fire extinguishers
is prohibited. The air quality of sites is monitored to ensure the
effectiveness of the mitigation measures.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emission Performance Summary (continued)

To further manage exhaust gas emissions, construction related
plants and vehicles are properly maintained to ensure compliance
with relevant standards. All applicable machineries are certified with
Non-Road Mobile Machinery (‘NRMM”), which are recognised as
more environmentally friendly and emission-compliant operations.
The Group has also installed air pollution control equipment on
the gas discharge ports of compressors, crawler cranes and
generators. Designated employees are responsible for regularly
maintaining and monitoring machines and vehicles to ensure no
heavily polluted black smoke is emitted. Marked Ultra- Low-Sulphur
Diesel (“MULSD”) is used for the diesel-operated constructional
plant on site. Random testing of sulphur content is conducted for
the plant. Records of MULSD consumption and testing are duly
maintained.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The Group is committed to preserving environmental quality,
employing clean energy, and minimising pollution and waste during
operations to reduce and even eliminate the adverse environmental
impact from operational activities and emissions.

Over the years, the Group has been dedicated to environmental
protection and has implemented various appropriate measures
and monitoring methods to ensure its environmental protection
responsibilities have been fulfilled.

In business operations, the Group actively promotes energy
conservation and emission reduction by continuously increasing
investment in environmental protection. Through the use of clean
energy and other measures, the Group reduces the generation of
exhaust pollutants at the source to avoid environmental pollution.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued) IRIZ (@)

A1. Emission and waste (continued) A1l.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary

HER ) R BE ) (48

BRERRE (CRERRE)) HiK (8

A E R E

2025 2024
2025 Intensity’ - 2024 Intensity’ -
GHG Scope Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
b -3 “EINE
k- Jak BE- —TomE BE-
RERBEE Bl ye SEERE ¥E SEEBEREQ
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)
ERREREYH (BE1)
- Diesel and petrol consumption Tonnes 7.40 0.93 9.45 118
- R RUHFE g
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
ERRE R (8E2)
— Electricity consumption Tonnes 53.13 6.64 166.38 20.80
- ENH® g
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)
EMEERE REHN (BER)
— Electricity for processing fresh water, Tonnes 58.21 7.28 36.26 4.53
sewage and others
- BB S KR EMAERNE S WE
Total GHG emissions Tonnes 118.74 14.84 212.09 26.51
AERBEHRE U]

The GHG emissions intensity in FY2025 has decreased compared
with FY2024, mainly because the peak season of certain projects
had passed, resulting in lower activity levels and reduced energy
consumption. Additionally, the increase in travel frequency has
contributed to the increase in Scope 3 emission. The Group has set
a target of 1% emission reduction in terms of intensity by FY2027,
compared with the baseline year of FY2022.

Note:

1. As at 31 March 2025, the total number of completed and ongoing
construction projects of the Group was 8 (2024: 8 projects), which would

also be used for calculating other intensity data.

In addition, climate change has been an increasing concern for
parties including the Government of the HKSAR, general public
and investors. The Group has therefore responded by limiting the
carbon footprints of its construction activities. The Group also
endeavours to utilise regionally sourced materials produced within
800km of the construction sites, where feasible, in order to reduce
exhaust gases and GHG emissions from freight transportation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary (continueq)

Consumption of electricity is proven to cause indirect GHG
emission through its generation process. The Group has
implemented measures as stated in section A2 “Energy Efficiency”
below in order to reduce energy consumption, and thereby
minimising carbon footprint.

Hazardous wastes

Owing to the nature of the projects being participated in during
the Reporting Period, the Group does not generate significant
hazardous wastes. However, the Group continues to strives to
mitigate the hazardous wastes generated from the operational
process as much as possible.

Sewage Disposal and Management

Wastewater generated from various construction sites without
proper treatment may block nearby drains and cause pollution. As
a result, the Group takes additional necessary steps to monitor
and maintain wastewater quality. The amount of wastewater
consumption during the Reporting Period is stated at Aspect A2
“Water Efficiency Management”.

The sewage produced from construction sites that needs to be
discharged would first be treated at the sewage treatment tank, to
ensure it meets the requirements of the sewage discharge license
and would subsequently be discharged through sewage drains.

Nonpoint source water pollution is often caused by land runoff,
seepage and drainage after precipitation and construction
works. To avoid leakage of wastewater to nearby communities,
a temporary drainage network has been established on site to
systematically collect all discharges. Designated workers are
appointed to properly manage the drainage system and ensure that
there are no blockages of drains and sewers caused by debris and
sediments. Sandbags are placed along the site boundary to prevent
any leakage of surface runoff where possible.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)
A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management

Wastes are well managed on-site. To ensure the waste
management process is both environmentally acceptable and in
full compliance with statutory and contractual requirements, waste
handling, transportation and disposal procedures are implemented.
The Group provides guidance and instruction on waste
management to its site staff. The Group has adopted a number of
measures to manage the disposal process of the waste, including
but not limited to:

- According to the relevant waste management policies
of the Group, all departments and workshops classify
the solid wastes generated and take measures for their
comprehensive utilisation to reduce disposal pressure. For
example, inert and non-inert wastes are identified prior to any
disposal;

- The subsidiaries of the Group engage qualified waste
collectors to collect all kinds of construction waste. The
collected wastes are disposed of at the designated landfill
and treatment facilities; and

- Non-hazardous waste should be recycled and utilised as
much as possible. Non-hazardous waste and hazardous
waste that cannot be reused or recycled will be entrusted to
a qualified waste disposal company for disposal.
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RIR - HERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1. Emission and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)

In the course of its operations, the Group inevitably generates
waste. Nevertheless, through effective waste disposal strategies
and policies, the Group has minimised the environmental risks and

IRIR (&)
A1, BEBR R ()

BEYEERER (8)

EREBER > NEB AR Rt ELRE
Yo BENL  EBBENNEY EIERE
R BER ZK%@EH%F%FE%XE’JE%%H

impacts caused by the waste. During the Reporting Period, the BhEEBERK RRSHABRN K&
consumption volume generated by the Group is set out as below: B ZE 4 H %%E%Z?'JQD—F =
2025 2024
2025 Intensity - 2024 Intensity -
Types of non-hazardous waste Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
b= e %3 —ZomE
- - BE- “ETmE BE-
BEEWES Efi Y= SEEBEQ #E SEEBEREMQ
Inert construction and demolition (‘C&D") Tonnes 111,166 13,895.75 72,649 9,081.13
waste disposed to public fill facilities
(including sands, bricks and concrete)
MARBIRRHEENEERE (HFE) M
BEY) (B AR 1)
Non-inert C&D waste disposed at landfill Tonnes 38,952 4,868.94 543 67.87
(bamboo, plastics, glass, wood and
other organic materials)
REDRIEIE 5 5 BRI IR R 2EEY) ]
(77~ BB IRIB ~ AW R B A )
Mixed construction & demolition waste Tonnes 62 7.75 3 3.88
RATFEEY ]
Total non-hazardous waste Tonnes 150,180 18,772.44 73,223 9,152.88
BEBENES ]

According to the figures above, the intensity of non-hazardous
waste has increased compared with FY2024. It is mainly due to the
Group’s certain projects had involved more deep excavation works
which incurred much larger quantities of non-hazardous waste.
The Group has initiated a target of reducing waste level in terms
of intensity by 1% by FY2027, compared with the baseline year of
FY2022.

The Group has been proactively seeking solutions to minimise or
even avoid generation and disposal of wastes. The Group has then
applied the 4R principles of waste reduction — i.e. reduce, reuse,
recycle and replace — where feasible. For example, to reduce waste,
all construction activities are specially planned by professionals
to minimise and avoid unnecessary resource input throughout
the piling process. To reuse materials, construction workers are
directed to reuse construction materials whenever possible in the
same project or in other projects of the Group. For example, surplus
steels are reused to produce construction materials and to support
temporary construction works on site.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A1,

Emission and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)
Other measures for handling wastes include:

- Placing recycle bins around the Group’s offices, properties
and construction sites to collect general wastes such as
cardboards, metals and plastic containers, and hence
encouraging recycling practices.

Use of Resources

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource efficiency
and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s operations, and is
committed to optimising the use of resources in all of its business
operations. To enchance efficiency in the use of resources, the
Group had incorporated the concept of environmental protection
into the process of site construction operations and office
administration.

Regarding the use of of conservation materials, employees on sites
should:

Prevent overflow or spillage when transferring diesel;

- Keep timber, rebar, cement and other materials in good
condition;

- Reduce, reuse and recycle papers, timber and other
materials where possible;

- Power off compressors, generator sets, bar-bending
machines, etc. when not in use and regular maintenance of
equipment/machinery is required to increase efficiency;

- Switch off air-conditioners, lights, fans and radios, etc.
when not in use to reduce electricity consumption. Water at
the vehicle-washing bay shall be reused and re-circulated.
Workers/sub-contractors shall switch off the pump and turn
off the running hose when not in use; and

- Use ECO mode of all applicable construction machines.
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IRIR (48)
A2. EiFFIA (@)

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Additionally, the Group encourages its office employees to adopt
the concept of efficient resource utilisation, including but not limited
to:

- Keep doors and windows closed when air conditioners are
in operation, and maintain the optimal temperature at 25.5
Degree Celsius;

- Encourage the staff to save water and reduce domestic
sewage in toilets;

- Turn off all lights, computers, office equipment and air
conditioners when no one is in the office;

S Use double-sided printing instead of single-sided printing;

- Implement the 3R principle, which is “reduce, reuse and
recycle”; and

- Make use of scanned or electronic copies, in the ordinary
course of business.

Energy Efficiency

Energy policy has been developed to set energy conservation
as one of the Group’s fundamental policies. All employees must
implement the adopted measures, including the purchase of
energy-efficient products and services, and assume responsibility
for the Group’s overall energy efficiency. By building up an energy
management system, the Group develops and regularly reviews its
energy objectives and targets to continuously enhance the Group’s
energy performance.

The Group’s energy management system is applicable to:

- The construction of buildings;

- Construction of site formation, roads and drainage and
foundation works; and

- Building activities to keep, restore and improve the facilities of
buildings and surroundings.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Efficiency (continued)

The energy management system is implemented with an annual
review to aid in achieving its energy saving objectives and targets.

Furthermore, the usage of electricity, water and other materials is
monitored monthly. Unexpected high electricity consumption will
be investigated to identify the root cause and implement preventive
measures.

Other energy use efficiency initiatives include:

- Managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment of
high efficiency equipment; and

- Using Lighting Management System to control power voltage
and save energy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s consumption in electricity,
non-renewable fuel (“NRF”) including diesel and petrol were:
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2025 2024

2025 Intensity - 2024 Intensity -

Energy Type Unit Quantity  Unit per project Quantity Unit per project

b S -3 “EIE

ZZZEE BE- “TmE BE-

AR B #E SEEBEQ yE SEERBQ

Electricity KWh 104,177 13,022.13 326,240 40,780.00
BN TRE

NRF KWh 54,329 6,791.15 35,306 4,413.25
FELME FRE

Total KWh 158,506 19,813.28 361,546 45,193.25
b TRE

According to the figures above, the intensity of energy consumption
per project decreased compared to FY2024, as several long-term
projects were nearing completion and site electricity usage was
lower. The Group is committed to maximising energy conservation
in its offices and construction sites by promoting efficient use. The
Group has initiated a target of 1% energy consumption reduction
in terms of intensity by FY2027, compared to the baseline year of
FY2022.
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RIR - HERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)
A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Water Efficiency Management

The Group endeavours to use water efficiently across all business
operations. The Group takes water management very seriously and
closely monitors water usage at construction sites. Consequently,
the Group has installed water recycling systems at the majority
of construction sites. During the Reporting Period, the water

IRIR (48)
A2. EiFFIA (@)

Ak mEE

YA T EMBB ~EE+2E
RAKEREE  BYSEEREIMAK
F It > AE T A BRI TR KB
RERERM -NERSHBA *EEBRA
EREEMBREENAKE (FRES

consumption volume (is also being treated as the amount of TEIKBEE) AT ¢
sewage discharge) of the Group’s office and project site offices is
set out as below:
2025 2024
2025 Intensity - 2024 Intensity —
Water Consumption Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
ZEZRE “EIE
k- a3 BE- —TmE BE-
Bk Bl ¥= SEBEE Y& SEEREQ
Water cubic metres 31,327 3,915.88 33,529 4,157.38
K UAR

According to the figures above, the intensity of water consumption
per project has remained stable as the number of projects is the
same. The Group will continue to monitor the water consumption
volume and endeavour to maintain a low intensity level. The Group
has set a target of 1% reduction in terms of intensity by FY2027,
compared with the baseline year of FY2022.

The Group will continue to monitor water consumption and aim
to keep intensity at a low level. A target of 1% reduction in water
consumption intensity by FY2027, compared with the baseline
year of FY2022, has been set. As a result, the intensity of water
consumption per project in FY2025 has slightly decreased
compared to FY2024.

Packaging material
The Group does not produce any finished products. Therefore,

the Group does not consume a significant amount of packaging
materials for product packaging.
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IRIR (@)
A3. BEREAER

ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

Although the Group has minimised the impact on the environment
and natural resources, as an ongoing commitment to good
corporate citizenship, the Group endeavours to minimise the
negative environmental impact of the business operations and its
investment portfolios, in order to achieve sustainable development
for generating long-term value to stakeholders and the community
as a whole.

The Group regularly assesses the environmental risks of the
business and adopts preventive measures as necessary to reduce
the risks and ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Noise abatement

Noise nuisance is often caused by construction works, particularly
during foundation piling operations. Therefore, the Group strictly
monitors and controls noise levels, and adheres to the relevant laws
and regulations.

The Group will carefully identify any Noise Sensitive Receiver
(e.g. hospitals, educational institutes, courts of law, etc.) before
commencement of any construction works. Due care is exercised
by implementing more noise abatement measures and maintaining
more stringent noise control standards.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

(continued)

Noise abatement (continued)

Due to the nature of percussive piles which involve the driving of
piles by percussive means (e.g. hammering), this type of piling
works is perceived to generate a substantial amount of noise and
vibration while the machines are in operation. Careful scheduling
of noisy piling works during less sensitive hours is undertaken
to minimise noise nuisance to the nearby neighbourhoods. The
permitted hours of operation to perform foundation works are set
out in the Construction Noise Permit issued by the government.
Under certain circumstances, the Group may apply for special
extension to carry out works during prohibited hours but such
special extension would only be granted on the basis that the works
carried out will not disturb others, e.g. for construction sites located
at remote areas with no nearby residents. Although the Group
strictly adheres to the restricted hours of operation stipulated in
the Construction Noise Permit, complaints from nearby residents
regarding disturbances caused by the operation of machinery may
be received. Under such circumstances, the Group will work with
the relevant authorities and the person making the complaint with
the aim of introducing measures (e.g. installing sound proofing) to
mitigate the disturbances caused.

Machinery and equipment with Quality Powered Mechanical
Equipment (“QPME”) labels recognised by the Environmental
Protection Department are proved to be quieter, more
environmentally-friendly and efficient as opposed to standard
equipment. The Group ensures that QPME labelled machineries
and equipments to lawfully operate in every construction site.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)
A4. Climate Change

Climate change is amongst the most complex challenges faced
by humanity in the new century. Global warming leads to more
frequent extreme weather conditions, including changes in
precipitation patterns, droughts, floods and bushfires. Rising sea
levels will make tens of thousands of people in densely populated
coastal areas and island countries homeless. Confronted with all
sorts of problems, individuals, corporations and governments must
take immediate actions to tackle climate change.

Excessive emission of greenhouse gases is the primary driver of
global climate change. To achieve a low carbon economy, the
Group is committed to reducing its greenhouse gas emissions
through the approaches of mitigation and adaptation. For example,
the Group has strived to mitigate the risks posed by climate
change through the adoption of various environmental policies and
measures; and by promoting energy saving measures and habits in
the office.

The Group is focused on reducing emissions in its operations,
engaging suppliers to reduce emissions in supply chains,
strengthening the resilience of its business and using its voice to
advocate for collective action.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued) IRIZ (&)

A4. Climate Change (continued) Ad. RIEEME (@)
The Group reviews and identifies climate-related risks annually while NEBESFETREBTHHFEEEDS K#
conducting risk assessments. We have considered the potential PREAER R R o ANER E%)% BERER
climate-related risks which have impacted and/or may impact the /RO BE R B AR E S EN BT RIEIER
Group’s operations and summarised as follows: B\ WARAEW T

Type of Risks Description of Risk  Impact on the Group

EEEER ) pan HAEENTE
Physical Risk Extreme weather such Extreme weather such as
- Acute risk as typhoons, torrential typhoon, floods, fires or
B E MR rain and sandstorms landslides may cause damage
— = R 1RiH R @R & ~ & to construction site facilities
REDER and public transportation
systems.

o REREHK KK ETERE
1 3 X S BT AR 8 E T 52 i
FRABIBERRR

o In extreme weather
conditions, the supply chain
will be affected due to
transportation disruptions.

e MBIHEXEEGT  EEH
FRETT R &

— Chronic risk  Continuous high ° High temperatures will
— 214 &b temperatures, adversely affect the working
droughts, etc. environment and efficiency;
FEsR 2% and cause possible health

issues such as heat stroke.

. SR TERERMEEK
THRTE; LA EERER
R g o

° High temperatures will reduce
the lifespan of equipment, and
eventually increase operating
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Formulating emergency
response plans to handle
issues arising from extreme
weather
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Adopting flexible working
arrangements in case of
adverse weather conditions
RELRFRR TRMNEE
TezHk

Performing periodic
equipment inspection and
maintenance
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Maintaining comprehensive
insurance coverage on assets
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

A4. Climate Change (continued)

Type of Risks
EELER

Transition Risk

- Policy and
legal risk

1B R S

—BERER
[E B

- Market risk
— TR

- Reputation
risk

—BEERK

Type of
opportunities

B

Circular
economy

BIRAETE

Description of Risk

R B it

The government

may introduce more
rigorous policies and
regulations to mitigate
climate change.

R O] SEHE L BB AR
BUERERLUR AR "5
&1t

Consumer demand
for green low-carbon
products.
HBEE R EEmRE
mAyER -

Growing investor
demand for green
finance and
investment.
REEHEBEEMK
KERBRTEIE
Eo

Climate-related
opportunities

RIZAERAKE

Adopt reusable and
modular formwork
systems to reduce
construction waste
and consumption of
resources
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Ad. RIREE (&)

Impact on the Group

HAEBMWTE
° It would increase our

compliance workload or
expose us to litigation or
claims.

e HRENMAEEERIMFE
HEAEEEZHDHR

fgo

o Failure to meet the demand
may lead to changes in
customer preference.

e  KRERMEERUBEHER
fRiFoREt -

o Increase in investors' concern
about the Group’s climate
change strategy and transition
plan

s RKEEZHAEEMNRIEZ
BRBE R B @ 5 2189 B 1T
n

Effects on business model

HEBEANZE
° Minimise costs on single-use

construction materials
. R — 2R M S A L Y B AN P

ERM

Risk Response Measures

R B FE H HE T
o Monitor updates in

environmental laws,
regulations and policies, and
respond to them promptly

e  EHARBEE -ERRBE

ST MR (F R R

o Introduce the latest energy-
saving technology and
equipment in the workplace

e RIS ARIEER
M e s

° Reviewing the Group'’s
climate change strategy and
advancing the transition to
sustainability

e MEAXAEBRMNRTELLILRE
BE > WHEBN M Al 54 R 5
gEry

Effects on value chain

HEGHENZE
o Invest in sustainable and low-

carbon materials that are
durable for reusable systems
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RIR - HERERRS

SOCIAL
B1. Employment and labour practices

The Group is convinced that employees are the vital factor for
the success of an enterprise. The Group treats all employees as
the most valuable assets of the Group and also the most intimate
and reliable partners of the Group in promoting sustainable
development. Through establishing a comprehensive employment
management system, the Group provides employees with a
competitive, attractive, fair and inclusive working environment. The
Group makes every effort to let all employees fully unleash their
value, and create a workplace where employees feel satisfied and
relaxed.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations including the “Employment Ordinance” in Hong Kong,
the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” in the
PRC that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Recruitment and Remuneration

The Group strictly follows relevant employment laws of Hong Kong
through the establishment of Human Resources Policy. The Group
offers an array of benefits on top of those required by laws and
regulations in Hong Kong to cater for the personal needs of the
Group’s employees and care for their physical and psychological
development.

Working environment °
TRIRIR
Benefits °

=F medical care, etc.;

e

B1.

BiER% ITER

FERREREREDEEMINBERITE
FEBRE—MNMETINMERERREEN
EE BRAEREAREERERNE L
ERBURNBH -BERYEZENER
EEME AEEAESREARFE -
R5177 R FHRBNTIFRIE  AEEK
NES—(UEEHERDELEBHREE
B —E< BT RE =R RIS

REBESHERN FEBLANEFEHE
EREEATEZEABREEREMHIERA
ERFOER (BEEENEFEERD ; PE
BCPEARKEMBEASEHE)M(FEAR
HNBEBBHERE)) 21

RS B i B

FERBBRIEANERBRBEEETE
AEBERERZ cERREHREEEEK
ERRELUINNZREEF Lume A EH
BENBARZ BOERENSOEE-

Provide site workers with shower rooms and common rooms;
AMBTARERAERAHERKEE ;
Provide meal allowance, business trip allowance, overtime compensation,

RMEEEM LERY - TEERHE BERRES ;

Physical and psychological o
development of employees

EBESLER

and

Regularly host various sports activities, book sports venues for workers;

EHEREERETRE RETEIESHE, &

e Host cultural and sports events; and
MBI EREBEEE ; &

e Conduct training courses such as emotional management, occupational

safety, etc.

BMEREE BELZ2SIEIIRRE-

The Group hires employees through open recruitment, fair
competition and strict appraisals and recruits workers on a selective
basis. The Group also continues to strengthen local young talent
recruitment in Hong Kong by selecting suitable fresh graduates
through recruitment activities and employment fairs at universities.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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SOCIAL (continued)

B1. Employment and labour practices

(continued)

Promotion and Career Development

The Group cherishes and cares for the employees. Therefore, the
Group attracts outstanding talents to join the workforce through
establishing a comprehensive promotion system so that the
workforce can thrive and grow from strength to strength.

The Group regularly conducts industrial benchmarking evaluation
and salary surveys for adjusting our remuneration level and
decisions on promotion in a timely manner. The Group adopts a
responsibility system for operational and management objectives,
and has developed systematic business indicators as an important
basis for annual performance and career development assessment.
Supervisors also discuss the performance with employees in
facilitating an effective two-way communication for advancement.
Based on the evaluation result, the Group offers rewards to
employees in encouraging continuous improvement.

Communication Channels

The Group pays great attention to communication between the
management and employees at all levels as the Group believes
that good communication will help enhance the employees’
sense of belonging, boost work morale and create a harmonious
workplace. The Group maintains regular communication
with employees through overall progress reporting, career
development assessment, seminars for new joiners, mailboxes
for recommendations, and employee satisfaction surveys. Survey
forms are distributed to understand employees’ opinions on work
responsibility, working environment, organisation and employee
relationships, compensation and benefits, etc. The Group also
encourages employees at all levels to contribute valuable insights
on the Group’s business operations and corporate culture through
various channels to their respective superiors, the person-in-charge
or the human resources departments of their respective entities or
the officers-in-charge at all levels.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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RIR - HERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)

B1. Employment and labour practices

(continued)
Gender Equality and Anti-discrimination

Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination are one of the core parts
of the Group’s corporate culture. The Group strives to establish
and maintain a diversified, inclusive and non-discriminatory work
environment as it values the varied backgrounds and professional
experiences of all employees. In the Employees’ Handbook, the
Group undertakes that all employees, regardless of gender, age,
nationality and race, are entitled to equal job opportunities and
benefits, covering training, promotion, transfer, dismissal, layoff,
employment conditions, etc.

The Group has also formulated policies to provide clear and specific
guidelines prohibiting any direct or indirect discrimination and
harassment based on gender, marital status, pregnancy, disability,
family status, race, etc. Employees are welcome to report any
suspected cases through the whistleblowing mechanism to protect
the rights and interests of each employee.

Employment Key Performance Indicators (Employee)

Total workforce structure as at 31 March 2025

e @
B1. EIRHTHR @

5T E R R IR

TEREAREFEDFEREEXERN
BOBMoz— AEEERMAEEINAT
EERkIFEEE ROBRL RiE#E—E
L HERERRN TR AEH
E(REFM)FEE FIEEETHE
MR FE BB REREEATENT
R G R ABH] > BUFRLETI S BT SRE - A2
B HERERIFFFLE-

AERTEHERER  HR EEFEER
BHER IR R BB 1E > AR 1B
R BE N BR  RER R ERSHE
o R AEM BEERVIE S| c A E ML B
ERBERRFIERERER RES—
(IR S BVRER Rt

BRI RERISE (BE)

RIE_RE=ZA=1+—HMNESHEZEA
R

2025 2024
Ratio of Ratio of
number of number of
Number of male to male to
Age employees  Total number female female
Region Gender below 30 Age 30-50  Age over 50 by Jgender of employees employees employees
G by . ZTCRE CE2CME
e 3] 30T 30ZE507% 505 M £ BEAH BEAY BuESLA BRESLH
Hong Kong Male 3 28 35 66 ) .
=3 B R? 2.5:1 1.6:1
Female 3 16 7 26
g
PRC Male - - - - .
] Bif - - &
Female - - - -
g
i o . . &3 &2 9 251 191
Female 3 16 7 26
g
Total 6 44 42 92
‘st
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SOCIAL (continued)

B1. Employment and labour practices

(continued)

Employee turnover rate in the Reporting Period
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e @
B1. EMRHTHR @

WREHMESRALLE

2025 2024
—E_REF ZEZTOE
Employee total turnover rate BEMEMRAKLEE 84%? 30%2
By age group R E AR B
Age below 30 305 AT 400%? 45%3
Age 30-50 30ZE508% 125%3 27 %8
Age over 50 5058 A & 14%3 18%°
By gender %R &) D
Male B 89%:3 32%°
Female gegis 10%2 27%3
By region e 8o
Hong Kong 548 10%? 15%3
The PRC s - 46%°

Note 2: Employee total turnover rate = Total number of employees leaving
employment during the year/Total number of employees as of 31 March
2025100%.

Note 3: Employee turnover rate by category = Total number of employees leaving
employment during the year by category/Total number of employees as of
31 March 2025 by category*100%.

Miste | BEMARALE=FNBEHETHY 8E
TERCAFZA=+—HRETHEH100%-

B1523 ¢ REER B DB E MK L R=IL BRI B DY
FENBEBETRAY HE_ZT_RAF=A8
=+—BZEEDHE T4E100%°
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RIR - HERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)
B2. Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment. Therefore, the Group has adopted an occupational
health and safety system in accordance with relevant occupational
health and safety laws, rules and regulations. It is managed by the
safety department for the benefit of employees and subcontractors’
employees. In order to recognise potential risk in daily operations,
the Group conducts regular risk assessments to provide employees
with a safe and healthy working environment.

With effect from March 2015, the Group’s occupational health and
safety has been implemented in compliance with the requirements
of OHSAS18001:2007 international standards.

The Group strictly adheres to corresponding measures for extreme
weather conditions in accordance with the Guide on Safety at Work
in Times of Inclement Weather and the Code of Practice in Times
of Typhoons and Rainstorms issued by the Labour Department, as
well as the Guidelines on Site Safety Measures for Working in Hot
Weather issued by the Construction Industry Council to ensure the
safety of employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety-related laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance in Hong Kong, the “Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China,” the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China,” and the “Law on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of China” in the
PRC that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Every case of injury (if any) must be reported to the Group and
assessed individually under the internal guideline procedures set.
The Group is delighted to report that the rate of accidents and
injuries during the Reporting Period was exceptionally low with zero
fatal accidents, similar to the previous financial year.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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IR HERERERS

SOCIAL (continued) @

B2. Health and Safety (continued) B2. BEREZZE (@

Health and safety key performance indicators (Employee)

REAZZHBEYIER (BS)

2025 2024 2023
—EhHE —ZTmEF 2=
Number of work injuries THEAH 3 0 3
Rate of work injury (per thousand THEX (BTRES) 3.26 N/A 2.8
employees) TEA
Number of loss days due to EATHEBERITIEEH 92 894 7134

work injuries

Note 4: The number of loss days due to work injuries in FY2025 and FY2024 is

due to the work injuries that occurred in previous periods.

Safety Management

The Group has developed policies for safety and health
management, and formulated specific work guidelines according
to various scopes and procedures of construction to guarantee the
safety and health of all employees, sub-contractors and the affected
persons.

The Group has established a corporate safety management
committee chaired by the Directors to formulate safety policies
and to supervise its implementation. Top and senior management
are also obliged to attend safety conferences to discuss the safety
policies.

The Group’s safety officer is responsible for setting up safety plans
for workers before carrying out their duties at construction sites,
inspecting machines and equipment to ensure they are safe to
be used. The Group also conducts regular safety walks in order
to maintain a safe working environment and site tidiness, handles
safety incidents and keeps safety records properly.

The Group also arranges regular internal safety audits. For
example, the Group provides equipment that complies with safety
requirements. The Group also monitors and supervises compliance
with health and safety systems to ensure compliance with statutory
and contractual requirements. Appropriate enhancement to the
existing system are also considered and implemented if necessary.

Mata: _S_HBMER_S_NEERTIHIER
TFHERER TR BEEENTE-

ZEER

FEECHELERBREERER LR
BB T EERIEFHEARNIIF
B URBEREE - DHBARREE
ABNZEKER-

FEBRUGELZE2EEZEE HEF

BEEE UEEFHEXEHRLEEH
Eiff-sREFREEAEERB2MNZE
GEUGTHmARZEER

FEENZEETEEEAERTRERET
BEAAETREZEE BEREK
RELUERELZ2EH F~EBTERE
TZERE UEFZERBZEN TR
B RETEERREERFRECH

rEBTEMLHANTZ2EZ AW
FERRENEZERENRBE -FEEH
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RIR - HERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)
B2. Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Training

The Group provides regular safety training to the staff, including but
not limited to:

Providing appropriate safety training and instructions for the use of
new production methods and equipment;

Providing safety and health training, which covers the Group’s
safety and health policy, organisational structure for construction
site safety, safety code of conduct, engineering characteristics
and potential risks, emergency response procedures and other
relevant guidelines on safety management to all new employees at
construction sites; and

Undertaking safety hazard clearance, emergency drills, safety
advocacy and other related activities on the construction sites.

Employee Health Management

The Group offers comprehensive healthcare coverage for all
employees such as health benefits. The Group also organises work-
life balancing activities for employees, implements green projects
at the office and carries out other activities to promote healthy
living practices. Health and safety communications are provided to
employees to present relevant information and raise awareness of
occupational health and safety matters.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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e @
B3. BRRILHI

SOCIAL (continued)

B3. Development and Training

The Group believes that fostering and retaining talent is a core
part of ensuring sustainable development and strengthening its
competitiveness and regards staff as a strategic partner. Therefore,
the Group strives to provide support for employees’ career
development and personal value enhancement through systematic
training programmes.

Training and Development Policies

In order to improve employees’ level of skills and knowledge and
maximise their potentials, the Group has organised workshops,
seminars and training programmes for employees covering various
aspects. Employees are also encouraged to enrol in external
study opportunities and job-related courses to enrich themselves
through acquiring higher professional skills and qualifications.
Training courses and seminars designated by the Company are fully
sponsored. Employees are also supported by granting special fully-
paid leave for training.

Training Management

The Group has developed relevant policies to control training-
related procedures and ensure the effectiveness of the training
program. Management develops a training plan based on
requirements from various departments and employees, and
grants special technical employees the necessary training to
acquire relevant technical licences. Management examines the
effectiveness of training programs and provides improvement
plans. The facilitators ought to acquire the required qualifications in
delivering the training, for example, understanding the knowledge
and procedures of the operating sectors, and related laws,
regulations and standards.

FEERR BERBRBAS HERAE
BEERRRESRFNNZOBD  LFE
IRAHBESEBMH -EHIL ZEEHK
ZBERGNEIF B R EENBEEER
R EABER -
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RIR - HERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)

B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training Programmes

The Group provides adequate training to employees on quality,
environmental regulations, and occupational safety to enhance
employees’ awareness, skills, and knowledge.

New employees shall undergo an orientation by the various
department heads to ensure they are familiar with the management
system for quality, environmental, health, and safety issues:

- Consequences of their work activities on workplace safety
and health including identifiable hazards and possible
accidents/incidents;

- Importance of conforming to the site staff manual (quality,
environmental, health, and safety) to prevent potential
consequences including accidents or incidents due to
deviation from specific procedures such as safe work
procedures; and

- On-the-job training under the guidance of senior staff for a
period to be decided by the respective department heads will
be provided for the new employees.

Furthermore, the Group provides various forms of training, not only
internal training, but also specialised special courses to equip staff
with professional skills and abilities to cater for the actual needs
of different departments and individuals. Safety induction course,
risk assessment and safe work procedure briefing are included in
internal training. External courses include occupational first aid,
safety and health management and equipment operation courses
etc. Course contents include 1ISO14001, ISO9001 trainings,
construction laws and good industry practices, etc.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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SOCIAL (continued)

B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training and Development Key Performance Indicators in

Hong Kong (Employee)
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B3. BERKE @

RERE R ERARERIER (BES)

2025 2024
Percentage Overall Overall
of employees percentage percentage
Managerial receiving  of employees  of employees
level Supervisory General training by receiving receiving
Trained staff or above® staff® staff® gender® training® training
HLRIEIS ZZCZEE ZECME
S HEES = Zilfgg
FHET PUEART  IEAR  —RET BAT  BEEALT  EEEN
Ma}le 14% 14% 14% 43% 15% 149%
B
Female = 7% 50% 57%
Eeqid
Overall 14% 21% 64% 100%
2he

Note 5: Percentage of employees trained in relevant categories = Employees in
the category who participated in training/Employees who took part in

training x 100

Note 6: Percentage of employees trained = Employees who participated in

hiats : ARERZ RS B2 =55 A2 miEl
BREAZ 2MEIREAE X100

Hizte - ZHlREB D=2 MBIMEEANE RBE

training/Number of employees x 100 AEX100
2025 2024
Average Overall Overall
Managerial training average average
level or Supervisory General hours by training training
Average training hours above’ staff’ staff’ gender’ hour® hour
BRI S ZTCRE b a1 3
T R BRTY BRETY
TS FULAE TEANE —®RET ZHlEs g C 53 Tl
Male 0.1 hours 7.49 hours 0.62 hours 1.48 hours 187 hours 1.4 hours
L 0.1/0B 7 AV \Fy 0.62/)\B§ 1.48/1\B¥ 1 87N 14 1B
Female - hours 1.25 hours 3.43 hours 2.87 hours ‘ ; e
geq i - 1.25/)\B 3431\ 287N
Overall 0.8 hours 6.35 hours 1.49 hours 1.87
2 0.8\ 6.35/\F 1.49/\B 1.87

Note 7: Overall average training hour = Total number of training hours of the

category/Number of employees in category

Note 8: Average training hours per employee = Total number of training hours/
Total number of employees
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RIR - HERERRS

SOCIAL (continued)

B4.

BS.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

A set of procedures has been established to prevent the
employment of child labour or forced labour through carefully
reviewing the personal information of job candidates and clearly
explaining the employment conditions to them. If violations
are involved, the Group will take necessary actions, including
termination of contracts and reporting to authorities, to ensure
compliance with labour laws and regulations.

The Group is well aware of the Group’s responsibility of monitoring
the compliance of sub-contractors in their employment of
construction workers. The Group has assigned an officer
responsible for labour relations on each site to check the identities
of workers through an electronic access control system to ensure
that each worker meets the statutory requirements for on-site
construction.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws
and regulations (i.e. Employment of Children Regulations, The
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Employment
Ordinance, etc.) in Hong Kong that would have a significant impact
on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

The Group comprehends the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and social
risks. The Group is aware of the environmental and social practices
of the suppliers/sub-contractors, and tries to engage suppliers/sub-
contractors with responsible acts to the society in view of green
supply chain management.
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SOCIAL (continued) @

B5. Supply Chain Management (continued) B5. {HFEHEEE (&)

Supply Chain Management Structure

In order to ensure that the Group suppliers and sub-contractors
have met clients’ requirements regarding quality, environmental
and safety standards, the Group formulated standard and stringent
procedures in selecting suppliers and sub-contractors. The Group’s
procurement manager maintains an approved list of suppliers and
subcontractors. Assessments are conducted for suppliers and sub-
contractors at least on an annual basis by contract managers and
project managers. Regular meetings are held with sub-contractors
to introduce and remind them to meet all necessary requirements.
Materials purchased from suppliers and works undertaken by
subcontractors are checked and monitored on a regularly basis.
Suppliers or sub-contractors may be suspended or removed from
the approved list if they have failed to fulfil the Group’s standards.

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors

The Group works closely with its contractors and suppliers who
are committed to high quality, environmental, health and safety
standards. The Group strives to ensure suppliers and sub-
contractors conform to the quality, environmental, occupational
health and safety requirements of the Company. In controlling the
purchasing system, potential suppliers and subcontractors who can
meet the qualification requirements to supply goods and services
are identified by quantity surveyors or purchasers. The suppliers
or subcontractors should at least have a certified quality and
environmental, health and safety system (e.g. ISO9001, 1ISO14001,
OHSAS18001, etc.). An approved qualified supplier and sub-
contractor list is maintained. The Group would conduct an annual
review of the performance of suppliers and sub-contractors.
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HE @
B5. HEHEEIE (48)

SOCIAL (continued)

B5. Supply Chain Management (continued)

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/
Sub-contractors (continued)

Suppliers’ and sub-contractors’ other environmental and social
performances are also considered as selection criteria for
establishing long-term relationships. Suppliers and sub-contractors
must not breach any relevant environmental and labour laws in
Hong Kong. The Group may terminate relationships with suppliers
and sub-contractors for any substantial breach of laws and
regulations. The Group scrutinises suppliers’ and sub-contractors’
performance through regular on-site inspections, and the Group is
willing to provide guidance on improving their current practices.

Fair and Open Procurement

The Group has also established rules to ensure suppliers and sub-
contractors could participate in competitions in an open and fair
way. The Group must not have differentiated or discriminatory
treatment on certain suppliers and sub-contractors; the Group
would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds of business bribery; and
employees or personnel having any interest relationship with the
supplier or sub-contractors should not be involved in the related
business activity.

Number of critical suppliers cooperated with the Group
during the Reporting Period
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B6.1. (RAE A A M R BB ALRE

SOCIAL (continued)
B6.1.Protection of Intellectual Property Right

And Consumer Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of protecting intellectual
property rights and consumer privacy. Proper licences for software
and information are obtained to use in its business operations.

Meanwhile, the Group handles all information provided by clients,
employees and business partners in accordance with non-
disclosure agreement, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and
related laws and regulations to ensure those information is under
proper protection.

B6.2.Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standards for projects is
of utmost important for the sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group believes that completing works that meet or exceed the
employer’s requirements is crucial not only for building safety, but
also for job reference and future business opportunities. To ensure
the delivery of high quality services and sustainable projects to
customers, the construction process of the projects is controlled
and monitored regularly. The Group has strictly complied with
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong.

During the reporting period, due to the business nature of the
Group, there were no recalls concerning the provision and use of
products for safety and health reasons within the Group. Besides,
there were no substantiated complaints received relating to the
provision and use of products and services that have a significant
impact on the Group’s operations.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B6.2.Product Responsibility (continued)

Quality Management

The Group has established a formal quality management system
in accordance with the requirements of ISO 9001:2008, OHSAS
18001:2007 and ISO 14001:2004 to develop a sustainable
performance oriented culture to pursue continuous improvement
on quality rather than adopting a short-term and project based
approach. Process control procedures have also been established
to ensure that the works meet the contractual specification and the
environmental, health and safety requirements. To pursue further
improvement, the Group’s Quality Management System is reviewed
at least annually by the management.

To ensure the Group’s works meet the required standards, the
Group normally assigns a responsible officer on a full-time basis
at each of the construction sites to monitor the quality of works
done by our own staff at the front line and our sub-contractors
(as the case may be). The project manager, who regularly visits
construction sites, is accountable for monitoring work quality,
progress, and ensuring works are completed on schedule.
Furthermore, weekly meetings are held by the project team with our
management to monitor each of the projects’ progress and discuss
identified issues. The Group’s management monitors closely the
progress of each of the projects to ensure the works:

- are met with the clients’ requirements;

- are completed within the contractual timeframe and budget
allocated; and

- are complied with all relevant codes and regulations
applicable to the works.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B6.2.Product Responsibility (continued)

Business Ethics

The tendering process must be counduced in a fair manner
to protect the interests of the Group and clients. Employees
responsible for tendering must comply with the Competition
Ordinance by refraining from exchanging or communicating any
sensitive information with competitors, participating in price fixing,
imposing restrictions on customers and abusing the dominant
market position. Relevant requirements on confidentiality and
compliance with Competition Ordinance have also been set out in
the Group’s Code of Conduct.

Customer Service

The Group cares about clients’ feedback and their satisfaction
with the Group’s performances. In order to provide good quality of
service, the Group strives to understand the needs of customers.
The Group also strives to provide the best services in supporting
customers. The Customer Service Officer offers the necessary
assistance to customers on the application of services with their
professional expertise.

The Quality Department continues to send official customer
satisfaction surveys to the Group’s clients for reviewing our
performances. The review covered the Group’s tendering and
quantity surveying, project management, material and resources
control, workmanship, environment, safety and security
performances, etc. Through regular engagement with clients,
the project manager and engineer will gather information on their

perception of the services.

The Group also handles complaints from clients by amending
the non-conformity within targeted timeframe, by complying with
statutory regulations, clients’ requirements and internal rules and
policies.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B6.2.Product Responsibility (continued)

B7.

Customer Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to ensuring all confidential or special
information provided by clients, employees and business associates
remains strictly confidential. The Group has entered into confidential
agreements with clients and sub-contractors. Without their
authorisation, such information shall not be disclosed to any third
party or made available to the public.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group, concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress.

Anti-Corruption

The Group does not tolerate any corruption, fraud and all other
behaviours violating work ethics. The Group values and upholds
integrity, honesty and fairness in the conducts of its business.

Internal Control

The Group has established a formal Code of Conduct to help
to define appropriate methods in handling conflict of interests,
accepting advantages, leakage of confidential information, etc. to
comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other relevant
laws and regulations. All employees should decline an offer of
an advantage if acceptance of it could affect their objectivity in
conducting the Group’s business. Employees will be subjected to
disciplinary actions if they are found violating the Code of Conduct
after investigation. Disciplinary actions include verbal or written
warnings, demotion and dismissal, and the case may be reported
to law-enforcement authorities for possible prosecution, depending
on the situation.

To further mitigate business frauds, the Group appoints a
professional consulting firm to evaluate the Group’s internal control
effectiveness, detecting potential deficiencies, and identifying areas
of improvement. An Internal Audit Report is distributed to the Group
for remediation.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B7. Anti-Corruption (continued)

Whistleblowing Policy

In order to further achieve and maintain the highest standards of
openness, probity and accountability, the Group has implemented a
whistleblowing policy. This policy allows all employees of the Group
as well as independent third parties (e.g. clients, suppliers, sub-
contractors, creditors and debtors) who deal with any employees
to report any possible improprieties, misconducts, malpractices
or irregularities in matters of financial reporting, internal control or
other matters to the Audit Committee anonymously. Reports and
complaints received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner.
Such policy also aims to protect whistleblowers from unfair
dismissal, victimisation and unwarranted disciplinary actions. Any
person who is found to have victimised or retaliated against those
who have raised concerns under this policy will be subjected to
disciplinary sanctions.

Anti-Corruption Training

During the Reporting Period, 12 staffs and 2 directors have
participated in the training sessions which covered the topics such
as code of conduct, whistleblowing, anti-bribery and corruption
organised by the Legal Compliance and Ethics Center. In the future,
the Group would keep looking for the opportunity to host training to
further enhance employees’ awareness on anti-corruption.

During the reporting period, the Group did not have any litigation
involving allegations of corruption against the Group nor its
employees. The Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations regarding anti-corruption and money laundering
including but not limited to the “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance”,
the “Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorist Finance
Ordinance” in Hong Kong and the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People’s Republic of China” that would have a significant impact
on the Group.
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SOCIAL (continued)
B8. Community Investment

The Group is committed to emboldening and supporting the public
through social participation and contribution as part of its strategic
development, and to nurture the corporate culture and practices
of corporate citizenship in the daily work life throughout the Group.
The Group focuses on inspiring employees towards social welfare
concerns. The Group embraces the human capital into the social
management strategies to sustain the Group’s corporate social
responsibility as a part of the strategic development of the Group.

Maintaining a Good Relationship with Our Neighbours

The Group understands that any construction project will have an
impact on the surrounding environment and the lives of nearby
communities. The Group cares about the communities adjacent
to its projects. Therefore, the Group aims to reduce the impact
of the construction process on the surrounding communities by
carrying out environmental management on its sites. Public relations
management projects are also carried out on the Group’s sites by
communicating with the residents, businesses and passers-by near
projects to maintain a harmonious relationship with neighbours.
A list of the site staff and their contact details are posted on the
hoarding panels of the Group’s sites to facilitate stakeholders’ direct
contact with the site staff in handling inquiries and complaints in a
timely manner.

Community Participation

The Group participates in community activities, such as donations,
volunteering services, sponsorships, etc. With the active
participation in community events to help the needy. The Group
also regularly communicates with local charities to understand the
community’s needs. The Group believes it helps to connect the
Group with the local community, and maintain a mutually beneficial
relationship to the society as a whole.

Raising Awareness of Employees

The Group’s employees are encouraged to donate to recognised
charitable institutions in order to help grass-roots community or
those in need, so that they can gain education and care. The Group
also encourages employees to suggest areas of contribution based
on their personal experiences in the community.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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(W]
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IRIBRIAIGIE
INDICATORS
Aspect A1: Emissions
A1EE : B
Performance indicator 2025 Data 2024 Data HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
BMIER “EZRE —ZT e BB
g By RRE-HER
ERmERESI
AR EISIR
Emissions Total NOx emissions (kg) 8.15 11.62 KPI'A1.1
e HRATLYMNOHERE (F7) RARAEN
S1RA1A
Total PM emissions (kg) 0.08 0.05 KPI A1.1
mEBRAPMEERE (F5e) RS A
FEIZA1 A
Total SOx emissions (kg) 0.72 1.04 KPI'A1.1
HWIREEY(SONHE 2 (F72) RASR AN
1EIEAT 1
Total GHG emissions (tonnes) 118.74 212.09 KPI A1.2
RERBRAEIRE (W) RS A
512A1.2
Intensity of GHG emissions per project 14.84 26.51 KPI A1.2
(tonnes) RESRERN
SEEENREREBHNZE (W) FE1ZA1.2
Non-Hazardous waste Inert C&D waste (tonnes) 111,166 72,649 KPI A1.3
mEREY IEE IR (NE) RASRAE N
FE12A1.3
Intensity of inert C&D waste per project 13,895.75 9,081.13 KPI A1.3
(tonnes) RARRAER
SREBEENEEIREENEE (M) $512A1.3
Non-inert C&D waste (tonnes) 38,952 543 KPI A1.3
FEMEMEIRIEEEY) (ME) RASR AN
&12A1.3
Intensity of non-inert C&D waste per 4,868.94 67.87 KPI'A1.3
project (tonnes) RABRAAR
SEEBENIEEEIRREYEE (M) F51ZA1.3
Mixed C&D waste (tonnes) 62 31 KPI'A1.3
TREFEREY) (ME) RS AN
512A1.3
Intensity of mixed C&D waste per 7.75 3.88 KPI A1.3
project (tonnes) RERER
SREEBEENESIREENEE (M) 1512A1.3

BrFl 241 pG INT
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS (continued)

Aspect A2: Use of resources

A2fEE : BiRER

Performance indicator

BRIETR

Electricity

Bh

NRF
FEB LR

Water
7K

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Total electricity consumption (kKWh)
RIEBS (TRE)

Intensity of electricity consumption
per project (kWh)
SREEBEENEBEERE (TR

Total NRF consumption (kWh)
RIEBEMRLHFESE (TRE)

Intensity of NRF consumption per
project (KWh)

SREEBEENFEFEBEMEHEERE
(FEB)

Total water consumption (cubic
metres)

“WEKkE QLHR

Intensity of water consumption per
project (cubic metres)

FEBEENAKERE QLHK)

IRIRRIIEIR (@

2025 Data

—E_RF
Big

104,177

13,022.13

54,329

6,791.15

31,327

3,915.88

2024 Data

—ZmFE
g7

326,240

40,780

35,306

4,413.25

33,259

4,157.38

HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
BB
RIE-#ERK
ERRERESI
AR EIISIR
KPI A2.1
RESRERN
FE1RA2.1

KPI A2.1
FEIEA2.1

KPI A2.1
FE1EA2.1
KPI A2.1
RASRAE W
FE1RA2.1

KPI A2.2
kg
E1RA2.2
KPI A2.2
ke
51RA2.2



SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Aspect B1: Employment
B1EH : E&

Performance indicator

MIETR

Number of employees as at
31 March
R=A=+—HEEA¥

Employee turnover rate

BERKLLER

Gender:
IR

— Male

- 5%

— Female

-

Age
BRER
— Below 30 years old
- 30 AT
— Between 30 to 50 years old
- 30E50%
— Over 50 years old
- 508 A £

Region

&
- HK
_EH
—The PRC
-

Gender
Ezdkill

- Male (%)

- BM(%)

— Female (%)

- 1% (%)

Age
B
— Below 30 years old (%)
— 30k LA ™ (%)
— Between 30 to 50 years old (%)
- 30E505%(%)
— Qver 50 years old (%)
- 507% LA _E(%)

Region

&
- HK (%)
- EE(%)
—The PRC (%)
— FHE(%)

Ratio of employee turnover to total
number of employees

BERRABIGREBELLR(%)
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=3 =¥ i
HEERIER

2025 Data 2024 Data Stock

Exchange

ESG

Reporting

Guide KPI

ZEZRE ZEYE BB

i #iE  RIEHER

ARSI

RRSRAE IR

66 69 KPI B1.1

RARIE ISR

26 37 B1.1

KPI B1.1

RARAE N IEIR

6 29 B1.1
44 60
42 17

KPI B1.1

RARE ISR

92 54 B1.1
= 52

89 32 KPI B1.2

RASRAE ISR

10 27 B1.2

KPI B1.2

RARAE ISR

400 45 B1.2
125 27
14 18

10 15 KPI B1.2

RASRAE ISR

= 46 B1.2

84 30 KPI B1.2

RASRAE ISR

B1.2

BR ERERERAT
“EREER
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

(continued)

Aspect B2: Health and safety

B2/EMH : REEHEZE

Performance indicator

ISR

Number of work injuries (per person)

ITH#E BA)

Rate of work injury (per thousand employees)

IEX (BTHES

Number of loss days due to work injuries

AILGEEIIERH

Aspect B3: Development and training

B3fEM : % RERIE:

Performance indicator

EMIETR

Percentage of employees
trained

RillEEB DL

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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2025 Data
—ZhHE
BiE
3
3.26
92
Gender
Eicgiill
— Male (%)
- B 1% (%)
— Female (%)
- 2% (%)
Employee category
B E%87(%)
— Managers or above (%)
— #R3E5 L (%)

— Supervisors staff (%)
-FEBETI(%)

— General staff (%)

- —RET(%)

Overall (%)
L (%)

HEEBIER @

2024 Data

—ZEUFE

g

N/A

89

2025 Data

—EERE
g

43

57

14
21

64

15

2023 Data

T =F

267

2.8

713

2024 Data

—EME
5

33

67

13
13

74

14

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B FRIRIR
HERER
HREIESIRRE
BMIER

KPI B2.1
RASRAEMIEIR
B2.1

KPI B2.1
RSB ARIE 1R
B2.1

KPI B2.1
RSB ARIE 1R
B2.1

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
Hﬁ"“‘FﬁIEiﬁ .
?iﬁ& B ll:l
HREISS| R
BXMIER

KPI B3.1
R SRR XI5 1R
B3.1

KPI B3.1
RS AR ISR
B3.1
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS {1 E4&XISHE @)
(continued)

Aspect B3: Development and training

B3EME : & REKRIE

Performance indicator 2025 Data 2024 Data Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
BMIER ZEREF “EME BRFRIRIR
B B HERER
HREIESIRRE
BMIER
Average training hours Gender
completed per employee R
BREEFYIETHRZIEFH — Male (hours) 1.48 0.4 KPI B3.2
- B4 () RS EWNISIR
B3.2
— Female (hours) 2.87 3.3
- 2 (B
Employee category KPI B3.2
% IRE5E5! RAR G IISIR
— Managers or above (hours) 0.8 0.4 B3.2
- RIBI L E UNE)
— Supervisors staff (hours) 6.35 0.5
-EFEBETI (MK
— General staff (hours) 1.49 2.6
-—RET (N
Overall (hours) 1.87 1.4
BEE (M)

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
B5/EE : HFEHEIE

Performance indicator 2025 Data 2024 Data Stock
Exchange

ESG

Reporting

Guide KPI

BMIER —E"hE ZETOFE BARARIRE
6 B HERER

HREISS| R

BXMIER

Number of critical suppliers Hong Kong 10 10 KPI B5.1
EEHEEHE a5 RS ENISIR
B5.1

B B ERERAS
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF

HONG KONG LIMITED BF5|

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE -E@m-

— AR B R R SR AE RIS 1R
Aspect A1: Emissions
AEE : B

General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI A1.1

R SR A NG IRAT A

KPI A1.2

RSB RIEIRAL.2

KPI A1.3

RIS IEIRA1.3

KPI A1.4

IR IEIEIRA1.4
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Description

P

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

ERERRERBEN MK RTINS - AER
BEBEVNELSZN

(@ KK

(o) BETFHBETABEALENEREZERERG
&K} o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PR ELE RARRE R B -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

B &EN) RisREE EE2) REREHKRE (X
WESTE) & (MNER) BE WMUSES B 8ER M5t
) e

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

FRE4BSEEWRE UEETE) &k QB R) ZE WX
FES8EM SERME) o

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FrEEEEZSEEYEE UEEE) &k QIER) BE @)
SESEN BEXRMNFE) o

Section/Declaration

58 BH

Environmental Protection

RIBRE

Environmental Protection — A1.
Emission and waste — Exhaust
Gas Emissions

IRIRIREE - A1 BRI e BEY) -

BE R BER

Environmental Protection —

A1. Emission and waste -

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”)

Emissions

IRIBIRE - A1LBERY S R —

AERE (TEEREE) BER

Environmental Protection — A1.
Emission and waste — Hazardous
wastes

IRIBIRE - A1LERY) S BEY) —
BEEY

Environmental Protection — A1.
Emission and waste — Waste
Disposal and Management
IRIRIREE - A1LEERY) S R —
BEMEE MBI



THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued)

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHR -E@m-

— IR B R R SR AR SR AR
KPI A1.5

RS AE RIS 1RA1.5

KPI A1.6

B IEIEIRA1.6

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Description

g
Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

BT PR E B R R B ERIELER
o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes

IRFTERENBY

are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

HInEEEEREEEEYNG L ki
BE B 1R K 7= B L BARPR RNV 5 BR o

HPRET ILAYIRL

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

A2EHE : ERER

General Disclosure

—RRRER

KPI' A2.1

R IR A IR IZA2.1

KPI A2.2

A SR A R HE1RA2.2

KPI'A2.3

R R AE W IEIZA2.3

KPI'A2.4

R IR AE NI IZA2.4

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BMERER (BIEER  KREMEME) BB -
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (KWh in’000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

RS DM ER R, SERER WE RI0h BFEE
UTFETEESFE MEE MUSESEM §IER%
Mist &) o

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BIEKEREZE MUSEEEM BERMEHH) °

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them

P LA RE AN & B R R AERE LB IR
HR Y2 B3

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

H I SREGE A ACR LRl B AIEIRE > LURPRET LRI A K
Wi B IR R A ERE L BIRFTEREXAY 5 BR

IR HERERERS

Section/Declaration

=885

Environmental Protection —

A1. Emission and waste —
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”)
Emissions

IR IREE - A1LBERY) ) EEY) —
RERE (CRERER) PR
Environmental Protection — A1.
Emission and waste — Waste
Disposal and Management

RIGRE - A1BERY R BEY) —
BV B e B 1R

Environmental Protection — A2.
Use of Resources

IRIBMRE - A2 BRI
Environmental Protection — A2.
Use of Resources — Energy
Efficiency
IRIBRE -
EVES

A2.§/}/_\§Fuﬁﬁ_ﬁb/

Environmental Protection —

A2. Use of Resources — Water
Efficiency Management
IRIGRE - A2 B RAA—FK
WamBIE

Environmental Protection —

A2. Use of Resources-Energy
Efficiency

IRIFRE - A2 ERA A
ES

Environmental Protection —

—BER

A2. Use of Resources — Water
Efficiency Management
BRIBRE - A2 ERMA—AK
WmEE

BN EEIERARAT
“EREFR
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RIR - HERERRS

INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued)

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHR -E@m-

— AR IR R K R SR AR IR AR
KPI A2.5

RSB RIS 1RA2.5

Description

it

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

HmPTAEEMENES CUIEStHE) Kk WER) 84
EBfhE-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

ASEE : IRIERRAER

General Disclosure

— BT
KPI'A3.1

R SR B RIS 1RAS 1

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI A4.1

R SR IE RIS 1RAL1

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report
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Policies on inimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

BIREITABRERRAEREMEALENHER -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.

B EEHHIRRE R RARERNEAXERBRNE
BEEBEENTH -

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

AR EH SR EEHBETAELERENEARRE
T EENEER -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,
and the actions taken to manage them.

BB R APIEEHET AELERENEARRIEERS
B MEHRTE

BR3¢

Section/Declaration

X0y Lz

Environmental Protection — A2.
Use of Resources — Packaging
material

IRIGRE - A2 BRA B — B8
it

Environmental Protection — A3.
The Environment and Natural
Resources

IRIBRE - ASIRIERBRER
Environmental Protection —

The Environment and Natural
Resources
BRRERE-RIERBEARER

Environmental Protection — A4.
Climate Change

IRIBMRAE - M. RIEEE

Environmental Protection — A4.
Climate Change

RIGRE - M RIRZE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued)

IR HERERERS

&
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF Bt @ REQREIESIA
§

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description

TEHR -E@m-

—RIRERARENIEE

Aspect B1: Employment

B1EME : B

General Disclosure Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare

— AR B BERFIN AR BREREA TN BRI 5%
B Znlb s RIERUREMEFBRENN
@ XK
() BTFHETABBAXENERIEREKRRO
K&k} o

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full-or part-time), age group and geographical region.

RASRAE IS 1RB1 1 MR RIEEE N2 B TR  FiER Rt E 5
BB -

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

RASRAE RIS 1RB1.2 R Fhe AR Rt @ B DRV EERREE R o

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

B2EE : REEER

General Disclosure Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that

have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards

— ARk BRRHZ2THRRERREREEBRRBELR/EN :
(@ BXR; &
() BTFHETABEAZENEREEARRD
BBk o

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each

of the past three years including the reporting year.

R SR B RUHE1RB2.1 BE=-F OEERFE) SFRTTHROABKRLE.

Section/Declaration

-y L

Social — B1. Employment and
labour practices

HE-BILERRFELER

Social — B1. Employment and
labour practices
HE-BlLEBRSIER
Social — B1. Employment and

labour practices
HE-BlLERREILER

Social - B2. Health and Safety

HE-B2RERZE

Social — B2. Health and Safety

HE-B2EEREZE

BR ERERERAT
“EREER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT éﬂiﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁa‘a%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ’&ﬁl R
5

INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF

HONG KONG LIMITED (continued) 23| (

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description

TEHR -E@m-

—RIRBERARENIEE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

RASEAE W5 1RB2.2 RITEERTIEHE-

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

RASRAE RIS 1RB2.3 70 PR ER AR RO 8 S5 (R R B 22 2 38 il > LU ABRE 1T ) B
BH*e

Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3[EM : &REKRiE

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

— R EE BRR AR EE1T TR S A0 3B K i AE B EER o f it
BEHIES

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

A SR AB IS 1EB3.1 BEREERET ESREEE -PREER 9N
= =

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

RSB RIS 1EB3.2 B REEERB D §HEE MR N T
2o

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
B4/EMH : & TR
General Disclosure Information on:
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour

—RiREE BREPH IEE T a5 M55 ThY ¢
@ B R
() BFHETABEAZENERERRRM
BB o

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour.
R AN IGIEB4.1 WS s R B IS LU R E T Reaamlss T o

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report

Section/Declaration

X0y Lz

Social - B2. Health and Safety
HE-BRERER

Social — B2. Health and Safety

HE-BRERZE

Social - B3. Development and
Training
18 - B3. ERE&IE

Social - B3. Development and
Training

& - B3. HERE

Social — B3. Development and
Training
& - B3. ERRIEI

Social — B4. Labour Standards

HEg-BAGTRE

Social — B4. Labour Standards
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IR HERERERS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT %3
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF i&-%t
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued) BFE5

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHR -E@m-

— IR B R R SR AR SR AR
KPI B4.2

RGN I51RB4.2

Description

g
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

R EIRE R B MR HRA RIS PRI R 2 BR o

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

B5/ZH - HAEEEIE
General Disclosure

— AR ER
KPI B5.1

Bl R A XI5 1EB5. 1
KPI B5.2

R SR AE X5 1RB5.2

KPI B5.3

B R AE R E1RB5.3

KPI B5.4

RSB WIEIEB5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.

BB HEENIRIR R g EREER

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

HHMES DHERHE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored

AR R EEAVER > mE T RIS AR HAE
EHE > URBARITRERF A

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

A BB RS EIRENIRIE Rt & RIRE
B> U BRI TR Be 8 7k o

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

M PROE R R IR L BIRRE R A RFBHER -
DU BRI T I BB 5 7% o

Section/Declaration

-y L

Social — B4. Labour Standards

18 -B4 BHITIRE

Social — B5. Supply Chain
Management

1 - B5. HERER
Social - B5. Supply Chain
Management

& - Bo. {HEEREIR
Social - B5. Supply Chain
Management

g - B5. HERERE

Social — B5. Supply Chain
Management

& - B5. HERERE

Social — B5. Supply Chain
Management

e -B5. HERSIE

BN EEIERARAT
“EREFR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERRS

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF  $ &
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued) REE| (

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHR -E@m-

— AR IR R K R SR AR IR AR

Description

Er:pu

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6fEH : EMEE
General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI B6.1

R IE R IE15B6.1

KPI B6.2

B RIS 515662

KPI B6.3

B RIS 515B6.3

KPI B6.4

R SR AE R F51%B6.4

KPI B6.5

R SR 4E 2 F51%B6.5

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

BRFFREERNRBNEREZ2 - BES

FREE UM AN

SRR AL

(& KK
(o) EFHBEITABEAFENEEELRG
BER o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
BESNBEXEREHAR 22 EREEIEAMER KRS
otkbe
Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.
BEBANERMRBNRFEE UREH T E-
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

HE B e S SRR A E RE B RABVIR B o

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

it B 28T B8 & EmEIWIEF

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Y B E B RHERE R AAPSER » U R BRI IT R B
Fike

Section/Declaration

-y L

B6.1 Protection of
Intellectual Property Right And

Social —

Consumer Privacy; B6.2 Product
Responsibility

8- Bo. 1RENBERKHE
EFLFE ;B6.2EMBET

B6.2. Product
Responsibility
HE-Be2EREMT

Social —

B6.2. Product
Responsibility

T E-Be2ERET

B6.1 Protection of
Intellectual Property Right And

Social —

Social —

Consumer Privacy
HE-BoIRENMEERHE
EFLBE
Social - B6.2. Product
Responsibility

T E-Bo2ERET

B6.1 Protection of

Intellectual Property Right And

Social —

Consumer Privacy
HE-BoREFBEEREE
EFLE



THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (continued)

Subject Areas,

Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TEHR -E@m-

— IR B R R SR AR SR AR
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
B7Em : R&S

General Disclosure

—RRRER

KPI B7 .1

R SR AE RIS 1RBT A1

KPI B7.2

BSR4 NI51RBT.2
KPI B7.3

B IEIE1RBT7 .3

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Description

Er:pus

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering

BRAPLLERRE ~ $13  BGFEROERE2RY

(@ ;K
b) WPHETAEEALENERARRA
By o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees

during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

RREMAHBTAREREERE L EBENESHL
EZHNBE RFLER

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
PR EE A T R BRI T U RABRA I TR B R 5k
Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

HirtmEERE TRMHNKRESE-

Aspect B8: Community Investment

B8EMH : HEIRE
General Disclosure

— R

KPI B8.1

BRI IE1RB8.1

KPI B8.2

B IE51RB8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
BREAUHEZSHERTREEMTHERZEMBMREERS
EEEEEAERNEABER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
BISMEE WHE BEEE B IER E#E X
£ B88) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

AR IHBFABBER W)

IR HERERERS

Section/Declaration

-y L

Social — B7. Anti-corruption

Social - B7. Anti-corruption

ttE-B7.R&ES
Social - B7. Anti-corruption

ttE-B7.R&ES
Social - B7. Anti-corruption

#HE-B7.R&ES

Social - B8. Community
Investment
#HE-BMtEEE
Social — B8. Community
Investment
#HE-BMtEEE
Social — B8. Community

Investment
HE-BHERE

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER
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Independent Auditor’s Report
i RVR 2 Gk

Deloitte

To the Shareholders of OKG Technology Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of OKG
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 151 to 267,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAS”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BB EE

Independent Auditor's Report
BWI % HEMRS

PR Est S

FRESFEERERMINEEHE  BHHE
MEAEPREU B REREAEENFR -ZF
FEDPREMBABERGEMHBRRRERRK
MEENERFRETRE MEAMIEHZEE
HEHBEBENER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANBAMABNARESFRETRE

Existence and rights and obligations of digital assets balances

HFEERFIIFEMN  BRRER

The Group’s digital assets portfolio for trading mainly
comprises cryptocurrencies and stablecoins. According to
the business model of the Group’s trading activities and
the characteristics of each of the relevant digital assets, the
Group’s digital assets are recognised either as inventories
measured at fair value less costs to sell of approximately
HK$379,844,000 or financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$37,732,000
on the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2025 as detailed in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements. These digital assets of the Group
are mainly held in the commingled wallets of the relevant
custodians through the digital assets trading platforms (the
“Platform”), which are regarded as service organisation of
the Group.

EEENNBYFEEAGTIECENEEBEMEBEEE-
Rz EEERZEHINEBEALRZEABFEEN
B BEEHFEENRGEMBRRARDAIES DR
NF{ERHE AT 2 R7F E#379,844,0008 T A
TEZEBERTENSMEELI7,732,0008 70 F158
N_Z_HF=R=T—HEEHBRERNE21- 8F
ENZEYFEENERUFEERS T (FTE)EE
EHRERSEANESRERN TaRts SEEN
AR TSI AE o

Our procedures in relation to the existence and rights and
obligations of the Group’s digital assets balances mainly
included:

Bz EEEARMBFEELRETM  EANREHH
BRIZEaiE:

° Understanding the key controls and segregation
of duties in the execution of these controls, in the
following areas:

TRELUT SRR R B SR IE R R BATIERI MBI E D T ¢

- recording of deposit, withdrawal, trading and
settlement transactions with counterparties in
the Platform; and
SERETENHFHETHNER B -5
KR&EE ;s &

- reconciliations of digital asset balances recorded
with the statement obtained from the Platform.
HFEEAGNHEKR LB TaEISENR
% o

BN B IER AR AR
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B BEmIRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BB EE

FIEEtEIR @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEFNANRRESFRETERE

Since these digital assets of the Group are mainly held in
the commingled wallets safe-kept by the relevant custodians
of the Platform, they are subject to higher risks of potential
misappropriation, unauthorised or loss of access to the
digital assets, resulting in heightened risks for existence and
rights and obligations.

mr EEEREYTFEEFEFNNTFAEMEE
RENEERET ALEFEERSHOWER - REEER
BATIEUEENR R (M MEFEE RN &
5 R o

Given the relevant risks involved in digital assets, we focus
on auditing the existence and rights and obligations of digital
assets and spent significant audit effort in determining the
nature and extent of the procedures to be performed and
conducting those procedures to address the risks.

BN HMFEEMSRNERER RHEENBFTEER
AE N RBEBNEZ LTEBERENEZOIUEE
HYERFTNITIEF RPTETHNZEREFNEEEEE -

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Obtaining the system and organisation control report
for service organisation issued by independent service
auditor from the major custodian of the Group’s digital
assets and performing the following procedures with
the assistance of our internal specialist:

#*t BEERHFEENTELEAEISHBE IR
BREBMEBEENRBASRRRAASZERS L
RETHMABERN B ARETUTRER

- evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of such auditor;

SHEZIZBETRIAE )~ T B R BN

- obtaining an understanding of the scope of
work of such auditor with respect to the design
and operating effectiveness of internal controls
of the service organisation to the extent relevant
to our audit; and
EHEFMNETEENEEN > 7% B
TERBEBREFINRT REFERES
ENTIEEE ; &

- evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness
of the work of such auditor, taking into
consideration of the nature, timing and extent of
testing undertaken, results and opinions formed
by such auditor to the extent relevant to our
audit.
B TIEN R DM RIGE N LE &
ZIZBEMFTET AR O M E RSB E
REFFEREEZARNRR

Circularising independent audit confirmation to major
custodian to confirm account balances at the year end
and matching the Group’s records of the digital assets
balances as at year end.
BEIIBFEIENE T IEAEAUEREREK
FPHEBITE BSERBEFRENHETEEMLRCRR
FEUCAD ©



OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 June 2024.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

Independent Auditor's Report
BWI % HEMRS
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B BEmIRS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B BEmIRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lee Wing Cheong, Wilfred (practising certificate
number: PO6770).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e HmRHMEEIN R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2025 2024
“E-HEF == e
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Jiok=3 FET FET
Continuing operations FEREET
Revenue W& 5 424,028 337,332
Cost of sales Y& A A (334,995) (271,126)
Gross profit EH B 89,033 66,206
Other income, gains and (losses), net B A~ WEm K (B518) J$%8 5 4,462 (902)
Administrative and other expenses THREMBES (108,292) (100,032)
Reversal of impairment losses ETREBERGNEEZRE
(impairment losses) on financial assets E51E 1[0 CRERIR) 3458
and contract assets, net 7 36 (7,841)
Operating loss KEEE (14,761) (42,569)
Finance costs BB AN 6 (1,785) (2,500)
Loss before income tax PRETSIRAIESE 7 (16,546) (45,069)
Income tax expenses s 10 (290) =
Loss for the year from continuing REFESEEB ZFN
operations 518 (16,836) (45,069)
Discontinued operation [EEJIR I £
Profit for the period from FEERIEEEER
discontinued operation Tyl 11 - 4,170
Loss for the year FREE (16,836) (40,899)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) Hith 2 &k, (BIx%)
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently B BJ§EE# HIEZE Em =~
to profit or loss: EHH
Exchange differences arising from MEBINERELT ZERE
translation of foreign operations %8 42 (112)
Reclassification of cumulative translation KIFEFMM B AR BEN
difference upon deregistration of DERTERER
subsidiaries (1,173) -
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FARHEHMEZEEE NRRIE
net of tax (1,131) (112)
Total comprehensive expense FAREALZLEEE
for the year (17,967) (41,011)

BN EEIERARAT
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

FEHREREMZEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

2025 2024
- k=S
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Vo= FAT FET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to AT #EE AEIEER
owners of the Company (&548) i#aF
— From continuing operations —REFESEET (15,750) (44,473)
— From discontinued operation — KRB BRI EER - 4,170
Loss for the year attributable to owners of A B BEA AEEER
the Company 518 (15,750) (40,303)
Loss for the year attributable to non-  JEIERREEELERNEIE
controlling interests
— From continuing operations —KREFESEER (1,086) (596)
(16,836) (40,899)
Total comprehensive expense LUTALTEGEZE
attributable to: Pz 4a%E :
Owners of the Company KRBHEB A (16,872) (40,213)
Non-controlling interests FEFERG S (1,095) (798)
(17,967) (41,011)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ TATEEAEGER
income attributable to owners of (BsR) /Wnza4a%E
the Company:
— From continuing operations —REFEREER (16,872) (44,383)
— From discontinued operation —RBBEARIEREER - 4,170
(16,872) (40,213)
HK cents #B{ll  HK cents 1l
Loss per share attributable AT EE ANEEER
to owners of the Company E518 12
From continuing and discontinued REFBRERBARIKEE
operations %
- Basic —E& (0.29) (0.75)
From continuing operations REFBREER
— Basic —&K (0.29) (0.83)

Details of dividends are disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SREMEIARR

As at 31 March 2025 RZE_-_HF=F=+—H

2025 2024
—E_REF —EmE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iokz3 FAET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BRE KRS 15 8,900 4,431
Right-of-use assets BRAEEE 16 5,676 1,949
Intangible assets mEEE 17 200 200
14,776 6,580
Current assets RENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E A E AR 19 68,467 52,339
Contract assets SHEE 20 38,718 45,957
Digital assets HFEE
— recognised as inventories measured —RBRABEATEFEN
at fair value less costs to sell FEREE A 21 379,844 1,094,542
— recognised as financial assets at fair —RBEATESA
value through profit or loss BalTMEE 21 37,732 28,539
Financial assets at fair value through profit R AT Est AR 2 S/l
or loss BE 22 17,370 19,336
Trust bank balance held on behalf of RERFFLIFHE ZE5TIRTT
customers AEER 23 247 24,047
Bank balances and cash IRITEGRKRIRE 23 123,191 61,954
665,569 1,326,714
Total assets BEELE 680,345 1,333,294
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves B K HEE
Share capital [N 24 26,853 26,853
Reserves B 122,364 138,832
Equity attributable to the owners of the FN/NSIEZ = DNy
Company 149,217 165,685
Non-controlling interests JEIERR R 400 1,899
Total equity RS 149,617 167,584
BRI EEERERAE

“EREFR

153



194

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SFAMBRRR

As at 31 March 2025 R-_ZE_-_HAE=HA=+—H

2025 2024
—E"RE —EUEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Jiok= FAET FET
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERHER
Lease liabilities HEaRs 16 2,078 108
Current liabilities B =N=l
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMET IR 26 116,935 112,630
Contract liabilities SHEE 20 1,639 1,304
Liabilities due to customers ENERaflE 27 247 24,047
Amounts due to former subsidiaries FERT AT B A B 8 28 10,654 16,942
Amount due to a related party &S — %A RE B 5 7B 28 4,287 18,585
Loan from a related party RE—REEB A ER 29 28,509 40,400
Digital assets borrowings from a fellow —ERRMBRATZ#F
subsidiary BEEMEBR 30 292,702 869,833
Loan from a shareholder KE—BREER 30 70,014 70,428
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 3,663 1,892
Current income tax liabilities BRERFTIS M AR - 9,541
528,650 1,165,602
Total liabilities =Nk 530,728 1,165,710
Total equity and liabilities EmkaEEE 680,345 1,333,294
Net current assets BRBEE 136,919 161,112
Total assets less current liabilities BEEEBRTHERE 151,695 167,692

The consolidated financial statements on pages 151 to 267 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June

2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

EIEBEE
Mr. Ren Yunan
Director

EBEF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AN

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

SARREEAER
Non-
Share Share Capital Merger  Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests equity
Fix
e R EE EXfiE Bt ERGHE 5 It L4 G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TERT TER TEr Thn TERT TER TEn TEx
Note 24) Note g) Note b)
(Hizto4) (Hita) ()
Balance at 1 April 2023 RZZ-=ENB-AMEH 26,853 239,372 7,922 1 1,176 (69,770) 205,554 3,041 208,595
Loss for the year EREE = = = - - w3039 4039 [95  (08%9)
Other comprehensive income/(oss) for ~ EREMRENE/ (H8)
the year . : - . % , %0 002) (112
Total comprehensive income/oss) FR2ENE/ (BB 28
forthe year - - - - % W33 (0213 78 @on)
Acquisition of non-controling interest WEINB AR ERRER
of a subsidiary - - - - - 344 344 (344) -
Balance at 31 March 2024 RZEZMEZA=+-BNER 2,853 29372 7922 1 1266 (109729 165685 1899 167,584
Balance at 1 April 2024 RIZZMENRE—HMER 26,853 239,372 1922 1 1,266 (109,729) 165,685 1,899 167,584
Loss for th year EREE = = = = - (570 (15750 (1085  (16,836)
Other comprehensive loss for the year ERNEMEEFE - - - - (1,122) - (1,122) ) (1,131)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRRAGEER - - - - (1,12 (15,750) (16,872) (1,095) (17,967)
Capital reduction by non-controling interests I B/A T FERERHE
of a subsidiary - - - - - 404 404 (404) -
Balance at 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=1-AMEH 26,853 239,372 7,922 1 144 (125,075) 149,217 400 149,617
Notes: Mrsz -
a. The capital reserve represents the deemed capital contribution from the  a. BERREERELALADRELE  BERELAAR
Company’s shareholder in relation to listing expenses reimbursed to the Company BEFEN LS
in prior years.
b. The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the  b. BHEBRERN A ARKMENBATRBEFESE

shares issued by the Company in exchange for the nominal value of the share

HEENRAZEEMETRONEER ZZE-

capital of its subsidiaries arising from the reorganisation in prior years.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SRRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

2025 2024
ZE-HEF —ETmEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
iig23 FAET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETFHHRERE
Net cash generated from operations KEPMRIRE R 31(a) 112,076 1,300
Income tax paid [SENIFIRET (9,831) =
Interest received BUWHE 438 128
Net cash generated from operating RERE PRSI &R
activities 102,683 1,428
Cash flows from investing activities REZHHRESRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B E#)% « i = K& & (7,625) (1,440)
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEWB AR ZIRESMEF
subsidiaries, net of cash disposal B IRERERSE 34 - (670)
Placement of non-pledged fixed deposits 77 & =& B L _EREI >
maturing over three months EIRRERER (19,485) (12)
Withdrawal of non-pledged fixed deposits 2 EX =183 I _EZIHE >
maturing over three months EIRIRERTER 11,689 =
Purchases of financial assets at fair value ~ BEEIZAFEFAEBTZ
through profit or loss TREE (859) (10,437)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERAFEFAEBRZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREEESMRIE 2,724 -
Distribution received BRIk 3 272
Interest received 2UF 2 3,144 495
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFIAZREFEE (10,409) (11,792)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHRESRE
Advance from a related party —SRES 28R - 1,415
Repayment to a related party —SRESER (14,103) -
Repayment of loan from a related party —SRAESEEER (13,500) (15,155)
Advances from fellow subsidiaries BRI B AT ZEBM 75 -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (4,389) (4,353)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEafzZBAHE (176) (108)
Repayments to former subsidiaries BEFIMNBABIRIE (6,288) -
Net cash used in financing activities = BiE;FEFFAZ RS EEE (38,381) (18,201)

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REHERE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2025 2024
ZEZRF —EUE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Jiok=3 FAET FET
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERREEEY
cash equivalents s, GRo) 7358 53,893 (28,565)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EEXREH s & (452) (118)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUVRERAEEEY
beginning of year 60,427 89,110
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FXIRERESZEY
year 113,868 60,427
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&ERRE LB
Cash at banks RITIRE 23 86,456 52,489
Non-pledged fixed deposits maturing R=@ARIEZ
within three months EIKIPEHTER 23 27,269 7,825
Cash on hand FoERSe 23 143 113
113,868 60,427
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  BEMI Z st B & LGS IRRER 2 —2pDo
financial statements.
BRI EEERERAE
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GENERAL INFORMATION AND
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
with effect from 2 September 2015. Its parent company is OKC
Holdings Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and controlled by Mr. Xu Mingxing. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Windward 3, Regatta
Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company'’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong is Unit 902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of foundation, building construction
works and ancillary services, digital assets related businesses,
technical services and other businesses. The Group was also
engaged in the construction wastes handling services which was
discontinued during the year ended 31 March 2024 (see note 11).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company, unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 30 June 2025.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for certain financial instruments
and digital assets that are measured at fair values and as
otherwise stated in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

2

MNBEREXNGER

o

ZEEREMBRRIRMZERE 5

KR T - FRIFS AR ZFBER
EERERRMAEEREE -

2.1

EABFREMBREIVIBBEEES
SEiRg (EBEMAE)) 1|
HHNEBMBRSER G SHERR
Holbhh ARG M B RE B IEB PR
IR EH R RE B QB FS
RENBRRE -REFHFRET
BEBEEEREEZRE ETXET
BATESENERIANRMFTE
EURE TR AE PRI

REBEEBUHFREEN G ERR
HZEGMBRRAERAETHES
StEst BN REEEETRAL
EENEFBRRBREPITEESH
i 8 R B S 12 S H BT S AR R BV
AEHBGREHMBEREABERER
FHRR Kb 5T B R EE4FIR

%o

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER

159



160

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year has no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited

2025 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards - Volume 112

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

Except as described below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements” (“HKFRS 18”), which sets
out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
“Presentation of Financial Statements” (“HKAS
1”). This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS
1, introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of
profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”
and HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure”.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash
Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also
made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process assessing the detailed impact
of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)

over which the Group has control. The Group controls

an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights

to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity

and has the ability to affect those returns through its

power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated

from the date on which control is transferred to the

Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.

@

Business combinations

The Group uses the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the recognised amount of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

@

©®)

Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the profit or loss.

Inter-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Transaction with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. For purchase of non-
controlling interests, the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(b)  Transaction with non-controlling interests
(continuea)

When the Group ceases to have control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount
for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss account.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the executive directors
of the Company, being the chief operating decision-maker
(“CODM”) who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments.
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R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (continued)

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Financial instruments

For financial assets and liabilities that are denominated
in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based on
the amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in the
“administrative and other expenses” line item in profit
or loss as part of net exchange losses.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the spot
rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial
assets and liabilities that are measured as at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”"), the foreign exchange
component forms part of the fair value gains or losses
and is recognised in profit or loss.

(c)

(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the supply of services, or for administrative
purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives or lease terms
where applicable, as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over relevant lease terms
— Furniture, fixtures and office 20% — 33%
equipment
— Machinery and equipment  20%
— Motor vehicles 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at historical
cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Intangible
assets have a finite useful lives are carried at cost less
subsequent accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Other intangible assets 3 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

RNEERBEAEER
BH @

2.6

2.7

B EE

BRWENELEERELMAE
FIM-REHBAHTMENETLE
ERWBEHRRATEES -BR
EREHNETEERNAREE
R BIE R RREBE WA) 5
fRe

NSt E R EBRAESRER R
TOBECEIMESHERFR WT

H it 34
EERMBEERNRE

REBEHER AEEBHEYE K
EhRFE ERREERELEE
REE UEEECAEANNRE
TREFEEHRBAEGRR - HEFE
AR A EHEMEERN
BJ U Rl IEERE
BIENEE WA) -

ME-BERRHB TREEER
BB ENTWE S S EE GG
5to BEAERIG TR UL 5 - A
rERGHEREEMBZREE
EEBIRY AT O ER

BR ERERERAT
“EREER

169



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 RUNBERFEAEER
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY HHE @
INFORMATION (continued)

2.8 Leases 2.8 fAE

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 “Leases”
at inception of the contract. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

2.8 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
and

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment and
warehouses that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.9 Financial assets

Classification

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Amortised cost and interest incorme

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
interest income using the effective interest rate method.

FVPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost are
measured at FVPL. A fair value gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss and presented within “revenue” or “other
income, gains and (losses), net” line item in the period in
which it arises. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “revenue” or “other
income, gains and (losses), net” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 RUBERSFEAEAER
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY HHE @
INFORMATION (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued) 29 TWMEE (B

Impairment

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (‘ECL”") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, trust bank balance held on behalf of
customers and bank balances) and contract assets which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments”. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. These financial assets have
been assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in crediit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or

effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating; or

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in

credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 RUBERSFEAEAER
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY HHE @
INFORMATION (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued) 29 TWMEE (B

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due.

Crediit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

° it is becoming probably that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. The Group
usually writes off when there is information indicating
that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over three years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice when
appropriate. Any recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 RUBERSFEAEAER
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY HHE @
INFORMATION (continued)

2.10 Digital assets 210 BFEE

Digital assets are held mainly for the purposes of trading
in the ordinary course of the Group’s digital assets related
businesses and its trust and custody services.

Digital assets held in the Group’s digital asset wallets,
segregated client wallets and sub-custodian primarily
comprise digital assets that are prefunded by and
traded with, but not yet withdrawn by counterparties (or
“customers”) under agreements. Digital assets mainly held in
the commingled wallets of the relevant custodians through
digital assets trading platforms (the “Platform”) primary
comprise digital assets for the Group’s proprietary trading
in digital assets and the digital assets held on behalf of the
clients.

The Group’s digital asset portfolio mainly comprises
cryptocurrencies and stablecoins whose measurement are as
follows:

° Since the Group actively trades cryptocurrencies,
purchasing them with a view to their resale in the
near future, and generating a profit from fluctuations
in the price, the Group applies the guidance in HKAS
2 for commodity broker-traders and measures the
digital assets at fair value less costs to sell. The
Group considers there are no significant “costs to
sell” digital assets and hence measurement of digital
assets is based on their fair values with changes in fair
values recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
changes.

° The Group has assessed the terms and conditions
attached to stablecoins to determine whether they
meet the definition of financial instruments. Certain
stablecoins that are classified as financial instruments
are measured at fair values with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.10 Digital assets (continued)

2.11

Digital assets borrowings from a fellow subsidiary are initially
recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and
are subsequently measured at fair value, which align with the
fact that the relevant digital asset are non-financial assets
measured at fair value less costs to sell and eliminate the
accounting mismatch.

See Note 3.3 for estimation of fair value in respect of the
digital assets and digital asset borrowings.

Digital assets received from and held on behalf of clients
by the Group are safekeeping in the Group’s digital assets
wallets, segregated client wallets, sub-custodian and the
Platform. Based on the respective rights and obligations of
the Group and its clients under the contractual terms and
conditions, digital assets held by the Group on behalf of
the clients are recognised off the consolidated statement
of financial position on the basis that (1) the Group does
not entitle to any benefit of income from the holding of the
digital assets on the client’s behalf; (2) the digital assets are
held in the Group’s digital assets wallets, segregated client
wallets, sub-custodian and the Platform separate from the
Group; and (3) the Group is legally restrained from transferring
or transacting with the client’s digital assets other than as
instructed by the clients.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed to customers in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.13 Trust bank balance held on behalf of
customers

The Group receives and holds monies deposited by clients
in the course of its digital assets trust and custody business.
Such monies are maintained in one or more segregated bank
accounts and bear interest at commercial rate. The Group
has recognised the corresponding liabilities to respective
external clients as liabilities due to customers (note 27).
However, the Group does not have a currently enforceable
right to offset those payables with the deposits placed.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.15 Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.15 Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

2.16 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2 EUERREAAHEE
(48)

2.17 Loan from a related party/a 217 RBE—%REES—%KRE

shareholder

Loan from a related party/a shareholder comprise financing
arrangements denominated in fiat currency.

Loan from a related party/a shareholder are recognised
initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the loans using the effective interest method.

Loan from a related party/a shareholder are classified as
current liabilities unless the Group has a right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end
of the reporting period.

2.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

(continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred taxation
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends to settle on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

2.20 Employee benefits

(i)  Short-term employee benefit

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS Accounting Standard
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries) after
deducting any amount already paid.

(ii) Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution plan
and pays contributions to a privately administered
pension insurance plan on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.

2.21 Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to
contracts with customer is provided in Notes 5 and 20.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities exposed it to a variety of financial risks:

market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price

risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that
is not the functional currency of the individual group
companies and net investments in foreign operations.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, most of the financial
assets and liabilities of the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in their respective functional currencies.

There are certain United States dollar (‘US$”) financial
assets and liabilities held by the Group with HK$
and US$ functional currency respectively. Since HK$
are pegged to the US$, management considers the
foreign exchange risk arising from such financial assets
and liabilities to the Group is not significant. Hence,
the directors consider the Group does not have any
significant foreign exchange risk exposure.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited

2025 Annual Report

3 BEXAKEIR
3.1 MEABEE

AEENEEEESEYEAR
BIBAKR GERR - FREARE
ERER EERRRADESE
o

FEENERRREEFHEEN
ERMTHNERRB DN EERE
BV BRIFBTARTE -

35 A B

) SrEEE

FEEREBRPEARKM
(THRE ) &5E o SME B 2R
BRREER S UIEEFIE
BABZNESKFHENER
REERBBEURBINEFZ
KEFE

N TECHEFRCECNF=
B=+—H 4A&ENBAT
ZREDEMEEKREEHTN
HZENIEEEEE.

FrEEFAEETET ((ET)
TRMEERER DRINETT
RETANEGE -BHRETT
BETHN EEERAZE
THEEREERAERES
BISNEE BRI AN E K o A It
EEAATERLEEFTEK
S EE B



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Interest rate risk

Other than bank balances with variable interest rate,
the Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets with variable interest rate. Management does
not anticipate significant impact to interest-bearing
assets resulted from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of bank balances are not
expected to change significantly.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates was considered insignificant in
management’s opinion as the Group had no significant
borrowings with variable interest rates at the end of
the reporting period. The Group currently does not
hedge its exposure to interest rate risks. However, the
management monitors the interest rate risk exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant interest
rate risk exposure should the need arise.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from certain
investments held by the Group which are classified
in the consolidated statement of financial position as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

For listed equity securities and listed investment fund,
if the quoted price of the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss had appreciated/depreciated by
10% with all other variables held constant, the Group’s
loss after income tax for the year ended 31 March
2025 would have been approximately HK$895,000
lower/higher (2024: approximately HK$896,000 lower/
higher) as a result of gains/losses on change in fair
value of the financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MBREBER @

Market risk (continued)
(i) Price risk (continueqd)

For unlisted investment fund and wealth management
products, assuming that the unit price of the fund
and the product price increased/decreased by 10%
and all other variables held constant at the end of the
report period, the Group’s loss after income tax would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$556,000
(2024: decrease/increase by approximately
HK$719,000).

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from trade, other and loan
receivables, contract assets, bank deposit and bank
balances. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their
obligations as at the reporting date in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets and contract assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to
be low as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at banks are assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made.

In respect of trade, other and loan receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on
individual customer and counterparty or group of customers
and counterparties under the same controlling party. These
evaluations focus on the counterparty’s financial position,
past history of making payments and take into account
information specific to the counterparty as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the counterparty
operates (for example, the forecasted default rate expected
by the international credit-rating agencies). Monitoring
procedures have been implemented to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade, other and loan receivable and contract assets balance
at the end of each reporting period to ensure adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2025, there were three (2024: two)
customers which individually contributed over 10% of the
Group’s aggregate trade receivables and contract assets.
The aggregate amounts of trade receivables, loan receivables
and contract assets from these customers amounted to
95% (2024: 72%) of the Group’s total trade receivables and
contract assets as at 31 March 2025.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade balances individually or based
on collective assessment. Except for debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables
and contract assets are grouped under a collective
assessment based on shared credit risk characteristics by
reference to repayment histories for recurring customers and
current past due exposure for the new customers. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, net impairment losses
of approximately HK$782,000 and HK$7,391,000 (2024:
net impairment losses of approximately HK$3,194,000
and net reversal on impairment losses of HK$5,762,000)
are recognised for trade receivables and contract assets,
respectively.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:
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Trade receivables/ Other

Category  Description contract assets financial assets
BARBIRR

155 o ANEE HitvEREE

Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
amounts not credit-impaired

BAH REHFANENERE B REMAHRE REBHEHEE 12@AABHEEESSE
BE-BEERE

Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

5k BNSEDEEERRB AR LA BEBHEBESR REBHEREES

BE-BEERE BE-BEERE

In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

credit-impaired credit impaired

EX BERBBETEECEEAME BEBHEHEE BEBHEHEE

BiE-EERE BE-EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and Amount is written off Amount is written off

the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EENBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets and contract assets which are
subject to ECL assessment:

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MHBRBER @

FERE (8)
TREIFEZETRREEBIET
GHZrERERNEEREGNEEZ

EEREFS

Gross carrying

31 March 2025 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
1218 A 5 218 B A
“E-RFE=HA=+—H MizE RERE AR TEHREEESIE IREE4A%E
HK$’000
FAET
Trade receivables 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 55,625
B 5 IR B#h BERATAREERE
In default Credit-impaired 4,749
EY EERE
Contract assets 20 Performing Lifetime ECL 40,159
BHEE B#h BERATAREERE
In default Credit-impaired 23,523
EY EERE
Loan receivables 19 In default Credit-impaired 21,773
FEWE R EY EERE
Other receivables 19 Performing 12m ECL 10,675
H {th FEURER TR B#H 128 B FEHRE B k548
In default Credit-impaired -
EY EERE
Trust bank balance held on 23 Performing 12m ECL 247
behalf of customers
RREFREAZEHIRITHEER B#H 128 B FEHRE B k548
Bank balances 23 Performing 12m ECL 123,048
RITHEER B#h 128 B FEHRE B k548

190 O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEXREREIR @
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHERBEZR @
Credit risk (continued) EERRE (@&

Gross carrying

31 March 2024 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
1218 B sl & B HA
TEIME=A=+—H MIsE  AEBEATAR TRHAfEER1E IREE4ARZE
HK$'000
FHT
Trade receivables 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 22,708
B 5 BRI B#IH BEBHATRIRE SR8
In default Credit-impaired 5,328
EXN EEHE
Contract assets 20 Performing Lifetime ECL 46,123
BHNEE B#IH BEBHATEIRE SR8
In default Credit-impaired 29,255
EXN EEHE
Loan receivables 19 In default Credit-impaired 27,915
FEUE R EXN EEHE
Other receivables 19 Performing 12m ECL 13,077
H M FEURBRR B#IH 128 A FaAE &8
In default Credit-impaired 402
EX EEHE
Trust bank balance held on 23 Performing 12m ECL 24,047
behalf of customers
RRE LA ZEEIRITHEER B4 128 A FaAE &8
Bank balances 23 Performing 12m ECL 61,841
IRIT4EER B#IH 128 A FaAE &8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and contract assets. To measure the ECL, except
for debtors with significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired, the Group determines the ECL on trade receivables
and contract assets by using a collective assessment,
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the trade
receivables and the contract assets on the same basis.

The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL.
It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding
looking information. The Group also makes periodic
assessments on the recoverability of the receivables based
on the background and reputation of the customers,

historical settlement records and past experience.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEXRAMBER®@
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHEEKEZR @)
Credit risk (continued) 8RR (@
The loss allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and BEEWER - SHNEENREBERE
loan receivables were determined as follows. R EBEBEETN T
Weighted
average Gross Expected
expected carrying credit Net carrying
credit loss rate amount loss amount
EFEH
EHEE BEHEE
BiEx MR A 18 IREFE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FT#ER TET TAET
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RFE=A=1+—H
Trade receivables B3 EWER
- Performing —BAF 0.93% 55,625 (520) 55,105
- In default —BY 78.5% 4,749 (3,728) 1,021
60,374 (4,248) 56,126
Contract assets BHEE
- Performing —B#h 4.13% 40,159 (1,660) 38,499
- In default —EH 99.07% 23,523 (23,304) 219
63,682 (24,964) 38,718
Loan receivables ERER
- In default —EH 100% 21,773 (21,773) -
Other receivables HitpE I
- Performing —E#h 1.61% 10,675 (172) 10,503

BN E R A R A S
“z-zeem 193



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BEFEEEIRE®@
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHEEKEZR @)
Credit risk (continued) ZEERE (@)
Weighted
average Gross Expected
expected carrying credit Net carrying
credit loss rate amount loss amount
miEFY \
RHEE REE
BEX fRRREE B8 REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET
At 31 March 2024 RZF_MEZR=+-H
Trade receivables B SRR
- Performing —BAH 1.57% 22,708 (357) 22,351
- In default —BH 100.00% 5,328 (5,328) -
28,036 (5,685) 22,351
Contract assets BREE
- Performing —BAF 0.36% 46,123 (166) 45,957
- In default —BH 100.00% 29,255 (29,255) -
75,378 (29,421) 45,957
Loan receivables Fgllﬁl/éf"ﬂ
- In default B 100.00% 27,915 (27,915) -
Other receivables HitEFIE
- Performing —BAH 1.45% 13,077 (190) 12,887
- In default —EH 100.00% 402 (402) -
13,479 (592) 12,887
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3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract
assets, loan receivables, other receivables and amounts due
from related parties as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 reconcile
to the opening loss allowances as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 BEXREREIR @

3.1 MBREEREZR @

FERE (8

R _RhER-ZTZNE=ZR
=+—H ' B5EBRKER
B~ FRE R~ H M FEIGR

aMmE
T8 K2 FEUR

RAE S B AR R AR )
BIEBHENHEIRNOT ¢

Trade Trade  Contract  Contract Loan Loan Other ~ Amounts
receivables  receivables assets assets receivables  receivables receivables  due from
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Other Lifetime ECL related
Not credit- Credit-  Not credit- Credit-  Not credit- Credit-  receivables Credit- parties
impaired impaired impaired impaired impaired impaired  12m ECL impaired  12m ECL Total
BAMM BREKER  GWEE  ANEE  RUWER  EKER Rt EbRE il
ERENTES PERSRY FEANES PEEGRY LEAVESD BEENRN HtmbRE BEENRS MERRE
EEFR GAGR  GEGR GEGFR  GESR  GEGR BARE  GAFR  12@EERE
EEEAE  GEAE BEEAE  GEAE BEEEE  GEEE  GHEPR  REEE GEER @
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS'000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn TFhn Thn
Asat 1 April 2023 55 7,656 122 36,511 563 16,483 507 422 143 62,462
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at
1 April 2023:
- Transfer to credit-impaired (3.246) 3246 - - (563 563 - - - -
- Impaiment reversed H (49) (1,100 82) (5819 - - (330) - (143) (7,530)
- Impaimnent recognised *Eﬁﬁrﬁl’\iﬁi@ 37 753 110 - - 10,869 S S S 12,049
New financil assets or contract assets orignated or ~ HEF FBENSMEED
purchases BHEE 3280 - 29 - - - 13 = = 332
\Write-offs W = (3,859 = = S S = = - (3859)
Disposal of subsifaries HENBAT - (1,340) (13 (1.437) - - - - - 2,790
Exchange adjustments EREE - @1 - - - - - (20) = )
At March 2024 RZZ-mE=R=+-8 %7 5328 16 2% 1T 190 402 YT
As at 1 April 2024 RZEZMEMA-A 357 5328 166 29,255 - 21915 190 402 - 63,613
Changes due to financial instruments KZE-MEMA-ARD
recognised as at 1 April 2024: REMIEEENES.
- Transfer to credit-impaired -BERENE ¢ 3 ® 8 - - - - - -
- Impairment reversed -EREHEE (354) 1,603) (54) (44) - (8,107) (86) - - (8,248)
- Impairment recognised -BRIEE - 1,416 1,545 5,933 - - 1 - - 8,895
New financial assets or contract assets HELARENEMEERT
originated or purchases ELEE] 520 803 11 - - - 67 - - 1401
Write-offs s - (2,220) - (11,848) - - - (402) - (14,470)
Exchange adjustments EREE - 1 - - - (35) - - - (34
As at 31 March 2025 RZEZEEZR=+-H 520 3728 1,660 23,304 - 1,113 172 - - 51,157
BB ERERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, certain trade
receivables and contract assets with gross carrying amount
of HK$2,222,000 (2024: HK$3,999,000) and HK$5,941,000
(2024: nil), respectively were defaulted in repayment and
no settlement was made by the debtors during the year
for the respective past due invoices. The Group has taken
legal action against these debtors in respect of these past
due invoices and the management of the Group considered
that these trade receivables became credit impaired
during the year. Accordingly, additional impairment loss of
HK$2,219,000 (2024: HK$753,000) and HK$5,933,000
(2024: nil) were recognised for these credit-impaired trade
receivables and the respective contract assets based on the
legal action status and the on-going communication with the
counterparty.

In addition, certain credit-impaired trade receivables and
contract assets with gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,603,000 (2024: HK$1,107,000) and HK$44,000
(2024: HK$5,819,000), respectively have been settled during
the year ended 31 March 2025. Accordingly, reversal of
impairment losses of approximately HK$1,603,000 (2024:
HK$1,107,000) and HK$44,000 (2024: HK$5,819,000) have
been recognised for these credit-impaired trade receivables
and the respective contract assets.
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3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 BEXREREIR @

3.1 MBREEREZR @

Credit risk (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain loan
receivables with gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$11,432,000 were defaulted in repayment and no
settlement was made by the debtors during the year.
The Group has taken legal action against these debtors
and the management of the Group considered that these
loan receivables became credit impaired during the year.
Accordingly, additional impairment loss of HK$10,869,000
were recognised for these credit-impaired loan receivables.

In addition, certain loan receivables with gross carrying
amount of approximately HK$6,107,000 (2024: nil) have been
settled during the year ended 31 March 2025. Accordingly,
reversal of impairment losses of approximately HK$6,107,000
(2024: nil) have been recognised for these credit-impaired
loan receivables.

Trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan
receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables, contract
assets and loan receivables are presented as net impairment
losses within operating profit/loss. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
same line item. During the year ended 31 March 2025,
trade receivables previously written off with gross carrying
amount of approximately HK$2,084,000 (2024: nil) have been
recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MBREERER @

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines
of funding from banks and other financial institutions to
meet their liquidity requirements in the short and long term.
Management believes there is no significant liquidity risk as
the Group has sufficient committed facilities to fund their
operations.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
current rates at the end of each reporting period) and/or the
earliest date the Group may be required to pay:

MEBEEERE

AERNBRBSENEERKERE
HRRBESHT R MERKNERE
FREANFESEBURERTRA
tMEREENSTRENAEES
DEMHERRRAASHES R
K-BEEBEE HRAEEERE
NEREREARHEERENES
BEEEANRSESAR -

TRALAEENTMEER SR
HHRMER TN HRE R hiR
SIMRITRRERE (BEERTA
X (BERFE) REREHRD
BIERRM RS ERIF B0 KA
ERARMNNREEMRBHE

Weighted On
average  demand or Between Between Total
effective within one and two and undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount
b
ik 2] BRER —-F mE Rene
RS F—FR ERE ELE @t REME
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% Thr Ti#En TiEn Ti#n TiEn
At 31 March 2025 RZEZEE=RA=+-H
Trade and other payables BH REMERRR N/ATiER 116,935 - - 116,935 116,935
Liabiliies due to customers I N/ATIER 247 - - 247 247
Amounts due to former subsidiaries  FEfJRIIIBARI TR NATER 10,654 - - 10,654 10,654
Amount due to a related party i —LREHATE N/ARIER 4,087 - - 4,087 4,087
Loan from a related party RE—LEHAER 5.0 28,509 - - 28,509 28,509
Borrowings - loan from a shareholder fEF—RE—2REET N/ARER 70,014 - - 70,014 70,014
Lease liabilties HERR 3.97 3,807 1,758 554 6,119 5,141
234,453 1,758 554 236,765 236,387

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 BEXREREIR @

3.1 MBREEREZR @

Liquidity risk (continued) mENE & R (4)
Weighted On
average demand or Between Between Total
effective within one and twoand  undiscounted Carying
interest rate one year two years five years cash flow amount
ESiiEs
g™y BEX - mE Reneg
BRI F—ER EmE ERE st REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% Tix Thx TiER TR TR
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=R=+-H
Trade and other payables ESREMETRD NATER 112,630 - - 112,630 112,630
Liabilties due to customers ENEFER NATER 24,047 - - 24,047 24,047
Amounts due to former subsidiaries  FEfTRIMBAFIZUE NATER 16,942 - - 16,942 16,942
Amount due to a related party e — A TE NATER 18,585 - - 18,585 18,585
Loan from a related party RE—LEHAER 50 40,400 = = 40,400 40,400
Borrowings - loan from a shareholder f‘*TA RE— %Hx%f@f? NAFEH 70,428 = = 70,428 70,428
Lease liabilties Eaf 3.1 1,009 109 - 2,018 2,000
284,941 109 - 285,050 285,032

Loan from a related party and loan from a shareholder with
a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on
demand or within one year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the management does not believe that it is probable that
the related party and the shareholder will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
management believes that such loans and borrowing will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below:

RERBBAOHAS —REABSE
REMAZERERERNORRE
%"X’TAFWEE*EJZ—EWJE%HE'@@
Mo BREITERBMFBIRR B

BRI R KAE ﬁ@
HPBRERIANER - EEER
7 REFERKREBERRREERT
EMENTEEENAHRESR  H&F
B TRFAT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.1 MBEKERER (@
BN A ()

Maturity Analysis - loans and borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments
I - ERBEERMERERERBERNERRER

Total

Within Between one Between two undiscounted Carrying
one year and two years and five years cash flow amount
KFHRRE
—FR  —FERE WEELE e BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FERT FERT FTHERT
At 31 March 2025 RZE_RF=A=+—H
Loan from a related party RE—LHEHAER = 31,265 - 31,265 28,509
Borrowings - loan from a B -RE—AKRBER
shareholder 70,014 - - 70,014 70,014
70,014 31,265 - 101,279 98,523
At 31 March 2024 RIZ2ZME=F=1+—H
Loan from a related party RE—BEBHHER 54,779 - = 54,779 40,400
Borrowings - loan from a BN RE—RREEN
shareholder - 70,428 - 70,428 70,428
54,779 70,428 - 125,207 110,828
3.2 Capital management 3.2 BAREIR

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders,
to support the Group’s stability and growth; to earn a margin
commensurate with the level of business and market risks
in the Group’s operations and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new

borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3 BEXREREIR @

(continued)
3.2 Capital management (continued) 3.2 BEAXEIE (@)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. XEBNEEEBBELXERHESE
This ratio is calculated as the total borrowings which includes Ko lbEHIZBNEZFEERNMER
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (which is included in other W (BTPEEECTERKBAR
payables), amounts due to former subsidiaries and a related (st AEMESRIE) ~ B A1 M
party, loan from a related party, loan from a shareholder and BRrER—%EEEAERIE 2KE—
lease liabilities as at each year end divided by the total equity LR A BN KB —ZLREER
as at each year end. REEESRE MURSEERNER
EFEETHE
The gearing ratios of the Group are as follows: KEENBEGMB/LEERNT !
2025 2024
—ECRE —Z U
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Total borrowings HmER 119,280 148,355
Total equity HEmABEE 149,617 167,584
Gearing ratio BEAM[AEX 80% 89%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AF(ELE
Financial assets and liabilities ETHEEKRER

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

TRESAEATFEZHERMTE
BMABBENBSR 2R _2°H
ERZEZNE=ZB=+—HA&E
ERAFEIENESHT R AR
MARBEATESHRADEAN
T=EEHR

o HERBERNEGERIEETSN
BIB CRIEHE) BE—) -

s BRE-—MFAEENRENE
ENEENERE WER) [
2 BERITEY) FTRENR
AR (B4R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

BEXEEERE @

3.3 AFEMET @)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued) EREERAR @)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—& B4R B=h st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
TAET THET TAET TET
As at 31 March 2025 RZEZ_RE=A=+-H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BATEGABREN
- Listed equity securities — I HRAES 390 - - 390
- Listed investment fund —-IhREREE 10,327 - - 10,327
~ Wealth management products -BHER - 2,143 - 2,143
~ Unlisted investment fund —-ELAREES - - 4,510 4,510
- Digital assets -YFEE 37,732 - - 37,732
48,449 2,143 4,510 55,102
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—R EEp 5= fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET TER FTEr
As at 31 March 2024 RZZ2ZME=RA=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVPL BATEF ABEN
EHEE
- Listed equity securities —EmREES 863 - - 863
— Listed investment fund —-IhRERES 9,866 - - 9,866
- Wealth management products -EHER - 4,897 - 4,897
— Unlisted investment fund —FLmRkEES - - 3,710 3,710
- Digital assets -UTFEE 28,539 - - 28,539
39,268 4,897 3,710 47,875

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 BEXREREIR @

3.3 AF{ELE @

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level
1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily equity
investments listed in Hong Kong and US Stock market
classified as trading securities, the listed investment fund and
digital assets.

The fair value of the wealth management products are
measured at level 2 based on the quoted prices from
the relevant banks. The underlying investments of wealth
management products are fixed deposits and listed
investments.

The fair value of the unlisted investment fund is determined
based on the net asset value of the investment fund provided
by fund administrator.

THMEERAR (B

REBRTSEEZEMIAZAF
BNERREARZTIHRES
B-MZBREURTZHEHWRER
S K - TEER T
ERBREERB MASFERK
RERRERIZATRAETZS
BR5 ZHBARRER AEE
RHEZEMEEMERAZTSRE
RRTEAB-ZEFLAFAE—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024

3 BEXREMRER®

3.3 AFEMET @)

THMEERAR (B

TREWNHEE_E_FAEKR_E
THE=ZB=+—HILEEEE=#
BHEZ #E)

2025 2024

ZEZhHE ZZTUE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Opening balance FHHEER 3,710 8,011
Purchases during the year FANEE 859 1,017
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR - (2,704)
Net fair value change FATEEZS) (59) (2,614)
Closing balance FRAER 4,510 3,710

There were no transfers between levels during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their fair value.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Digital assets and liabilities

This note explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the non-financial assets and
liabilities that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements. To provide an indication
about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair
value, the Group has classified its non-financial assets and
liabilities into the three levels prescribed under the accounting

3 BEXREMRER®@

3.3 AF{ELE @

BFEERAR

AWEEERNEEAREMBRERN
WIZ AT EEDRRENI FERE
ERAE A FEFTFEYFIE K &
e niEHERMBEEATERER
B ABBA EMER ~&H
REFEMEEREBDER G
ZRETRAN =EFR ZEFR

standards. An explanation of each level is provided in Note BRI &S £ I sE3.3 0
3.3 above.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E B4 B=H ax
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TET TET
As at 31 March 2025 RZEZHEF=A=+—H
Assets BE
Digital assets recognised as BRATERFEENEFE
inventories measured at fair BRAAGENETEE
value less costs to sell 379,844 - - 379,844
Digital assets recognised as financial  FzRAZ AT EF ABZA
assets at FVPL TREENYFEE 37,732 - - 37,732
417,576 - - 417,576
Liabilities aff
Digital assets borrowings from —EERNEARZ
a fellow subsidiary HFEERBN
292,702 - - 292,702
Net digital assets balances BT EELRS 124,874 = = 124,874

BN B IER AR AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

3 BEXREMRER®

3.3 AFEMLE @

Digital assets and liabilities (continued) BFEERERE @)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ B E=H ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET TER FTEr
As at 31 March 2024 A_E_ME=ZA=1+—H
Assets BE
Digital assets recognised as BATEREERAE
inventories measured at fair BRAGENYTEE
value less costs to sell 1,094,542 - - 1,094,542
Digital assets recognised as financial Bz AKATFE ABZEHN
assets at FVPL THEENYTEE 28,539 - - 28,539
1,123,081 - - 1,123,081
Liabilities a8
Digital assets borrowings from —BRZNEARZ
a fellow subsidiary YT EERYT
869,833 - - 869,833
Net digital assets balances BUTEELR 253,248 - - 253,248

The digital assets are measured at level 1 fair value. The

determination of fair value hierarchy level for valuation of the
digital assets would depend on whether the underlying digital
assets is traded in an active market.

Digital assets borrowings from a fellow subsidiary are
measured at level 1 fair value.

In determining fair values, the relevant available markets are
identified by the Group, and the Group considers accessibility
to and activity within those markets in order to identify the
principal digital asset markets dealt with by the Group.
Reference is made to the quoted prices from the principal
digital asset markets in determining the fair values of the
corresponding digital assets.

There were no transfers between levels during both years.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 BEXREREIR @

34 BFEERKEE

Price risk of digital assets

To facilitate the Group’s proprietary trading in digital assets,
the Group held digital assets of approximately US$53,677,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$417,576,000) as of 31 March
2025 (2024: approximately US$143,519,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,123,081,000)). The majority of the Group’s
digital asset were stablecoins, which are asset-backed with
fair values approximate US$1 per unit with limited price risk
and other digital assets with higher liquidity, such as Bitcoin
(“BTC”) and Ethereum (‘ETH"). As at 31 March 2025, the fair
values of the stablecoins, ETH and BTC held by the Group were
approximately US$41,789,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$325,093,000) (2024: approximately US$27,372,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$214,197,000)), approximately
US$778,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,055,000) (2024:
approximately US$34,635,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$271,029,000)) and approximately US$3,841,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$29,667,000) (2024: approximately
US$67,218,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$526,003,000)),
representing 77.9% (2024: 19.1%), 1.5% (2024: 24.1%)
and 7.1% (2024: 46.8%) of the Group’s total digital assets,
respectively. In addition, the Group also borrowed digital assets
from a fellow subsidiary of approximately US$37,626,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$292,702,000 (2024:
approximately US$111,157,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$869,833,000)). The borrowings were in form of stablecoins
of approximately US$31,999,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$248,928,000) (2024: approximately US$102,237,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$800,037,000)) and in forms of
other digital assets of approximately US$5,627,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$43,774,000) (2024: approximately
US$8,920,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$69,796,000)).
Consequently, the Group’s risk exposures to the price risk of
digital assets were limited to the net balance of each digital asset
it held.

BFrEENERRR

AREAEANMFTEENEER
SOBE_E_R&E=BR=+—H>
REBFBHFTEELS3,677,000
E7T (FHER4417,576,0005 7T)
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(FBEH491,123,081,00058 7)) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

(continued)

Price risk of digital assets (continued)

Price volatility of digital assets may cause significant impacts
to the Group’s performance. Although the stablecoins are
asset-backed and the market price was approximately
USS$1 per unit with minimal fluctuation, the volatility and any
unpredictability of the price of such stablecoins relative to
fiat currencies could also cause significant impact to the
Group’s financial performance. Furthermore, compared with
stablecoins, ETH, BTC and other digital assets are generally

with higher volatility.

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from net digital
assets balances held by the Group of approximately
HK$124,874,000 (2024: HK$253,248,000) as at 31 March
2025. If the quoted price of the net digital assets balances at
fair value through profit or loss had appreciated/depreciated
by 10% with all other variables held constant, the Group’s
loss after income tax for the year ended 31 March 2025
would have been approximately HK$10,427,000 lower/higher
(2024: approximately HK$21,146,000 lower/higher) as a
result of gains/losses on change in fair value of the net digital

assets balances.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3 BEXREREIR @

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets 34 BFEERKEERE @

(continued)

Investment risk related to trading of digital assets

The Group adopted quantitative trading strategies (the
“Strategies”) for its digital assets investment. The investment
performance mainly depends on market liquidity, Strategies
effectiveness and system reliability. The Group’s Strategies
in theory could make profits over time but could also suffer
huge losses in black swan events. In addition, there are
inherent risks with its trading, including but not limited to
errant algorithms, hacking, liquidation from extreme market
moves and counterparty risks. Although market liquidity is
closely monitored by the Group with the aid of systematic
alerting mechanism, under extreme market condition there
may occur huge mark-to-market losses and such losses may
never recover if stop loss risk control mechanism is triggered.

The Group has its own proprietary risk management system
that constantly monitors the performance of the Strategies
and conduct data analytics to review and modify the
Strategies. The trading systems are also constantly monitored
by the Group, including but not limited to their memory
usage, CPU consumption, network latency, etc., for any
anomalies. The system will also stop trading if certain circuit
breakers such as profit/loss performance or limits are hit. The
automated system aims to stop trading before material loss
and revoke account access if it detects any abnormalities.

Since the digital assets of the Group are mainly held in the
commingled wallets safe-kept by the relevant custodians
of the Platform, they are subject to higher risks of potential
misappropriation, unauthorised or loss of access to the digital
assets, resulting in heightened risks for existence and rights
and obligations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

3 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

(continued)

Risks related to Anti-Money Laundering

The Group has provided trust and custody services to its
clients. Any person who carries on a trust business in Hong
Kong has to comply with the relevant requirements of the
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
guideline issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

To mitigate such risks, the Group has implemented policies
and procedures for Anti-Money-Laundering and Know-
Your-Client that are initiated during the client onboarding
process and are applied by way of continuous monitoring
and reporting. In enhancing these policies and procedures,
we have also considered industry best-practice and the
recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force.

Credit risk

Since the Group mainly maintains certain of its digital assets
in accounts with the Platforms, the Group may be exposed
to significant losses if the Platforms experience outages
or become unavailable. To mitigate such risks, the Group
only establish accounts with the Platforms that have good

reputation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(@) Accounting of digital assets
transactions and balances

Critical judgements

HKFRS Accounting Standards do not specifically
address accounting for digital assets. Accordingly, for the
preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
management needs to apply judgement in determining
appropriate accounting policies based on the facts and
circumstances of the Group’s digital assets.

Given the business model of the Group, digital assets are
accounted for either as inventories measured at fair value less
costs to sell or financial instruments measured at fair value
on the consolidated statement of financial position. Digital
assets borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred and are subsequently measured
at fair value, which align with the fact that digital asset are
non-financial assets measured at fair value less costs to sell.
Since the Group manages the digital assets and borrowings
together based on its business model, the Group presents
the net fair value change on digital assets (including the fair
value changes on digital assets and borrowings) as revenue.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Accounting of digital assets
transactions and balances (continued)

Critical accounting estimates

Furthermore, in determining fair values of the Group’s digital
assets and digital assets borrowings, management needs to
apply judgement to identify the relevant available markets,
and to consider accessibility to and activity within those
markets in order to identify the principal digital asset markets
for the Group.

The information about the fair value measurement and the
Group’s digital assets and digital assets borrowings are
disclosed in notes 3.3, 21 and 30.

Loss allowances of trade receivables
and contract assets

The loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
asset are based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period.

The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in notes 3.1,
19 and 20.
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A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION

Revenue and other income, gains and (losses), net from continuing

operations recognised during the years ended 31 March 2025 and

2024 are as follows:

Wrgm « EL{UT A ~ U5 e
(B5%8) ,%gﬁz'zﬁﬁllﬁﬂ

BE_Z_HRER_FHNF=ZA=1+—
HIEFEEREFEREEH 2 W R HEM
WA~ Wi Ko (B518) B RRRESDA0T

2025 2024
ZTZEHEF —ZME
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Revenue W
Foundation, building construction works HEAEFRETEREERS
and ancillary services 358,220 266,721
Technology services BT AR 3,068 3,144
Trust and custody services BERKAERY 506 1,801
Revenue from contracts with customers REEEEGHNHKE 361,794 271,666
Net fair value change on digital assets (note (i) ~ BIFEEZFAFELE (W) 61,208 65,288
Interest income from lending business WEEBER WA 438 975
Rental income from lease of machinery THE#MNES KA 801 =
Fair value change on investments in securities EHRENTEED (213) (597)
Total revenue EEl Gy 424,028 337,332
Other income, gains and (losses), net HtgA ~ Wz K (8518) 7358
Interest income FIEUWA 3,161 495
Distribution and interest income from DK RBEAFEFTABRLZ
financial assets at fair value through TRIBENF WA BE))
profit or loss (Note (j) 76 272
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE BEMREHE T
equipment — net (1) (11)
Loss on early termination of lease RELILHAEEHIE (356) =
Government grants (Note (i) BUSHERE (7223)) - 194
Gain/(loss) on change in fair value of financial BATEFABRZEREEATEED
assets at fair value through profit or loss W/ (5518 485 (2,124)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries KRIEEMMB AR 2 WG 1,173 =
Others Hh (76) 272
4,462 (902)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the distribution and interest income
from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are approximately
HK$3,000 and HK$73,000 (2024: approximately HK$166,000 and

HK$106,000) respectively.

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2024, government grants mainly included
the subsidies received from the Construction Innovation and Technology
Fund (“CITF”) and the Reimbursement of Maternity Leave Pay Scheme
launched by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

(iii) Net fair value gains of approximately HK$61,208,000 (2024: approximately
HK$65,288,000) from remeasurement gains of digital assets of
approximately HK$51,887,000 (2024: approximately HK$218,556,000)
at 31 March 2025, including remeasurement gains of digital assets
borrowings from a fellow subsidiary of approximately HK$9,321,000 (2024:

remeasurement loss of HK$153,268,000) at the same date, is presented in

the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

5 Weas s EAUTA ~ W B

(B538) FE R D EFEE
(&)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts AFEREHNRE
with customers
2025 2024
—EZRE “ETNF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Timing of revenue recognition Wt 55 e 220 Bf i
Continuing operations FEKEER
— Foundation, building construction —HE - BFERTRER
works and ancillary services FeERRTS 358,220 266,721
— Technology services — R T AR 7S 3,068 3,144
— Trust and custody services — (SR LB RS 506 1,801
361,794 271,666
Timing of revenue recognition Ut 25 e 220 s
Over time I 5 P83 R 4 361,794 271,666

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services

Such services are recognised as performance obligations satisfied
over time as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. Revenue for
these works is therefore recognised over time. The Group measures
progress using an output method. Specifically, progress is based
on surveys of the relevant services completed by the Group to the
end of the current reporting period with reference to certificates
issued by customers or payment applications confirmed by internal
surveyor. The directors of the Company consider that this method
faithfully depicts the Group’s performance towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligations in these contracts
under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. The
contracts on provision of foundation, building construction works
and ancillary services include payment schedules which require
stage payments over the contract period once certain specified
milestones are reached.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Technology services

Revenue from technology services is recognised over time because
either the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs or that the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date. It is recognised over time using
output method, i.e. to recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurement of the value of goods or services promised confirmed
by the customers in different stages under the contract that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services. The contracts on provision of technology services include
payment schedules which require stage payments over the service
period once certain specified milestones are reached.

Trust and custody services

The trust and custody services provided by the Group typically
include the safekeeping, settlement and other customised services
of its clients’ assets. The Group enters into custody agreements
with the customers and provides the trust and custody services
for their assets. The types of assets custodied under this business
include digital assets and fiat currencies. In general, the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits as the Group
performs. As such, revenue from trust and custody services is
calculated on a monthly basis and is recognised over time as
services are rendered.
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A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations from
contracts with customers

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
March 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

Wrgm « EL{UT A ~ U5 e
((Eﬁ)?a) ,%gﬁﬁﬁ“llﬁﬂ

PEREEFENZHETROERME
MR 5E

AR RER_E_NE=ZR=1+—
H: DEREEHTBOSE CRBTHIE D X
BT MR ZEBEEEUWT !

2025 2024

ZEZHE —EIEE

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHET FAET

Amounts expected to be recognised as  TEHARESR A N A RE ¢

revenue:

Within one year —FR 169,810 444,360

After one year —F% 36,238 123,028

206,048 567,388

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the amounts of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations which are
expected to be recognised as revenue in the above table relate
to foundation, building construction works and ancillary services,
of which the performance obligations are expected to be satisfied
within two years. All the other amounts of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations are expected
to be recognised as revenue within one year and is not disclosed
under practical expedients in HKFRS 15. The amounts disclosed
above do not include variable consideration which is constrained.

RIBEZAFERZIZEZINF=A=4+—
B> EXRPDEEF NEANSTEERE
BEABRBENXZESEAME \BTE
RTREMCERBER HHhENEEHE
AR MERNBT DEEHR TERNET
mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ%%m—imﬁ
RAWE BUERES B ERES2ER
FISHNERET HEERIRE o Eaitif
ESHEIOESRNERE.

BR ERERERAT
“EREER

21



218

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

oA
b =]

AR R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the CODM. The CODM considers the
business from a product/service perspective. Principal activities of
the segments are as follows:

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group identified its
construction wastes handling services as discontinued operation
upon disposal of Joint Wealth Global Limited and its subsidiary,
Chung Shun Construction Limited, on 22 December 2023. The
segment information report below does not included any amounts
from the discontinued operation.

Continuing operations:

(@  Foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services: Provision of site formation works, excavation and
lateral support, piling construction, pile caps or footing
construction and reinforced concrete structure works,
building construction works and ancillary services mainly
included hoarding and demolition works and lease of
machinery;

(b)  Digital assets related businesses: Provision of 1) proprietary
trading in digital assets; and 2) trust and custody services;

(c)  Technical services: Provision of the Group’s on-chain
anti-money laundering solution (Onchain AML), on-chain
monitoring solution (Chaintelligence), APl (Application
Programming Interface) and other I.T. development services;
and

(d)  Other businesses: 1) investment in securities; and 2) lending
business which includes the Group’s money lending business
carried out in Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

Discontinued operation:

(@ Construction wastes handling services: Provision of
management and operation of public fill reception facilities,
including public fill banks and temporary construction waste
sorting facilities, for construction and demolition materials.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. Unallocated income,
unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs and income tax
expenses/credit are not included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except unallocated bank balances and cash and other
unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, amounts due
to former subsidiaries, loan from a related party, amount due to a
related party and other unallocated liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segment information (continued)

5l|(51§

L4
"'

H AU A ~ Was B

§518) B R D EFEE

(&)

RESHER (@

Continuing operations
REEEER
Foundation,
building
construction Digital assets
works and related Technical Other
ancillary services businesses services businesses Total
HEBFRE H7EE
IRREERS %S BAARES Hih## it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFiEn FEw FiET T TR
Year ended 31 March 2025 HEZS-EESRA=+-HLEE
Revenue g
External revenue SRR 359,021 61,714 3,068 205 424,028
Cost of sales BEMA (304,593) (27,460) (2,931) (11) (334,995)
Reversal of impairment losses (mpairment losses) ~ £REERANEEZ

on financial assets and contract assets, net RERREE (REHE) 38 (7,213) 10 2 7,237 3%
Segment results DHEE 41,215 34,264 139 7,451 89,069
Unallocated income, gains and (losses), net FARMA WER BE) 38 4,462
Unallocated corporate expenses FRBEARME (108,292)
Finance costs MERK (1,785)
Loss before income tax KA HATRE (16,546)
Income tax expenses FrisipX (290)
Loss for the year ERER (16,836)
Other profit and loss disclosures: HEiER REERE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERRENE 1,811 990 313 39 3,153
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets FRREENE 513 1,581 47 1,547 4,048

2,384 2,51 660 1,586 7,201
At 31 March 2025 RZE_R%=A=+-H
Segment assets NHEE 119,995 544,450 4,930 7,737 677,112
Unallocated assets FRAREE 3,233
Total assets EEQE 680,345
Additions to non-current assets: FERBEEEM.

Segment assets APEE 9,485 3475 492 2,851 16,303
Segment liabilties AHEE (93,228) (388,812) (107) (2,097) (484,244)
Unallocated fabilties FAEEE (3,034)
Amounts due to former subsidiaries FEF A B ATFIE (10,654)
Loan from a related party RE—AHEBHER (28,509)
Amount due to a related party R —2EBARE (4,287)
Total liabilties BEAE

8 (530,728)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5 Ui HAlg A ~ Uas &
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT (F548) BEER D EPE
INFORMATION (continued) (48)

. . . A e e
Operating segment information (continued) KEDEEE (&)
Continuing operations
HELEEY
Foundation,
building
construction Digital assets
works and related Technical Other
ancillary services businesses services businesses Total
HEBTRE YFEE \
TEREERS eSS AR HER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TiEx Fhw TR TEn FET
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE_B_ME-A=+-HILEE
Revenue ey
External revenue bl e 266,721 67,089 3,144 378 337,332
Cost of sales HERE (238,126) (30,290) (2,231) (479 (271,126)
Reversal of impairment losses (mpairment losses) on -~ &RMEERANEE 2 HEHEEE
financial assets and contract assets, net (RERSE) 38 4,465 152 (836) (11,622) (7.841)
Segment results NHEE 33,080 36,951 7 (11,729) 58,365
Unallocated income, gains and (losses), net FARMA WA (BE) 38 (902)
Unallocated corporate expenses FREARME (100,032)
Finance costs MERK (2,500)
Loss before income tex FRFSRAIEE (45,069
Income tax expenses FERES S
Loss for the year EREE (45,069)
Other profit and loss disclosures: HitrafRSERE |
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BRERRENE 1,707 1,700 825 37 4,269
Depreciation of right-of-Use assets TRELENE 573 1,621 352 1,572 4118
2,280 3,321 1177 1,609 8,387
At 31 March 2024 RZB_ME=A=+-A
Segment assets NEHEE 122,641 1,166,522 33214 2,680 1,325,057
Unallocated assets RAREE 8,237
Total assets BELE 1,333,204
Additions to non-current asset: FRBEERE .
Segment assets AHEE 1,004 390 438 30 1,862
Segment liabilities SKHaR (91,904) (982,228) (3,746) (710) (1,078,588)
Unallocated liabilties *nE&E (1,654)
Amounts due to former subsidiaries FEf B AT (16,942)
Loan from a related party RE-AHBHER 40,400)
Amount due to a related party EN—2E% LB (18,585)
Current income tax liabilities HEFEHaR (9.541)
Total liabilties BERE (1,165,710)

BR ERERERAT
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R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5 Ui H A Uik

gt = | g x77 = WS
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT (F548) BEE R D EPE
INFORMATION (continued) (48)
Operating segment information (continued) REFEER (@
Geographical information hE &k
Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is FERZIIRERWHERTHIZEEME
presented based on location of operation is as follows: 270 ¢
2025 2024
ZEZHE —ETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Continuing operations: REREET .
PRC FRE 9 2,024
Hong Kong 548 424,019 335,308
424,028 337,332
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented AEEZIFRBEERN D IREEME
based on the geographical location of the assets: e
2025 2024
—E-hRE —EIEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Continuing operations: FHEREET .
PRC FRE 144 925
Hong Kong 58 14,632 5,655
14,776 6,580
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A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5 Ui H{thUA ~ W B
AND (LOSSES), NET AND SEGMENT (E518) ‘BEA KR 5T BB E
INFORMATION (continued) (48)
Operating segment information (continued) KEDEEE (&)
Information about major customers BRFERRNER
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue REMAER KR EREBEIBI0%NE LI
of the Group are as follows: =T
2025 2024
—E_REF —Z U
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Customer A! ZERA 227,198 171,793
Customer B =EB! 65,843 N/AZ 48 A2
Customer C! =HEC N/ARE 2 37,162
1 Revenue from foundation, building construction works and ancillary . KEMEBE - BFEETIRELMEERBHUWK
services. o
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total Z HERW RGN EE B T BIE10%
revenue of the Group.
FINANCE COSTS 6 FMIERL

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs from continuing operations

FEBFBEEMHFREDTNT

is as follows:
2025 2024
—EBTHEF —ZE2 U
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGNE 176 108
Interest on loan from a related party rE—% Eﬁﬁﬁ‘?’i BRAE 1,609 2,392
1,785 2,500

BR ERERERAT
“EREER
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R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

7 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax from continuing operations is arrived at

PRFR1S

ARS8

REFECERT ZFRATERAIGRE

after charging: PRIUATRIBZBER .
2025 2024
ZEZHE —ETmF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET
Auditor’s remuneration Z BTN &
— Audit services —ZE RS 2,360 1,400
— Non-audit services —IFZ RS 240 350
2,600 1,750
Staff costs including directors’ BTHA BEEEME
emoluments (Note 8) (Hiz#8) 100,850 86,450
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERREBITE
plant and equipment 3,153 4,269
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE
(Note 16) (Htz£16) 4,048 4,118
Expenses relating to short-term leases and 5 8AfH & & E il E1ERARE X
other leases (Note 16) (Htz16) 9,209 706
Exchange loss, net (include in other PERETE 35 (BERHEM
expenses) X A) 1,504 778

The following items are included in net (reversal of impairment
losses) impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets,
net:

— impairment losses on trade receivables,
net

— impairment losses (reversal of impairment —&#E E R ERE CRlEEE

losses) on contract assets, net £2[ol) %8

— (reversal of impairment losses) impairment — I & 7k Gl & &5 18 5 [3))

losses on loan receivables, net PEREY SEi=PeE-E
— reversal of impairment losses on other

receivables, net

—B S RWRTUR BB RF R

UTEEEREEREERGNEE (K
BEFBEER) BREBERFERN

—H A FEWGR IR R B R 1R B [P 4R

— reversal of impairment losses on amount — & UK BAZE 75 3R 1B B (B 5 18 # (0]

due from related parties

— recovery of trade receivables previously
written off

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report
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7,391 (5,762)
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(2,084) =
(36) 7,841
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS

An analysis of the Group’s employee benefit expenses from

8 ESEMAN BEES
il &

FEBFBREEXBNREERMNAZ M

continuing operations is as follows: wr
2025 2024
“EhEF —EZNE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e RoREL 96,999 81,911

Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEHERR

— defined contribution plan —ERRHMNEE 3,851 4,539
100,850 86,450

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the
scheme are held separately from the Group under independently
administered funds. Contributions to the MPF scheme follow the
MPF Schemes Ordinance.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are required to participate in a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The Group is required
to contribute a certain percentage of basic payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme.

FEBRBRHIM AT (REE)) 5t8
HOIMEE EEBRA CRMNEE -
ZABETHREEERBIESEER
BAEENEESRFE SR TEIM
IR REE 5t BRI ANIT o

AEERTEKLIINNBATDNREERS
SRR EBAFEFNEZRKEREE -
AEBARZRRENFEBGEERT
ERAMNETEDL  URHMR - -AEH
WRAREHNFHZE—SERBFEIED

FREB MR °

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER
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R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EFEMRED
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EFRFETHRASME
emoluments
The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for BFEERFETHRAEREEZZR
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 is set out below: “HRERZE_NME=ZB=+—H
IEFENMEETINT -
Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits  Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
HE 2 RIRETE
ik REWEF BIETEAL (EEZEEN st
Year ended HE_Z-RE HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2025 =A=+—HLEE TR TR FHER FHET TR
Executive directors RITEE
Mr. Ren Yunan FRBEE (THRE)
(Chief executive officer) 600 2,475 413 37 3,525
Mr. Zhang Chao RBALE 600 2,220 1,477 131 4,428
Non-executive directors EHTES
Mr. Tang Yue i - - - 600
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang REIRYE 600 - - - 600
Ms. Liang Jing Yan (‘Ms. Liang’) (note) &8 %+ (TR ) (#1a2) 164 - - - 164
Independent non-executive BIFRTES
directors
Mr. Jiang Guoliang BERLE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lee Man Chiu FXREE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Zhouxin FEMEE 240 - - - 240
3,284 4,695 1,890 168 10,037

Note: Ms. Liang was appointed as non-executive director with effect from

23 December 2024.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EFEMRED @
DIRECTORS (continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EBRFETHASME
emoluments (continued) (4&)
Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e Rl RIREHE
ik KRENET BIBTEAL BEHR st
Year ended HEZZ-mE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2024 ZAZt+-BLFE THAT TR TAT THAT THAT
Executive directors RITESR
Mr. Ren Yunan ABBEE (THEH)

(Chief executive officer) 600 2,846 - 43 3,489
Mr. Zhang Chao REBLE 600 1,537 - 182 2,319
Non-executive directors FaTES
Mr. Tang Yue E#TE 600 - - - 600
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang HETIRE 600 - - - 600
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITESR
Mr. Jiang Guoliang BRERLE 240 - = = 240
Mr. Lee Man Chiu e 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Zhouxin FEAMEE 240 - - - 240

3,120 4,383 - 225 7,728
During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments were BHE_ZHRFE=-A=+—HItF
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join B> ANEB B E E T E R BN
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of EOFAMAREENMAERER
office (2024: Nil). Neither the chief executive nor any of the BHREBNEABEBMEE CZ2OM
directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments F .\ REE_Z_AF=A8
during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). =t+—HIEFE BIETETHRA

ERNEANEETREXNREZHE W
EEME (CE2IHF 8| o

The emoluments of executive directors were for their services HWITEENMEAREMBEELRR
in connection with the management of the affairs of the B AEBEEFAIRENRTE - IF
Company and the Group. The emoluments of non-executive WITESRBILEFNTEEZME
directors and independent non-executive directors were for TR EFAR AR ESMEHZ
their services as the directors of the Company. RIS M2 AT ©

BOR R TR /A E]
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9

DIRECTORS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals during the year ended 31
March 2025 include one (2024: one) of the director whose
emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments in respect
of the remaining four (2024: four) individuals are as follows:

EFEMNREx @

(b) AREREFHMAL

BHE_Z_RE=-RB=+—HIE
ErigmeimmMALTaE—% (C
TINE ) BEECEFINN L
XiEE BB TOA (ZE M

F M%) ALZHBNT ¢

2025 2024

—E-RHE “EZE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Salaries and allowances e RoREE 17,210 10,407
Discretionary bonuses FYIBTEAL 9,062 13,797
Retirement scheme contributions BAREHEH =R 60 72
26,332 24,276

The emoluments of the highest paid individuals who are not
the directors of the Company fell within the following bands:

WIERBEFZESFMALZ

#BN T F LT EE -

Number of individuals

Emolument bands (in HKS)

HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000
HK$7,000,001 — HK$7,500,000
HK$7,500,001 — HK$8,000,000

HK$10,500,001 — HK$11,000,000

N E (B

3,000,001 7T %E3,500,000 7T
3,500,001 70 24,000,000 7T
4,500,001 %70 %5,000,000 7T
5,500,00178 7T £6,000,00078 7T
7,000,001 7T E7,500,0007% 7T
7,500,001 7T 8,000,000 7T

10,500,001 7 75 & 11,000,0007 7T -

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no individual of the
above was paid by the Group (i) as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or (i) as compensation for loss of

office as a director or management of any members of the

Group (2024 Nil).
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ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The amounts of income tax expenses from continuing operations
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represent:

0 FhiFIF

#

in

e iR A Hfth 2 [ W e & 2R B AR
ERBHPMSMAS K

2025 2024
“E-HEF T e
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET

Hong Kong profits tax: EHEFE
— Under-provision in prior years —BEFEEREBERE 290 -
Deferred income tax IRIEFRTSIR - =
Income tax expenses FRSTRm 290 -

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit arising in or
derived from Hong Kong for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
No provision of PRC Enterprise Income Tax was made as the PRC
subsidiaries have incurred tax losses for both years.

BE_T_IE=-A=+—HLEE &
EEEMNEBELEIREETBNMGE
FERIREFRINZE16.6% (ZEZMF :
16.6%) stIRE B GMER -

RBEPEARAMBEGEMRGIRE (TR
FRIGIE)) REZEFRRIRIAERMEA > 10
W AEF > REIM B AR E25% °
PRmEEERN > BRI E QR EE
EMEBR HLEFIRPEEEMRS
e

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 10

The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax
rate as follows:

FRiSH T (@)

AEBRFASRABRNRNERAERER
AERREMEENERSEZEMNELE
L

2025 2024

ZEZRF —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Loss before income tax FRPTISIRATES 18 (16,546) (45,069)
Calculated at domestic tax rate of 16.5% BRI ZE16.5%1 &

(2024: 16.5%) (ZEZMYE :16.5%) (2,730) (7,436)
Income not subject to tax BIERR I A (3,895) 2,212)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A rJH1#2 R 6,018 3,328
Tax effect of temporary differences not ARG ER R E

recognised 313 569
Tax losses not recognised KRR IBEE 3,500 7,932
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BN oAl R SR IEAS 1B

recognised (1,590) (1,783)
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETE 290 =
Different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEEERE 2

operating in other jurisdiction B ARz AREMRE (1,616) (398)
Income tax expenses i8R 290 =

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$135 million (2024: approximately HK$184
million) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately HK$10 million
(2024 approximately HK$70 million) that will expire within 5 years.
Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATION 11 BERLLREES
On 22 December 2023, the Group entered into a sale and AR —F+"HZ+H &TE&EH
purchase agreement to dispose of the entire equity interests of BB SE UWHESERIKBRAT
Joint Wealth Global Limited (“Joint Wealth”), an indirect wholly- 581 FEARZEEZ2ENBLAR)
owned subsidiary of the Company, and its subsidiary, Chung Shun RENBABSEEERERAR HiBT&
Construction Limited (collectively, “Joint Wealth Group”) which EEE)  HETAEBRZFBEREY
carried out all of the Group’s construction wastes handling services IR X - ETHELARER KK
operation. The disposal was effected in order to devote more BERMEBNELERREBENEFTEMZ
resources and efforts to focus on other core business segments for DEEDE-HEER _E=F+_#
the Group’s future development. The disposal was completed on “+IHEM-BEH aEZEG#EEE
22 December 2023, on which date control of Joint Wealth passed BYIWEBAXBIZERERAT ((EE) »
to the acquirer, Colour Trend Holdings Limited (“Colour Trend”), a ZARA—RHATXERETHBASZE
related company direct wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Wing Chung RFEEMUKREE (BRAE) BEREERE
(“Mr. Chan”), a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group then. BB AT
The profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 from the discontinued BE_Z_NMFE=-BA=+—HIFE ¥k
construction wastes handling services operation is set out below. BERLRERREYREREER A
MEFW T o
01/04/2023
to
22/12/2023
TET=F
mA—H=
TEI=F
+_ﬁ _-f—_ =
HK$'000
FAET
Loss of construction wastes handling services AR E Y R IEAR TS £ B8
operation for the period (8,344)
Gain on disposal of construction wastes handling HEREEYRERB =B WG (1Wi734)
services operation (Note 34) 12,514
Profit for the period from discontinued operation REBRIERESES 2 HBARAN 4170
BRI EEERERAE

“EREFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

11

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
(continued)

The results of the construction wastes handling services operation
for the period from 1 April 2023 to 22 December 2023, which have
been included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, were as follows:

11 BRIEREERE @

RIE_=ZFWNA—HE_T=F+=_
AT+ HHRE BEBEYRERE XS
2 ¥ Bt AGRc R kREMEE I
=AW

01/04/2023

to

22/12/2023

—E=%F

mMmA—H=E

+ZA=+=H

HK$'000

FAET

Revenue W 100

Expenses sz (7,561)

Finance costs BB AL AR (883)

Loss before income tax FRPTIERBIES 1B (8,344)

Income tax credit SRk R S

Loss for the period FANESIR (8,344)

Loss for the period from discontinued operation R EH B4R I E£FF 2 HHRNEE @i
includes the following: T3EAR :

Loss on change in fair value of financial assets at fair AT ETABRZ SHEEATEES)

value through profit or loss 518 6

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME- -BERRBITE 2622

Staff costs BIMmAK 2,987

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATION 11 BRIEKEET @)
(continued)
Cash flows for the period from discontinued operation: FARREBARILEREEF ZIRESRE .
01/04/2023
t0 22/12/2023
—E=%F
mA—H=E
B =
+ZHA=+=H
HK$ 000
FET
Net cash used in operating activities KRBT RIRE 3R (200)
Net cash used in investing activities SE R PTAIRE R S
Net cash used in financing activities MEEBFTAIRE R S
The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Joint Wealth SEEECEEREGENEEHBRZERE
Group at the date of disposal are disclosed in note 34. BERMIEE34 IR EE

BN E R A R A S
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AR RME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

=40
12 LOSS PER SHARE 12 BARRE5IA
(a) Basic loss per share (@) BREFEE
From continuing operations REGEREER
The calculation of the basic loss per share from continuing KRBHEBABGREBFERSE X
operations attributable to owners of the Company is based B EREXRBENDBRBUTE#IE
on the following data: 58
2025 2024
ZZThHE —EmEF
Loss for the year attributable to ATV NEILERN
owners of the Company (HK$'000) k518 (T &71) (15,750) (40,303)
Less: Profit for the year from B RBE PR ISEER Y ER
discontinued operation (HK$'000) wmX (FE7T) - (4,170)
Loss for the purpose of basic REFERESEXBF 2 EBRER
loss per share from continuing BB B8R
operations (HK$'000) (F#7T) (15,750) (44,473)
Weighted average number of ordinary #ist @SR EXREGEZ ER
shares in issue during the year for ~ BE{TEEEE 2 MEFEE (FA)
the purpose of calculating basic
loss per share (in thousana) 5,370,510 5,370,510
Basic loss per share from continuing R BEFE&E K 2 ERER
operations (HK Cents) 18 CE1) (0.29) (0.83)
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ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

12 LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
(@) Basic loss per share (continued)

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic loss per share from continuing
and discontinued operations attributable to the owners of the

12 §iRE518 (@)
(@) SREXEE @
KEFERERBRILEEER

FABHEE ABEREFBEEER
ERIEEEXHF ZSREXEET

Company is based on the following data: BRUTEIRSE
2025 2024
ZEZEHE ZE UL
Loss attributable to owners of the ~ AAFHEE AEERBIFELSE K&
Company from continuing and ERIEEEE T B8 (F &7
discontinued operations (HK$'000) (15,750) (40,303)
Weighted average number of M BEBREABEEZERN
ordinary shares in issue during BETEER ZNEFSH (FK)
the year for the purpose of
calculating basic loss per share
(in thousana) 5,370,510 5,370,510
Basic loss per share from continuing 2R BIFEAE R EBA& IFKEEFRKE 2
and discontinued operations SREREIE (Bl
(HK Cents) (0.29) (0.75)
From discontinued operation REBARILKREER

For the year ended 31 March 2024, basic earnings per share
for the discontinued operation is HKO0.08 cents per share,
based on the profit for the period from the discontinued
operation of approximately HK$4,170,000 and the
denominators detailed above for basic loss per share.

(b) Diluted loss per share

No separate diluted loss per share information has been
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares
outstanding issue for both years.

HE_Z_WE=ZRB=+—HLE
E ERIEREXF 2ERELR
F A& RR0.0878l > THER BAR L
EER ZHAREFA 54,170,000
TR E GG H B IR E AR
EBNHBtE-

(b) =iEFEIE
Fi S 7 14 B2 PO B AR 4 1 BT 7E

BEERER Rt EEB2E
SR IRER o

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER
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R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

13 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2025:

Name

G

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
AL R
Rt EERER

Principal activities

TBEY

13 FEMBAR

N TETHF=A=+—HZFENBA

BRENMT

Particulars of
issued share
capital/registered
capital
BETRE,/
MBS

Percentage of

interest held

P EE S

2025 2024
ZZCERE —EopEE

Progressive Building & Foundation

Company Limited

ZEETHEERAT

OKG Financial Services Limited

B EREHREERAR

OKG Global Investment Limited

BHERRRGERRAR
OKLink Trust Limited

BRZRERERAD

OKLink Investment Holdings Limited

OKLink Investment Holdings Limited

OKLink Fintech Limited
OKLink Fintech Limited
MetaStar Trading Limited

MetaStar Trading Limited

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited

2025 Annual Report

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

&8 ARAF

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
&8 BRRF

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

&8 ARAF

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

B8 BRAF

British Virgin Islands
('BVI), limited
liability company

HBELHE

(@R
&1) > BIRAT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
&8 BRAF

BVI, limited liability
company

HEEYLHE
BRAT

Provision of foundation engineering works, building  Ordinary share HK$100
construction works and project management

business in Hong Kong
REBRUHETR EFREIR
RIEEBELH
Money lending business
MEXH
Investment holding
REER

Trust and custody services

EERFERS

Investments in securities

Technology services
KRR
Trading in digital assets

EER100ET

Ordinary share
HK$136,000,000
E3%7136,000,000% 7
Ordinary share HK$100
BiER1005BTT
Ordinary share

HK$5,000,000
85,000,000

Ordinary share
HK$390,000

E8%390,000% 10

Ordinary share
HK$1,000,000
E3@R%1,000,0008 7T
Ordinary share US$50,000

E3BR50,000% 7T

100% (indirect) 100% (indirect)

100% (R#)  100% (B#2)
100% (direct)  100% (direct)
100% (E#%)  100% ()
100% (direct)  100% (direct)
100% (E#%)  100% (B#%)
20% (direct) 20% (direct)
80% (indirect)  80% (indirect)
20% (E1%) 20% (B1%)
80% (F1%) 80% (%)

100% (direct)  100% (direct)

100% (%)  100% (B#%)

100% (indirect) 100% (indirect)

100% (R#%)  100% (B
100% (direct)  100% (direct)
100% (%)  100% (B
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

13 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 13 X E[MEB AT (@)

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued share
establishment and capital/registered Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities capital interest held
SEMRALIL R E BETRE/
SR RiEEBRER TEXH HEE RS FrfsEa At
2025 2024
ZECRE ZZEE
Shenzhen OKG Network PRC, limited liability Technology services HK$60,000,000 (has been 100% (indirect) 100% (indirect)
Technologies Co., Ltd.* company paid up)
AITEREREEREERAT  FE BRAT RAARTS 60,000,007 (BEHE) 100% ()  100% (E#)
Jiangsu OKG Network Technologies ~ PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB10,000,000 N/A RiER 100% (indirect)
Co., Ltd.* company (RMB8,000,000 has been
paid up)
IHRRZREERRARAD  HE ARAH AR AE10,000,0007T N/A RER 100% ()
(AE¥8,000,0007cEA
)
Beijing OKG Network Technologies ~ PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 (has been N/A R 100% (indirect)
Co., Ltd.* company paid up)
TRENEREERRERAT  FE BRAT RKfinhR AR #20,000,0007T N/A REF 100% ()
(B8R
ShangHai OKG Technologies Co., PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 N/A RiER 100% (indirect)
Ltd.* company (RMB5,000,000 has been
paid up)
LERERERERRARAD  HE ARAH AR AR 20,000,0007T N/A RER 100% ()
(AE¥5,000,0007cEA
)
Beijing CAS OKG Technology PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB18,000,000 89% (Indirect)  80% (indirect)
Co., Ltd* company (2024: RMB20,000,000)
(RMBB8,250,000 has been
paid up)
BRAREBRBRERAS FE BIRAF Bt AR #18,000,0007T 89% (%) 80% (FE%)
(CEmE: ARE
20,000,0007%)
(NE#8,250,0007
28R
Jinan OKLink Technology Co., Ltd.*  PRG, limited liability Technology services RMB100,000,000 N/A RiEA 80% (indirect)
company (RMB4,000,000 has been
paid up)
ERREREREERAR FE BRAT iR AE100,0000007c  N/A RER 80% (#)
(AE#4,000,0007
28

BN B IER AR AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

13

14

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Note:

The operations of all subsidiaries are the same as the place of incorporation,
except that those subsidiaries registered in BVI are primarily operated in Hong

Kong.

Hainan OKG Network Technologies Co., Ltd. was dissolved during the year
ended 31 March 2024. Jinan OKLink Technology Co., Ltd., Jiangsu OKG Network
Technologies Co., Ltd., ShangHai OKG Technologies Co., Ltd. and Beijing OKG
Network Technologies Co., Ltd. were dissolved during the year ended 31 March
2025.

For other subsidiaries not disclosed in the above table, those subsidiaries are
inactive and insignificant to the Group.

The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non-controlling interests for

both years.

* English translation of the name of Chinese companies is provided for

identification purpose only.

DIVIDENDS

No interim dividend was declared for the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024 Nil).

No final dividend was proposed by the Board for the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024 Nil).

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

15 W% - BmER=E

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
and Leasehold and office Motor
equipment  improvements equipment vehicles Total
HE i %E
WERRE MEEE  RBAZRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr FERT ThEr Thr THr
Cost N
At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FNF—H 39,936 5,402 8,265 13,083 66,686
Additions RE 204 S 436 800 1,440
Disposals/written off HE /M - (165) (68) - (233)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (35,131) (862) (1,501) (10,083) (47,557)
Exchange adjustments EREE - (7) (234) - (241)
At 31 March 2024 RIZZME=A=1+—H 5,009 4,368 6,898 3,820 20,095
Accumulated depreciation RHIE
At 1 April 2023 RIZEZ=FNF—H 33919 3,330 5,617 9,463 52,329
Charge for the year FRZH 2,630 1,477 1,175 1,609 6,891
Disposals/written off HE /M - (165) (57) - (222)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (32,341) (862) (1,491) (8,465) (43,159)
Exchange adjustments EREE - (7) (168) - (175)
At 31 March 2024 RIZE_ME=A=+-H 4,208 3,773 5,076 2,607 15,664
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2024 RIEZME=R=1+—H 801 595 1,822 1,213 4431
Cost DS
At 1 April 2024 RZEZMEMA—H 5,009 4,368 6,898 3,820 20,095
Additions AE 7,587 92 327 179 8,185
Disposals/written off HE/HisH (1,350) - (4,365) - (5,715)
Exchange adjustments EQEE - - (15) = (15)
At 31 March 2025 RIEZHRE=A=+—H 11,246 4,460 2,845 3,999 22,550
Accumulated depreciation REE
At 1 April 2024 RIZZNENE—R 4,208 3,773 5,076 2,607 15,664
Charge for the year (Note 7) FRZE W7 1,075 611 746 721 3,153
Disposals/written off HE /Wi (1,080) - (4,074) - (5,154)
Exchange adjustments EREE - - (13) = (13)
At 31 March 2025 RIEZRF=A=+—H 4,203 4,384 1,735 3,328 13,650
Net book value IREEE
At 31 March 2025 RZZE_RE=A=+-H 7,043 76 1,110 671 8,900

During the year ended 31 March 2025, depreciation expense of

property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$1,075,000
(2024: approximately HK$1,025,000) had been included in cost of
sales from continuing operations.

BHE_ZE_AF=RA=1+—HLEFEY

¥ BERREITERZA1,075,0008 7T
(ZZ P04 © 491,025,000 7T) Bst A

REFERSSEE ZHEMA -

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER

239



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B EZE_—Z_ A5 =H=

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND

LEASES LIABILITIES

+—HLEFE

(@) Amounts recognised in the (a)
consolidated statement of financial

position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

16 EFAEREEREEAE

RiFaMBIRRARERZE

i

mEMBRKRRBERUATREE

following amounts relating to leases: 2z &%8
2025 2024
ZZThHE “ET U
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Office premises LEYNES 5,676 1,949
Lease liabilities HEaRE
Lease liabilities payable: EGiEEaE:
— Within one year ——FR 3,663 1,892
— Within a period of more than —BE—FEfBREmE
one year but not exceeding
two years 1,731 108
— Within a period of more than —BemEErBEASF
two years but not exceeding
five years 347 S
5,741 2,000
Less: Amount due for settlement BORBEEE TN+ ZEAR
within 12 months shown FfEE 2 E5E
under current liabilities (3,663) (1,892)
Amount due for settlement after 12 FERENBEE AR+ ZEAEE
months shown under non-current  HAfE38 2 %8
liabilities 2,078 108

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
LEASES LIABILITIES (continued)

16 %ﬁﬁ?*&ﬁé&*ﬂ%ﬁﬁ

(a) Amounts recognised in the (@) MEESHBIRRKRERZE

consolidated statement of financial
position (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the additions to
right-of-use assets in relation to new offices premises
leased amounted to approximately HK$8,118,000 (2024:
HK$422,000). Respective lease liabilities of approximately
HK$8,118,000 (2024: HK$422,000) have been recognised.

The Groups leases various office premises. Lease contracts
are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
certain not to exercise a termination option, upon the
occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change
in circumstances that is within the control of the lessee.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group early
terminated a lease after consideration of the usage of the
office premises. During the year ended 31 March 2024, there
is no such triggering event. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024,
all leases by the Group do not have extension option.

2 (|

BHEZE_HRF=A=+—HIF
B> BAEMmmAMERRNGER
BB ERELNA8,118,0008 7T (=
T TPOEE 1 422,000 7T) o HEAHEE
B 15498,118,000/8 7T (Z T I .
422,000/%71:) B

AEEBHEETHAYE-HES
H—REE IR A2E3F - HE RN
DEEMNER FHE TEaEE
1B B9 6% 7R e M8 4 o BR L AR PR
HMEBEENFREERIN HEHZR
G i N A (R 22 58 ©

IEoh > B2 EABAFTERINER
ERABEREREREHF > &
EgEMTHREcERESS
TR -BE_E_AF=
B=+—HLEFE x&EFEEE
MAMENBRBRERKIEAE

BE_Z_NF=B=+—HLF
B UiEZEREEF - R - -4
FRZFZZHF=ZA=+—H %K
EENFEREY FEIEREERE-

BN EEIERARAT
“EREFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
LEASES LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the

16 %ﬁﬁ?*&ﬁfé&*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ

(b) RiFEEmKMEMEENE

consolidated statement of profit or REFDZEXE
loss and other comprehensive income
2025 2024
ZZThHE “ET U
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  EREEEFEMS
assets
— Office premises — R 4,048 4,118
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 176 108
Loss on early termination of lease IR B4R IETAEE1E 356 -
Expenses relating to short-term BIGHATEE
leases (Note 7) Rz Waz7) 9,209 706

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
machinery and equipment and warehouses. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, the increase in short-term
leases expenses is primarily due to the additional leases
for machinery and equipment on site for the current project
of foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash
outflow for leases was approximately HK$13,774,000 (2024:
approximately HK$5,167,000).

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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FERERBRIRBRRERE
EREREEAN - BE_T

FZR=+T—HLEE BHEE
FRXHIEMEEZRNEE A ME
BFRERIEREERBEEME
LB RRERRZEINEERR
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

Money Other
lenders intangible
licence assets Total
HEA Hit
haER BEE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Cost A
At 1 April 2023 A ZEZ-FNA—H 430 13,366 13,796
Exchange adjustments [ERRAE - (228) (228)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZEME=A=+—-Hk
2 MEMA—H 430 13,138 13,568
Exchange adjustments ERREE = (47) (47)
At 31 March 2025 RIBZRFE=A=+—H 430 13,091 13,521
Accumulated amortisation and impairment RtEHERRE
At 1 April 2023 RZET=FNA—H 230 13,366 13,596
Exchange adjustments ERREE - (228) (228)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIZZME=F=1+—H
kZEZMFENA—H 230 13,138 13,368
Exchange adjustments EREE = (47) (47)
At 31 March 2025 RIZEZAF=F=+—H 230 13,091 13,321
Net book value RS (E
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=A=+—-H 200 - 200
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_MNE=A=+—H 200 - 200

Other intangible assets represent (i) speech emotion recognition

system licence; and (i) big data analysis techniques licence which

were related to the technical services business.

Hthim & E5()

fTHRAR °

EBEBERIRAER
Re(ii) B E AT AR 5 F S B BBV RBIBR DT i

eSS

BIERARAT
“EREFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 18 €T E5%E
CATEGORY
2025 2024
—ERE —E_NE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HREER AT ENEREE 190,067 121,239
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFABGNESREE
- digital assets (Note 21) —HFEE (Wa#21) 37,732 28,539
Financial assets at FVPL BRAFEF ARG EREE
— other financial assets (Note 22) —HihEmEE Bete2) 17,370 19,336
Total #ast 245,169 169,114
Financial liabilities ERBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BB E AT ENEREaE 230,646 283,032
Lease liabilities HEaRE 5,741 2,000
236,387 285,032

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 E 5 N H{thFEURERSk

2025 2024

—ECRE = hgysfe

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Trade receivables (Notes (a) and (b)) B 5 EWERTR (05E(a)% (b)) 60,374 28,036
Less: Provision for impairment losses R EREEE (4,248) (5,685)
56,126 22,351

Loan receivables (Note (c)) EBUE R (H15tc) 21,773 27,915
Less: Provision for impairment losses B OREEIEERE (21,773) (27,915)
Prepayment to suppliers T FHERPI TN RIS - 13,607

Other receivables, deposits and HMEWRRIE 25 R FETHRIE

prepayments (Notes (d) and (g)) HizEd) % () 12,341 16,381
12,341 29,988

68,467 52,339

244 O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers
were approximately HK$15,409,000.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out in note 3.1.

Notes:

Trade receivables are past due when a counterparty has failed to make a
payment when contractually due. The credit period granted to customers
is 7 to 75 days generally.

19 B B R EMBUERT (@)

TR =FHA—H REXREHAN
B 7 LR A0 715,409,000/ 7T ©

BE_ZE_AFR-E_NF=/A=+—
B - 8 5 K H A FE R BRFUR B 5T 5%
BB KIS 10

Mzt -

(@)

ERFHTEREGNIHEZCRNE E5
FEWRRREAR A AR - BT EENEERE—
BRA7TETSH -

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the date of payment (o) ERERHANMNREESAHAHNZEZAHEMN
certificate issued by customers or invoice date is as follows: S EWERRBIERE DT -
2025 2024
—EZHE = it 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
0-30 days 0ZE30H 55,625 16,563
31-60 days 31E60H - 76
61-90 days 61E90H - 6,051
Over 90 days B0 H 4,749 5,346
60,374 28,036
As at 31 March 2025, trade receivables of approximately HK$4,749,000 RIEZRF=A=+—H > BZEWERX
(2024 approximately HK$5,328,000) were past due. i’]4 749 OOO,%TE (ZZ U4 : 495,328,000
ABT) BEEER -
The Group’s loan receivables arise from the money lending business. (© ﬂS%EI‘ZL@Ll&g?\X%QEﬂZE%?%W%HKE?A
The loan receivables are mainly secured by personal guarantee. All of the FEHBAERIER Fﬁﬁﬁgﬂﬁigi
loan receivables are overdue based on contractual maturity date as at 31 —HFE=BA=1+—HRBESHNHH EI E@
March 2025. All the loan receivables are entered with contractual maturity HHePmBRERKRERZ— iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ #EARRET
within 1 to 2 years. Loan receivables are interest-bearing at a rate range o ERWEFRBRENENTE%E12% (ZF
from 5% to 12% per annum (2024: from 5% to 12% per annum). I FRERNFERE12%) FTRE©
As at 31 March 2025, the gross amount of other receivables was (d) RIEZHEFE=B=+—H > EthERRE
approximately HK$10,675,000 (2024: approximately HK$13,479,000) and 48EEX9 410,675,000 7T (ZF 04 . ﬁ’ﬂ
the allowance for expected credit loss was approximately HK$172,000 13,479,000 7T) AEHEEREEENS
(2024: approximately HK$592,000). 172,000 7T (2 ZJ94E : #9592,00038 7T) ©
The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain (e) B REMBWEREFRAREMEN T AE S
impaired assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. EREEE AEETRSEEAIKFRIE
RER
Included in the trade receivables, there are gross amount of approximately U] B EWERFR T > 483849124,00078 7T (:’7E

HK$124,000 (2024: HK$280,000), HK$nil (2024: HK$140,000), HK$7,000
(2024: nil) and HK$22,000 (2024: nil) which are amounts due from Aux
Cayes FinTech Co. Ltd. (“Aux”), Li Canal Holdings Limited (“Li Canal”), OKX
Technology Service Pte Limited and OKG Ventures Limited, respectively.
OKC Holdings Corporation, the parent company of the Company, has
control in Aux, Li Canal, OKX Technology Service Pte Limited and OKG
Ventures Limited and so they are the fellow subsidiaries of the Group. The
amounts due are trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

ZPO4E 280,000 7T) ~ BHETT (:

£ 1 140,00077T) ~ 7,000 7T (Z Efﬁ
=) %22,0008 7T (ZE P94 ﬁ) bagallbs)
FEUAUx Cayes FinTech Co. Ltd. (FAuxJ)
Li Canal Holdings Limited (FLi CanalJ) ~
OKX Technology Service Pte Limited &zOKG
Ventures LimitedMfIE - R AT HEA
BJOKC Holdings Corporation## & Aux Li
Canal ~ OKX Technology Service Pte Limited 5z
OKG Ventures LimitedB9 #2614 > [RIE E &7k
EENRRANBAR -ZERURIBEEES
MEEIRE AR EEEEETREAR

BN EEERARAE
“EREFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

19

20

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(9) At at 31 March 2025, included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayment, there is gross amount of approximately HK$250,000 (2024:
Nil) which is amount due from Aux. The amount due is trade related, non-
interest bearing and has no fixed terms of repayment.

CONTRACT ASSETS AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

19 BB RHEMBUERT @)

Mzt (&)

@ MRIEBEZEF=ZA=+—H0 > HMtmEKX
BB RFAMMRIET  #83849250,00078 7T
(CZZME 8 BEURAUGRIE ° Z IR
RIEEE SR Tt R EEEE BRI

0 BNEBEERGHNAR

2025 2024

ZE-HE ZZ e

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Contract assets SHEE 63,682 75,378
Less: Provision for impairment losses BB (24,964) (29,421)
38,718 45,957

Contract liabilities BHEE 1,639 1,304

As at 1 April 2023, contract assets were approximately
HK$42,132,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on factors other than passage of time. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

Included in contract assets comprises retention receivables of
approximately HK$31,178,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
approximately HK$35,295,000), after recognition of impairment
loss of approximately HK$11,386,000 (2024: approximately
HK$5,762,000), the carrying amount of retention receivables
was approximately HK$19,792,000 (2024: approximately
HK$29,533,000).

Retention receivables represented the monies withheld by
customers of contract works fully recoverable within 1 to 2
years from the date of completion of construction contracts, in
accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts.
Generally, upon satisfactory completion of contract work as set out
in the contract, partial of the retention money of such contract work
will be released to the Group, while the remaining will be released to
the Group upon the expiration of the defects liability period.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

20 CONTRACT ASSETS AND

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

The retention receivables, before recognition of impairment loss,
would be settled, based on the expiry of the defect liability period,
at the end of the reporting period as follow:

SNEERSHAER @

KRR EBER  BRRBERNRE
HARER RS EHREREN I T

2025 2024

—EZEEF —E_NE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Within one year —FR 31,178 22,360
After one year —F& - 12,935
31,178 35,295

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out in note 3.1.

BE_Z_RERTHNE=ZRA=1+—
HIEFENGNEERET BRI
5310

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EREEEBUT
2025 2024
—E_REF —ETOE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Contract liabilities arising from: BHBEEER
Technology services R AT AR % 1,639 1,304

As at 1 April 2023, contract liabilities were approximately
HK$59,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue recognised that
included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the
year ended 31 March 2025 was approximately HK$1,304,000
(2024: approximately HK$59,000).

The decrease in contract assets was mainly due to the completion
of projects and certain contract assets were transferred to
trade receivables as the Group’s right to consideration for work
completed become unconditional. The increase in contract liabilities
was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received in
relation to the provision of technology services.

RZEZ=FHEA—B aHNERAS
59,0007 7T ©

Ek ﬁﬁfEEJrElthEr‘nJr
ZE%}JS%@%%%@%E@Eﬁﬁwuﬁzﬁﬁ%ﬁi‘%
1,304,000 70 (Z = U4 © £959,0005
JT) °

BRNEENCTEANER TR MAE
B 5 2 5o T2 BRI A JmARG
WETENEESBEEFRIRR &
,u’\]&TﬁiEBDEIKEEE’:\WHYEEQTETAHWI
AR5 Z AR AR EFIE NPT EL

BN EEIERARAT
“EREFR
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21

= s
DIGITAL ASSETS 21 BFEE
2025 2024
—ECRE —ETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Digital assets: BFEE
Proprietary digital assets EBYTEE
— recognised as inventories measured —RBRABE AT EFENE
at fair value less costs to sell SR HE A 379,844 1,094,542
— recognised as financial assets at —RB/E AT EFTAERDN
FVPL TRMEE 37,732 28,539
417,576 1,123,081
Among the digital assets balance, the digital assets totaling RBFEELEGT RNIEEHFENH

approximately US$53,677,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$417,576,000) (2024: approximately US$143,519,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,123,081,000)) held on the
Platform are measured either at fair value less costs to sell or FVPL.
They represent balance of digital assets attributable to the Group
mainly held in the commingled wallets of the relevant custodians of
the Platform. As at 31 March 2025, included in the digital assets
balance, there were digital assets with fair value of approximately
HK$407,175,000 (2024: approximately HK$908,018,000) held on
behalf by Aux which is a fellow subsidiary of the Group.

As at 31 March 2025, there were certain digital assets with fair
value of approximately US$4,038,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$31,416,000) (2024: approximately US$5,001,000) (equivalent
to approximately HK$39,132,000) received from and held on behalf
of the clients of the Group were safekeeping in the Group’s digital
assets wallets, segregated client wallets, sub-custodian and the
Platform. Based on the respective rights and obligations of the
Group and its clients under the contractual terms and conditions,
the digital assets held on behalf of the clients of the Group are not
recognised as the Group’s digital assets and hence there are no
corresponding digital asset liabilities under these arrangements. As
at 31 March 2025, included in digital assets received from and held
on behalf of the clients of the Group, there were digital assets with
fair value of approximately HK$28,887,000 (2024: approximately
HK$19,039,000) held on behalf of OKG Ventures Limited (2024: Li
Canal), a fellow subsidiary of the Group.

Details of the fair value measurement on digital assets are disclosed
in note 3.3.
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FEESH453,677,0005%7T FEER
#9417,576,000%7m) (ZZ2ZWUE 1 4
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BIT)) BRAFERBEERSFE2HER
FEFABR HIENFEMEETE AN
REREOTEREZAERRGHFTEE
Ep-N T _AE=ZRA=+—H %7F
EERBOERAEE—BRRKBAE
AR AR/ BAFEL A407,175,00078
7t (ZZE I © 49%4908,018,0008 7T) B9
HFEE-

RIZEZAF=R=+—H &5FQFE
#9734,038,000% 7t (B E 7*4931,416,000
%E)LV—EE #95,001,000% 7t (48
E 11 #939,132,0007 7)) BIFEU K X 3= 4
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22 AT EFAEEmZERM
BE

2025 2024
ZEZHE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Listed securities held for trading: FERS M LhE
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, — BB LTRAES  RRE
at quoted price - 209
— Equity securities listed outside Hong — BRI LTRAES  RIRE
Kong, at quoted price 390 654
— Listed investment fund, at quoted price — FHBEBEES > GRE 10,327 9,866
Wealth management products (Note (a) BRI E T (H15t(a)) 2,143 4,897
Unlisted investment fund (Note (b)) JEEMEEEE WD) 4,510 3,710
17,370 19,336

Details of the fair value measurement on financial assets at FVPL
are disclosed in note 3.3.

Notes:

(@) Wealth management products represent investments in short-term
financial products issued by banks in the PRC.

(b) The fair value is based on the net asset value of the investment fund as
of the end of the reporting period.

According to the subscription agreement, the Company committed
to subscribe for US$1,000,000 of the fund. As at 31 March 2025, the
remaining commitment was US$340,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,645,000) (2024: US$450,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,521,000)).

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the management of the Group expected
to sell the unlisted investment fund within twelve months after the end
of the reporting period and therefore the unlisted investment fund was
classified as current assets.

BATEHABEZ SMEEZ AT @
BB 53 S ER

Mzt -

@ EFERERPEORTETZIEHESMA
EmZiKE-

b)) AFENEREBEERSHRKEESZE
EFESE-

RERBEHEZ FATDAEIRBEES
1,000,000E T R_B_HRE=A=+—
B FlER R IEZEA340,000%E 7T (HBENY
2,645,000/ 7T) (ZZ ZIU4 : 450,000% 70
(FBE 1 493,521,000 7T) ) ©

RIEBE_RAFER-_ZE_NF=R=+—8>
FEREEBERNREARE+ B
AHEZFLHREES FILZIFLHR

BESDERRBEE-

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER
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23 TRUST BANK BALANCE HELD ON
BEHALF OF CUSTOMERS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held segregated bank accounts
amounting of approximately HK$247,000 (2024: approximately
HK$24,047,000) on behalf of its customers.

A TE_RE=ZA=1+—H ' FxEER
REXPREBURTRASELNS
247,000 75 (ZZ P04 © £924,047,000

BT ©
2025 2024
ZE-HE ZEZTOE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAT FET
Cash at banks R1TIRE 123,048 61,841
Cash on hand FERS 143 113
123,191 61,954
By maturity: ZE|HE R 24
Bank balances IR1T45RR 86,456 52,489
Deposits at banks IR1TER
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing —R=E8 NEH 2 Eif
within three months TEHIER 27,269 7,825
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing —R=EB &R EiKH
over three months TEHIER 9,323 1,527
123,048 61,841

Cash at banks earns interest of floating rates based on daily bank

RITIRESRBEARTERNZHRIUES

deposits rates. FEF] B o

The carrying amount of bank balances and cash were denominated IRITEBEREZRABENTIEE
in the following currencies: B :

2025 2024
“ZE-RHE “ETEEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
HK$ BT 22,463 40,296
RVMB AR 2,303 10,427
us$ eSS 98,420 11,226
JPY H 5 5
123,191 61,954
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

TRUST BANK BALANCE HELD ON ’c§ E%
BEHALF OF CUSTOMERS/BANK tEBREIR1TH
BALANCES AND CASH (continued)
The carrying amount of trust bank balance held on behalf of RERBEPFE ZEERITHERIRE BRI
customers were denominated in the following currencies: TEIEE !
2025 2024
“E-RHE “—ETOE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
HKS BT 41 1,861
Us$ E7T 206 22,186
247 24,047
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, AREFEEHRBRAHMER  2Am>
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations, R 3% P R S EE B IR IR > REBE A B
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for the other currencies BERECSEIIEEENRITHARER
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. MABHEMER-
SHARE CAPITAL 24 Rg7s
Number of Share
shares capital
R EE [N
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April f:%‘:_ipﬂﬁ H-~
2024 and 31 March 2025, ordinary “ZOMFE=A=+—H"
shares of HK$0.005 each “EIEFENB—HK
“E-RE=ZA=+—H
EREME0.0058 Tz BEERK 20,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April E’f:g:_ﬂzpﬂﬁ H-~
2024 and 31 March 2025 “EIMFE=A=+—H">
7$f@¢mﬁ—5&
“ETRF=R=+—H 5,370,510,000 26,853

There was no movement in the Company’s share capital during — Z<A B BR A M B F E N9 E &g o
both years.

BR ERERERAT
“EREER
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25

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 12 August 2015 as to attract
and retain the best available personnel and to provide additional
incentive to the eligible participants under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors,
substantial shareholders, consultants or advisors, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The eligibility of any participants to the grant of any
options shall be determined by the directors from time to time on
the basis of the directors’ opinion as to their contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share options
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Company’s
shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme or any other share options schemes of the Company
if this will result in the limit being exceeded. The maximum number
of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
as from the adoption date must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the shares in issue upon the date on which the shares are
listed and permitted to be dealt in the Stock Exchange. The 10%
limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the
Company’s shareholders in general meeting provided that the total
number of Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share options schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period up to
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue. Where any further grant of options to a participant under the
Scheme would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue, such
further grant must be separately approved by shareholders of the
Company in general meseting with such participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company (excluding any independent non-executive director
who is the grantee). Where any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or any of their respective close associates would
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved by the Company’s shareholders
at the general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken by
way of poll.

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 7 days from the date of the offer. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during
a period as the directors may determine which shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an option with a remittance in favour
of the Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 7 days from the date of the offer).

25 HERGHESTEI (@)

BERDAMBIEE12E8HERN > AR
BB AR B EAEMBRESBE
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25

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the
board of directors of the Company and notified to a participant and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal value of
the Company’s share on the offer date.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on 12 August 2015, subject to early termination
provisions contained in the Scheme.

No share options were granted during the both years and there
were no share options outstanding as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26 H 5 R Hth & (3 ARwR

2025 2024

—E"RHE —EE

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FAET FAET

Trade payables (Note (a)) B SRR (3t (@) 17,381 35,271
Accrued contract costs FEEt B #I AL AS 72,426 56,781
Accruals and other payables (Note (b)) FEST & B R BT ERER (H1aZb)) 27,128 20,578
116,935 112,630

Notes:

Payment terms granted by suppliers are generally 15 to 80 days from the
invoice date of the relevant purchases.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as
follows:

Mzt -

(@)

HEFRFHMRER—RHEEBBEE
BB R B S 15E800 A -

RIFER AN E S RRERE 2470
T

2025 2024

—E_RE —ENE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 1,370 2,313
31 - 60 days 31E60H 766 6,057
61 — 90 days 61F90H 1,721 4,588
Over 90 days B0l 13,524 22,313
17,381 35,271

As at 31 March 2025, included in the trade payables, there is gross
amount of approximately HK$8,000 which is amount due to OKBL Pte.
Ltd. OKC Holdings Corporation, the parent company of the Company, has
control in OKBL Pte. Ltd., and so it is the fellow subsidiary of the Group.
The amount due is trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and
has no fixed term of repayment.

As at 31 March 2025, included in the accruals and other payables, there
are gross amount of approximately HK$13,000 (2024: nil) and HK$62,000
(2024: nil) which are amounts due to OKBL Pte. Ltd. and OKCoin USA
Inc., respectively. OKC Holdings Corporation, the parent company of
the Company, has control in OKCoin USA Inc., and so it is the fellow
subsidiary of the Group. The amounts due are non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

RIZEZHEF=A=1+—H BIELERN
BIEMETOKBL Pte. Ltd. ZFIBeARQF
}/ATJOKC Holdings Corporationi# 7 OKBL
Pte. Ltd. Z#Z=HI#E > A AREERZ R RN B
RE-ZEREREZEE -BIEHR 2R
REBEEBERR

A _E_REZHA=+—H EsREK

HhEIHRIBEIEEEEL13,00087T (ZF
T4 ) K62,00008 7T (ZE MM
#%) ) 1) 75 FE(OKBL Pte. Ltd. &ZOKCoin USA
Inc.Z 18 o &2 B & AFOKC Holdings
Corporation# 5B OKCoin USA Inc.Z #2115
MEABAEBZRARWBAE L SEMR
EAFEZEE EIRE Tt ERERTE
BRER
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27

28

29

LIABILITIES DUE TO CUSTOMERS 27 EfiZ R &fE
2025 2024
- - “ZTuE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHExT
Liabilities due to customers ANESSE=KE|
Fiat currency liabilities EEEEEE 247 24,047

Liabilities due to customers arise in the ordinary course of the
Group’s trust and custody business. Based on the respective rights
and obligations of the Group and its customers under the custody
agreement, segregated bank balances held by the Group are
recorded as assets of the Group (Note 23) with a corresponding
liability due to the customer recorded.

As at 31 March 2024, included in the balance of liabilities due
to customers, there were fiat currency liabilities of approximately
HK$21,102,000 due to Li Canal, a fellow subsidiary of the Group.

AMOUNTS DUE TO A RELATED
PARTY/FORMER SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due to former subsidiaries/a related party were non-
trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

LOAN FROM A RELATED PARTY

Included in loan from a related party is principal portion
of approximately HK$27,555,000 (2024: approximately
HK$39,855,000) which was unsecured and interest bearing at
5% per annum. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the loan is
renewed and has new maturity date of 29 March 2027. The loan is
subjected to review at any time and to the lenders’ overriding right
of withdrawal and immediate repayment on demand. The related
party is a company controlled by key management personnel of the
Group for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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30 DIGITAL ASSETS BORROWINGS

FROM A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY/
LOAN FROM A SHAREHOLDER

Digital assets borrowings from a fellow
subsidiary

As at 31 March 2025, digital assets borrowings were borrowed
from Aux, a fellow subsidiary, with asset-backed stablecoins
and other digital assets being the loans principal, in aggregate,
amounted to approximately US$37,626,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$292,702,000) (2024: approximately
US$111,157,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$869,833,000)).
The borrowing was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. The settlement of digital
assets borrowings is in the form of digital assets.

Loan from a shareholder

On 6 June 2022, MetaStar Trading Limited (“MetaStar”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a loan agreement
with OKC Holdings Corporation (“OKC”), the parent company of
the Company, pursuant to which OKC agreed to make available
to MetaStar an unsecured loan facility up to the maximum
aggregate amount of US$10 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$78,490,000). Pursuant to the loan agreement, the availability
period is 36 months commencing from the date of the loan
agreement at the rate of 2% per annum compounded annually. In
February 2023, MetaStar and OKC entered into a supplemental
agreement and amended the loan into an interest-free loan. The
loan is unsecured and repayable on demand.

30

—HRRMBARZBFEER

=%
£

R_EBE-_REZRA=+—H H—XEZ
MEASAUXBABFTEEER UBE
EXFNBEEEREMMFTFEEERE
A E - 4B{EAI 537,626,000 T (FBE
R #9292,702,000/7T) (ZZZHEF 1 4
111,157,000% 7t (18 & 72 #7869,833,000
Bm)) RIEHEFER-ETOF=A
S+ HZEERARER RERRE
REZ - BFEEBANGEEUBTEE
IR T HEIT 0

EE—BERREMR

AT ZEAANE KA RENB
/A F]MetaStar Trading Limited (M MetaStar 1)
B AR A B /A BJOKC Holdings Corporation

(TOKC) sTII Efip  #RIL » OKCRE
BMetaStarfe 2 S RER B A108 B ETT

(B &1 4978,490,00078 7T) MUEEIRIRE N
& REERHE JRBRA
%% HHAREET361E B » FEIR S F2%ME 2
SEFE N ZEBE-_=%F_1 > MetaStarkd
OKCET I MR HE L ETERA T EE
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31 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

31 ZFERERERMEE

(a) Reconciliation of loss before income (@) FRFAISMRAIESIERREFRE
tax to net cash generated from ZIREFEZHIR
operations

2025 2024
ZEZREF —TmE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Loss before income tax: PRATSINAIESE
— From continuing operations —KREFERSEER (16,546) (45,069)
— From discontinued operation —REBERIEEEER - (8,344)
Adjustments for: BTGB IERE .
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)% « i = R 52 5 Hr B8 3,153 6,891
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESERE 4,048 4,118
Net losses on disposal of property, plant and  HE % R KRR EZ
equipment i85 1 11
Loss on early termination of lease RELIETHERRE 356 =
Impairment losses on financial assets and THEERGHNEEZRERBE
contract assets 2,048 7,841
Net (gains)/losses on change in fair value of AT {EF ABH 2 SREE
financial assets at fair value through profit NTEEE (@) /IR E5HE
or loss (272) 2,130
Interest income B A (3,672) (1,470)
Interest expense MERX 1,785 3,383
Distribution income DIRBA () (272)
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries M B AR 2 W (1,173) =
Operating cash flows before working SEBESEPFLERER
capital changes (10,275) (30,781)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 KR EERERFUE M (10,694) (12,149)
Increase in contract assets BHEELD (153) (5,383)
Decrease/(increase) in digital assets ¥FEER/RLD/ (EM 128,374 (5,444)
Decrease in financial assets at BATEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss TRUE AR 259 597
Decrease in amounts due from related parties FEUR BB 5 =B R D - 5115
Decrease in trust bank balance held on behalf XEZEFFHE 2 E:ERTAER
of customers L 23,800 202,636
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R EAMEMAIRRUE M 4,230 48,100
Increase in contract liabilities BHEEEN 335 1,245
Decrease in liabilities due to customers A NEI=R=L =y (23,800) (202,636)
Net cash generated from operations RERMBZIREFH 112,076 1,300

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IFEMIEERRMIE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

31 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 1 FERERERMETE @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEFHELEZEBZHIR
financing activities
As at As at
1 April Non-cash Exchange 31 March
2024 Cash flows changes adjustments 2025
“ZomE RZZEZHE

mAE—H RERE FREEH ER#HEE =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TER TER

Loan from a related party (Note (g) RE—%EH A ER

(Wizta) 40,400 (13,500) 1,609 - 28,509
Amount due to a related party e —2BH A A 18,585 (14,103) - (195) 4,287
Borrowings - loan from a BR-RE—LREEN

shareholder 70,428 - - (414) 70,014

Lease liabiliies (Note (b)) HESE WHp) 2,000 (4,565) 8,309 ®) 5,741

Amounts due to former subsidiaries FE{T i BA BFIE 16,942 (6,288) - - 10,654

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries &S % B ARTIE - 75 - - 75
Total liabilties from MBEHELZBERE

financing activities 148,355 (38,381) 9,918 (612) 119,280

As at As at

1 April Non-cash Exchange 31 March

2023 Cash flows changes  adjustments 2024

S RIZZmE

mE—H Rehg FRE ERBEE =ZBA=+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET TET FTER TER TERT

Loan from a related party (Note () RE—2@HHER

(Hzt(a) 77,906 (15,159) (2,351) - 40,400

Amount due to a related party e —RBH A A 18,087 1,415 - 917) 18,585
Borrowings - loan from a BER-RE—2REER

shareholder 70,647 - - (219) 70,428
Lease liabilities (Note (b)) HEEE b)) 5,948 (4,461) 530 (17) 2,000
Amounts due to former subsidiaries F& {1 A1t B AR FIE

(Note (c) Wize) 10,641 = 6,301 = 16,942
Total liabilities from MEESELZ AERE

financing activities 183,229 (18,201) (15,520) (1,153 148,355

B BB ERAS
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R EMBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

31 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 31 FEWRERERMEE @

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEFHELEZEBZHIR
financing activities (continued) (#8&)
Notes: Mt -
(@) Non-cash changes mainly represent accrued interests on the (@) HE_Z_AFE=ZR=+—HLEHE
outstanding principal balance of approximately HK$1,609,000 [EREIS TR -k cr NG o ]
(2024: HK$2,392,000) for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the B FE ST R B 49%31,609,000/8 7T (ZF
outstanding principal and interest balance being disposed during Z Y4 : 2,392,000 7T) REEZE
the disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$25,626,000 for _HEFE=ZB=+—HLEFEREE
the year ended 31 March 2024 (For more details, please refer to Ff &8 A B BF 4 W E B R BIE A B iR
note 34). RE#925,626,0008 T (BRAE S5
B2RMIEE34) ©
(b) Non-cash changes mainly represent interest arising from lease of (b) BE_ZHRF=A=+—HLHF
approximately HK$176,000 (2024: HK$108,000), early termination BRI BIEHEEEZF]
of leases of approximately HK$341,000 (2024: nil) and addition BE#%A176,0008 T (ZE N4 .
to lease liabilities for new lease of approximately HK$8,118,000 108,000 7t) “IREXRIEHENS
(2024: HK$422,000) for the year ended 31 March 2025. 341,000/ (ZEZNE | |\) &
HERRILHEBE4%8,118,000
AT (ZZT T4 © 422,000 7T) ©
(© Non-cash changes represent the waiver of amount due from () RS EFIEREENAEBFIE
the Group of approximately HK$51,301,000 netting off by the #951,301,00078 7t > 0 BRI sE34FT 1
consideration of disposal of approximately HK$45,000,000 as 2 & {{84945,000,0007 7t ©
disclosed in note 34.
(c) Major non-cash transaction () XEFRERS
Save as disclosed elsewhere of the consolidated financial R A BREREMEBBOPIIRES
statements, the Group has entered into significant o KEBBEREAQABNB R
transactions between related parties and subsidiaries of the BlFJUZEARZUWT !
Company as follows:
During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the non- RBEEZZE_AFR_Z_NE=
cash working capital changes of digital assets borrowings are B=+—BULEEE #HFEEEN
as follows: ZIIREEEESEHEUMT ¢
2025 2024
ZE-HEF —EmF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T Fir
Net movement of digital assets —BREWBATEZ
borrowings from a fellow subsidiary HFEEBIUFED (577,131) 470,171

260 O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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32 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control,
jointly control or exercise significant influence over the other party
in making financial or operational decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or

Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

ARG

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

RESAZEREIEN HE
TEH M B S R RE R H M 51T E

HEIWA LT HZ
BEG TR ARES BES N AE

32 EXFAEFRXS

ERIAE

PR+ [B) 42 ) 3l Bk

joint control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. AEMERE -

(@)  In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated @ PKEEHMBRRAMIIDMIKES
financial statements, the Group entered into the following SR MEEE NEBEERER
material transactions with its related parties in the ordinary MN—REFHBEPTIIUTEAR
course of business during both years: R

2025 2024
—ZThHE —Z e
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAET
Companies controlled by controling FAZ</A )32 i&% R B2 HI B9 A B
shareholder of the Company
— Transaction fee expense charged —AuxEY > 22 5 B B2
by Aux 1,409 2,134
— Trust and custody services — K BLi Canalz 55t &
income from Li Canal SEERBUWA 411 715
— Trust and custody services — 23R HOKG Ventures Limited.
income from OKG Ventures EEMEEERBHA
Limited 83 S
— Technology services income — R BAUXZ F AT AR TS WA
from Aux 996 -
— Technology services income —& BEOKX Technology Services Pte
from OKX Technology Services Limited Z £ i BRFZ UL A
Pte Limited 690 S
The related party transactions for both years above constitute T mEFENRELRZBRT
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A BRAERS (TR EMRAIE14A
of the Listing Rules. These transactions are exempted from all E) o iRtk EFMARAIFE14A. 761557
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ P ZER O RBTRABR
approval requirements by virtue of rule 14A.76 of the Listing @%ﬁﬁiﬁyiﬁtﬁﬁm °
rules.
() The emoluments of the directors and senior executives b)) BEEREHRITHAER QIFEEEA

(representing the key management personnel) during both
years are disclosed in Note 9.

B) R mufE BRI BN MY X045 22

BN EEIERARAT
“EREFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

33 SURETY BONDS AND CONTINGENT 33 (R EHRpAREE

LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, certain customers of construction contracts
undertaken by the Group require the Group to issue guarantee for
the performance of contract works surety bonds of approximately
HK$4,500,000. Mr. Ip Ying Chau and Ms. Tung Ah Pui Athena, the
directors of a subsidiary of the Group, have provided guarantee to
the insurance company to secure certain surety bonds. The surety
bonds are expected to be released in accordance with the terms of
the respective construction contracts.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group paid a cash collateral of
approximately HK$2,371,000 to the insurance company for the
issuance of surety bonds and are included in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments (Note 79).

As at 31 March 2025, the guarantee and the collateral have been
released upon completion of the respective contracts.

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved
in various claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings
that arise from time to time. Although the Group does not
expect that the outcome in any of these legal proceedings,
individually or collectively, will have a material adverse effect on
its financial position or results of operations, litigation is inherently
unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its
operating results or cash flows in a particular period.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

34 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 34 HEMBAE
On 22 December 2023, the Group disposed the entire equity N _E_=F+_HB_+_-H '&xEH
interests of Joint Wealth and its subsidiary, for a consideration of B¥E (HAEEMFEETEASRILE
HK$45,000,000 to Colour Trend, a related company direct wholly- BEERZERENRABAD LEAERE
owned by Mr. Chan, a former key management personnel of the M8 ARz 230 R#E » X {E 445,000,000
Group. Considering the waiver of amount due from the Group of Br - ZEINBRECERAEBRELY
approximately HK$51,301,000, there is no cash consideration 51,301,000/ 7T > H & K 8 A B 3 8 W BR
received from the disposal of subsidiaries. ERIRERE
The aggregated net liabilities of the Joint Wealth Group as at the REHEB S EEEEEFEELERT
date of disposal are set out as follows: nr
HK$'000
FAET
Net liabilities disposal of: FTHEaRFE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERRE 4,398
Trade and other receivables B 5 K B At FE U ER R 915
Contract assets BHNEE 7,320
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AT {EF ARBEHNEREE 2,704
Tax recoverable AW EIRIE 2,371
Cash and bank balances & RIBITAEERR 670
Trade and other payables B 5 K EMEN IR (11,567)
Loan from Colour Trend REFXBER (25,626)
Net liabilities BEFRE (18,815)
HK$'000
FET
Gain on disposal of Joint Wealth Group: HESEER NG @
Consideration K~E 45,000
Amounts due from the Group PR A EE B =RIB (51,301)
Net liabilities disposal of FTHEBEZE 18,815
Gain on disposal H & s 12,514

BOR R TR /A E]
“s-zeem 203
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#ZEZE L _FAF=HA=+—HItFE

34

35

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of
the disposal of Joint Wealth Group:

34 HEMEBATE @

MEESEERERZRERIAEEEY
EREZ O

HK$'000
FET

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FTHESEEENRER
in Joint Wealth Group disposed of HEEEYERH 670)

Immediately prior to the completion of the disposal of Joint
Wealth Group, the Group is indebted to Joint Wealth Group for
approximately HK$51,301,000, being intercompany loans due by
the Group to Joint Wealth Group, which are non-interest bearing,
unsecured and repayable on demand. Pursuant to the terms of
the sale and purchase agreement, instead of having the Group
repay the outstanding amount, Colour Trend agreed to assume
the repayment obligations from the Group by the execution of the
Deed of Novation, and thereby relieving the Group in respect of
approximately HK$45,000,000 out of the outstanding amount,
which should be treated as the full settlement of the consideration
by Colour Trend.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Except as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has no significant event after the end of the
reporting period up to the date of this report.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 36 B FMBEAR AR HE
POSITION AND RESERVE S E)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position (@) EFBARRER

2025 2024
—E_RE —EE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
JioE=3 FHET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries RB AT NER 22,473 22,473
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U [t /& A BRI 143,407 =
165,880 22,473
Current assets REMEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 M EMME AR 648 665
Amounts due from subsidiaries F& U fff B A T = IE 14,588 208,956
Bank balances and cash IRITEGRRIRE 1,898 1,687
17,134 211,308
Total assets BEHSE 183,014 233,781
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves B K
Share capital [N 26,853 26,853
Reserves Eai=] 36(b) 14,749 72,906
Total equity W 4aEE 41,602 99,759

BN EEERARAE

“EREER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZE - _AF=HA=+—HIFE

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(@) Statement of financial position
(continued)

36 ZIS’A

Eﬁ%ﬂfﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ
B @

ol

ik

b3

(a) MFRAR @)

2025 2024
“EZHE “ETEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
LIABILITIES afd
Current liabilities Bt =N =]
Trade and other payables B 5 K EHAMEMIRR 4,013 1,551
Amount due to a former [ —B A B ABRIE
subsidiary 10,641 10,641
Amounts due to subsidiaries  FE{THTE A BB 126,758 121,830
141,412 134,022
Total equity and liabilities  1EF KB E4EEE 183,014 233,781
Net current (liabilities) assets %78 (B &) E&E (124,278) 77,286
Total assets less current BEERERTEAR
liabilities 41,602 99,759

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
30 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Ren Yunan
1EIBBEE
Director

EBEF

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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KABIZHMBENRAXRENRZZE A
FRNB=ZtTHESSZH ELER
FEH> WAHTWALTRAREE

Mr. Zhang Chao
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Director
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b) Reserve movement

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ - _-_AF=HA=+—HIFE

36 BB MR RRR:HE

8 (@

(b) f#EES

Share Capital Special Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
B fn s 1E B fE HRE RitBHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTERT FTET FTET FTERT
Balance at 1 April 2023 RIBZ=EMA—REH 239,372 7,922 94,795 (262,533) 79,556
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRBERZEBEER
for the year - - - (6,650) (6,650)
Balance at 31 March 2024 RIZZMFE=A=1+—BK
Ftid 239,372 7,922 94,795 (269,183) 72,906
Balance at 1 April 2024 RIZZENA—B G 239,372 7,922 94,795 (269,183) 72,906
Loss and total comprehensive loss ERBEREEGBEE
for the year - - - (58,157) (58,157)
Balance at 31 March 2025 RIEZHEE=A=+—AH
iR 239,372 7,922 94,795 (327,340) 14,749
Special reserve SR

Special reserve represents the difference between the fair

value of the shares of a subsidiary of the Company acquired

pursuant to the reorganisation in prior years over the nominal

value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore.

Bhl#EFEEREBETFEEMEMMR
BEARBEINBARKRNDHATER
REMARBEETRN ZEREE
RZEER

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER
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R FMBEE

Year ended 31 March
BHE=B=1+—HLZEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZECTHRE “ToNE “E=fF T -F “ET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TR TAT FET
(restated)
(&5
(Note)
(PisE
Continued operations FEREER
Revenue W 424,028 337,332 344,945 385,614 452,964
Cost of sales HEMA (334,995) (271,126) (190,969) (301,339) (406,399)
Gross profit E7 89,033 66,206 153,976 84,275 46,565
Other income, gains and (losses), ~ EMIUA ~ Uz K
net (8518) B8 4,462 (902) (922) 19,180 16,162
Administrative and other operating  1TEUR 48 &5 2
expenses (108,292) (100,032) (80,756) (129,320) (104,082)
Impairment losses on intangible  E B ERERE
assets - - (1,646) (50) (180)
Reversal of impairment losses TREENGNEEREBES
(impairment losses) on financial B#D (RERR) F8
assets and contract assets, net 36 (7,841) (7,611) (27,353) (46,892)
Operating (loss)/profit &g (1R Ew (14,761) (42,569) 63,041 (53,268) (88,427)
Finance costs FHE A (1,785) (2,500) (4,092) (5,435) (7,933)
(Loss)/profit before income tax  FRFF{SIR AT (5518) &7 (16,546) (45,069) 58,949 (58,703) (96,360)
Income tax (expense)/credit PRSI (%) /1% (290) = (9,673) 271 2,505
Profit/(loss) for the period/year B/ ERER IS
from discontinued operation wH, (E518) - 4,170 (6,956) = =
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (8518 /@ (16,836) (40,899) 42,320 (58,432) (93,855)

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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Five Years Financial Summary

AERBERE
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t+—HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZE-HRE “ToNE = R F “BC—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TR FET FET
(restated)
(& =E5)
(Note)
(Pri5E
Other comprehensive (loss)/ Hihz2m (518) /
income Wz
ltem that may be reclassified BREOJEENTEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmoBEE .
Exchange differences arisingon ~ BEBIEHBEEZ
translation of foreign operations EREE 42 (112) (348) 857 1,255
Reclassification of cumulative HEBIERHERZ Rt
translation reserve upon EREGBENDE
disposal of foreign operations (1,173) - - (177) -
Other comprehensive (10ss)/ ERHEMEZE BB
income for the year, net of tax W NkRIRIE (1,131) 112 (348) 680 1,255
Total comprehensive (loss)/ EREE (§B8)
income for the year Wzs4a%E (17,967) (41,011 41,972 (57,752) (92,600)
(Loss)/Profit for the year KRTEE AEEER
attributable to owners of the ~ (§518) /%
Company
— From continuing operations —FEREEK (15,750) (44,473) 50,447 (58,061) (93,855)
— From discontinued operation —BRIEEEER - 4,170 (6,956) = =
(Loss)/Profit for the year RABHERE AEEER
attributable to owners of the (&518) /& F
Company (15,750) (40,303) 43,491 (58,061) (93,855)
Non-controlling interests FEERR S (1,086) (596) (1,171) 371) =
(16,836) (40,899) 42,320 (58,432) (93,855)

BN B IER AR AR
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R FMBHE

Year ended 31 March
BHE=B=1+—HLZEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZECTHRE “ToNE “E=fF T -F “ET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET TR TAT FET
(restated)
(&5
(Note)
(PisE
Total comprehensive UTFEAEEERZE
(loss)/income for the year (§518) /W ER4R%E
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABEBA (16,872) (40,213) 43,486 (57,505) (92,600)
Non-controlling interests FERERR R (1,095) (798) (1,514) (247) =
(17,967) (41,011) 41,972 (57,752) (92,600)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ TAFBEANEGERZE
income attributable to (§518) /Wz4A%E |
owners of the Company:
— From continuing operations - REREER (16,872) (44,383) 50,442 (57,505) (92,600)
— From discontinued operation - BRIEEER - 4,170 (6,956) = =
(16,872) (40,213) 43,486 (57,505) (92,600)
(Loss)/earnings per share TATEE AR
attributable to owners of the &Ik (§518) /&7
Company
From continued and discontinued ~ H#EEE £ R ER L
operations KR
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BARKEE CB) (0.29) (0.75) 0.81 (1.08) (1.75)
From continuing operations HEREER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BRI (B (0.29) (0.83) 0.94 (1.08) (1.75)

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
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AFEMBEHE
As at 31 March
W=B=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
SRR T I A | e e = " =
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FAET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets JEREEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB KR E 8,900 4,431 14,357 17,072 34,569
Intangible assets B EE 200 200 200 4,897 4,456
Right-of-use assets FREEA 5,676 1,949 5,661 10,251 2,784
Prepayment B TIE - - - - 318
Deferred tax assets RILRIBAEE - - = 242 =
14,776 6,580 20,218 32,462 42,127
Current assets MEEE
Trade and other receivables E 5 R E A E AR 68,467 52,339 54,075 32,769 95,196
Contract assets BNEE 38,718 45,957 42,132 67,265 67,029
Digital assets HTEE 417,576 1,123,081 649,487 560,097 68,879
Inventories due from RWHEFAHEFEE
counterparties - = = S 12,766
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZ S/
through profit or loss BE 17,370 19,336 14,631 20,856 28,560
Amounts due from related parties & i il Bk 75 FUIE - - 4972 = 1,980
Tax recoverable Al EIRIE - - 2,371 783 2,741
Trust bank balance held on behalf RERZEFIHFE 25558817
of customers RS 247 24,047 226,683 147 547 49,128
Bank balances and cash IRITEHNIRE 123,191 61,954 90,625 135,555 236,735
665,569 1,326,714 1,084,976 964,872 563,014
Total assets BEEBEE 680,345 1,333,294 1,105,194 997,334 605,141
EQUITY -
Capital and reserves B G
Share capital Bz 26,853 26,853 26,853 26,853 26,853
Reserves (5] 122,364 138,832 178,701 135,215 192,720
Equity attributable to the owners AT A AELED
of the Company 149,217 165,685 205,554 162,068 219,573
Non-controliing interests JEPE R 400 1,899 3,041 4,555 -
Total equity AT 149,617 167,584 208,595 166,623 219,573

BN B IER AR AR
“EREER
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R FERHEHE
As at 31 March
N=A=+—A1
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZE-HRE “ToNE “E=fF T F “ET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FEx FET FET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities JEREERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,078 108 1,685 6,126 =
Deferred tax liabilities EILRIAR(E - - - 457 1,929
2,078 108 1,685 6,583 1,929
Current liabilities mEaRE
Trade and other payables B 5 MEMETERR 116,935 112,630 76,174 56,212 99,060
Contract liabilities aNER 1,639 1,304 59 775 4,726
Liabilities due to customers ENEREE 247 24,047 226,683 147,547 108,151
Amounts due to FERTRIM B AR TIE
former subsidiaries 10,654 16,942 10,641 10,791 10,641
Amount due to a related party e —% R s TIE 4,287 18,585 18,087 18,073 10,244
Loans from related parties BN EmN 28,509 40,400 77,906 92,135 148,500
Borrowings BE 362,716 940,261 471,560 494,072 =
Lease liabilities HE&R 3,663 1,892 4263 4,414 2,317
Current income tax liabilities BERFrSRas - 9,541 9,541 109 =
528,650 1,165,602 894,914 824,128 383,639
Total liabilities BEEE 530,728 1,165,710 896,599 830,711 385,568
Total equity and liabilities EEkaEEE 680,345 1,333,294 1,105,194 997,334 605,141
Net current assets BRBEE 136,919 161,112 190,062 140,744 179,375
Total assets less current BEEBARRBEE
liabilities 151,695 167,692 210,280 173,206 221,502
Note: Mzt -

The construction wastes handling services has been classified as discontinued operation
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024. In accordance with HKFRS 5, Non-

current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, the Group has restated the

comparative information in 2023 in this regard.

O0KG Technology Holdings Limited
2025 Annual Report

BE_T_NME=-RB=+—HLLFE EEEYRERE
ERDERFTEECRIEREXT - REFBMHREE
BISSSRIFIEL EFRBEERBARULEEE  FEEE
FUEF — B =FNERER
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